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EERE

Huang Juncan Chairman

BRIR £

| am pleased to present to you the annual report of Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2018.

In 2018, a slower growth in the overall property market in the
PRC was recorded, though the real estate sector hit a record
high in both transaction volume and price. Various city-specific
measures aimed at restraining unreasonable housing demand
were continued in popular cities, though individual cities managed
to adjust its regulatory policies to resist downside property price
pressure. Higher funding costs and tighter funds supply is a
common challenge faced by the players in the property sector.

Properties sale in different cities varied substantially in 2018.
Although, the overall property market corrected remarkably in 2018,
large-scale national players with abundant saleable resources
adopted different marketing/sale-though policies to keep sales
growth in 2018. While room for small and medium-sized players
continued to shrink in 2018 as their funding sources were limited
with higher funding costs.
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Though facing a correction in 2018 PRC property market, the Group
managed to record historical high contracted sales of RMB49.03
billion, representing an increase of approximately 8% over last year.
The profits attributable to shareholders also recorded historical
high of approximately RMB2,253 million, representing a year-on-
year growth rate of 37%. And we expect this growth in terms of
contracted sales and net profits would continue in the forthcoming
years.

In 2018, the gross profit margin of the Group was 58%, a number
that out beat most of the peer groups in PRC real estate business.

In appreciation of the support of our shareholders, the Board
resolved to declare the payment of a final dividend of RMB2.75
cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
shareholders, totaling about RMB437 million, which is subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

During the year, the Group has expanded aggressively in the
investment and development of business parks. Leveraged on
the success of the rental and management of Vision Shenzhen
Business Park Phases 1 and 2 which attracts world-class tenants
such as DJI, Amazon and Intel, the Group has more than one million
square meters of business parks in China region. The business park
development business would expand exponentially following the
accumulation of management expertise and brand-establishment.

In 2018, though China’s real estate market was a correction year,
the Group still managed to acquire 24 pieces of new lands for
development in Beijing, Chengdu, Hangzhou, Kunshan, Nanjing,
Qingdao, Shanghai, Suzhou, Wuhan and Xuzhou, with an aggregate
GFA of approximately 2.73 million square meters, among which
about 20% or 539,000 square meters were located in Beijing and
Shanghai. These projects are expected to bring considerable profits
and cashflow to the Group. We believe the Group will continue to
record mild growth in contracted sales and net profits, which further
strengthen our market position in the real estate industry.
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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

Looking forward to 2019, the Group would remain focus in expanding
scale in terms of contracted sales and landbank accumulation in
the first-tier and certain second-tier cities with fast economic growth
and large population inflow. The Group would also seek potential
equity merger and acquisition and cooperation opportunities at
the same time. While for commercial properties, the Group would
aggressively expand our business in the development of high-end
business parks and commercial projects in core area of tier one/
two cities in the PRC.

CONCLUSION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
appreciation to our shareholders, business partners and customers
for their care and support over the past year. | would also like
to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to our directors,
management and staffs for their valuable contributions. We will
continue to forge ahead and accelerate our growth and development,
enhance our competitive edge and profitability and devote our best
efforts to become one of the most successful property developers
in China.
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Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

B Z2018F HE20174F

12A318 1t 12H318 1k

FE FE

(Restated)

(In RMB’000) (UAAR®FITAERM) (E5)
Revenue WA 7,079,136 4,711,019
Profit attributable to owners of the Company ViN/NEIEE PN aprap il 2,252,622 1,643,529
Earnings per share (Basic: RMB) BRAF (EAX: AR®T) 0.1419 0.1039
As at As at

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

R20184 20174

(In RMB’000) (AAR®FITAERM) 12A31H 12A31H
Total assets BERS 51,987,757 43,668,752
Total liabilities BEERE 38,117,372 30,621,124
Total equity (including non-controlling interests) #Ez542%8 (B IEIFIEAL AR R #E2R) 13,870,385 13,047,628
Total borrowings Bsess 6,061,306 9,544,591
Net borrowings B39 1,960,484 2,993,271
Net asset value per share (RMB) gREEFE (ARET) 0.746 0.688
Current ratio BN = 0.9 1.1
Gearing ratio Bk = 44% 73%
Net borrowings over total equity ERFEER AR A 14% 23%
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Financial Review
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The accounting policies and methods of computation used in
the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 were consistent with those used in the last
financial year ended 31 December 2017, except that the Group has
applied, for the first time, the new and revised Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”, which included all HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued by Hong
Kong Institute Certified Public Accountants which are effective for
the Group’s financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” is effective for
the financial years beginning or after 1 January 2018. The Group
elected to apply the modified transitional provisions whereby the
effects of adopting HKFRS 15 for uncompleted contracts with
customers as at 31 December 2017 are adjusted at the opening
balance of equity as at 1 January 2018 and prior year comparatives
are not restated.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
increased to RMB7,079.1 million from RMB4,711.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017. After excluding the impact of
reduction in revenue of RMB5,081.5 million due to the adoption of
HKFRS 15 in the year, the revenue for the year was RMB12,160.6
million, increased by RMB7,449.6 million. The increase was primarily
due to the significant increase in revenue recognised from sales of
properties.

Other income and gains increased to RMB588.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 from RMB426.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. The increase was mainly due to increased
consulting services income of RMB95.5 million and higher income
of RMB86.6 million from fitting out works.

The fair value gains of investment properties of RMB324.1 million
was reported for the year ended in 31 December 2018, against
RMB545.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Bt %5 1o R

HEEE2018F 12 A31H L FE 2 B ISR & AR A
ZEEBREFESE  BEZ2017F12A3181E
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Gh o
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Al R2018F1A1B Sk 2 &M 2 I E E A4
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R BB IR EERFE 155 1R 2017F12 A 31
HERFPZATKAENZTE - R2018F1A1BZ
HVES E A ETTRE  FF BB FARATED -

BZ2018F 12831 HILFEX£E

AEBHZ2018F12A31HIEFEZ W ABHE R
20175F12A318 Ik F E 2 A K #4,711,000,000
JC = A R #7,079,100,0007T ¢ N & E A
FEHERKRME LB @S ENE155% R DA
A R #5,081,500,000T % - REWABARE
12,160,600,0007T + Y A& A R#7,449,600,000
T AFERAENEZHRYEEE ZBEREA
KIE EFFTE -

HZE2018F 12431 A ILFE 2 B MU A J i a5 B3 &
£2017F12A31H L FE 2 A R #426,000,0007T
#inzE AR¥588,200,0007T ° £ & EFRE A
B2k a B RB A LA A R95,500,0007T K& U
(S TIRRA L A R%86,600,0007T ©

HZE2018F12A31A L FERAZREWELNAER
% A AR #324,100,0007T © & 22017912 A31
HItFERIAARY545,800,0007T °
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The Group’s direct operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2018 increased to RMB1,233.1 million from RMB948.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2017. Due to a number
of property development subsidiaries were set up/acquired and
the expansion of property investment and management business
scale in PRC during the current year, higher operating expenses
was incurred.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2018 increased to RMB92.2 million from RMB82.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The finance costs went up to RMB249.8 million for the current year
from 241.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, increased
by RMB8.0 million. The increase was mainly due to higher interest
rate in the lending market during the year.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates of the Group
reported an aggregate profit of RMB1,341.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018, against RMB1,192.8 million for the last
year. After excluding the effects of adopting HKFRS 15 of RMB39.5
million, there was an increase of RMB109.1 million. The increase
was mainly due to increase in revenue recognition from sales of
properties of joint ventures in Hangzhou, Shenzhen and Suzhou,
the PRC.

Overall, the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
increased from RMB1,643.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2017 to RMB2,252.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The increase was mainly due to increased sales recognition and
higher gross margin.

The Group recorded basic earnings per share of RMB0.1419 for the
year ended 31 December 2018, against basic earnings per share of
RMBO0.1039 for the year ended 31 December 2017, representing an
increase of 37%. The diluted earnings per share for the current year
and the prior year were RMB0.1396 and RMB0.1029 respectively.

B %5 0 R

AEBHZE2018F12A31HILFEHBZHER
B BHEZE2017F12A3IBIEEEZ AR
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Property development

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the revenue of property
development segment substantially increased to RMB6,184.3 million,
representing 87% of the total revenue, compared with RMB3,995.9
million, representing 85% of the total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2017. After excluding the impact of reduction in
revenue of RMB5,081.5 million due to the adoption of HKFRS 15,
the segment revenue for the current year was RMB11,265.8 million,
increased by RMB7,269.9 million. Revenue for the current year was
mainly come from the sales of properties of Shanghai Shanshui
Four Seasons, Ningbo Jinfeng, Xi’an Yi Hua Nian, Jiangsu Huai’an
Project and Shenyang Yijing. The profit in the property development
segment during the current year increased to RMB4,261.9 million or
RMB6,728.6 million (after excluding the effect of adopting HKFRS
15), against RMB2,055.3 million for the previous year. The increase
in the segment results was mainly due to higher profit margin of
property sales and increased sales revenue recognition in the
current year.

Property investment and management

The revenue earned by the property investment and management
segment for the year ended 31 December 2018 increased from
RMB385.2 million, representing 8% of the total revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2017, to RMB507.3 million representing 7% of
the total revenue. The increase in revenue was mainly attributable
to Hangzhou shopping mall which commenced operation in end of
last year and the newly acquired property leasing company. During
the year under review, the property investment and management
segment recorded a profit of RMB631.1 million, including fair value
gains of investment properties of RMB324.1 million, and share of

profits from joint ventures of RMB285.5 million, compared with the
segment profit of RMB806.5 million for the corresponding period,
including fair value gains of investment properties of RMB545.8
million and share of profits from joint ventures of RMB193.6 million.

VIR R

HZE2018F12A31AIEFE  WEEHESBZRA
Kig EFZE AR ¥6,184,300,0007T @ (WA Z
87% ' Y B E2017E12A31 B ILFE 2 WARA
A R #3,995,900,0007T * 1 B WA 285% - &
BAFEREMNE B ERESENF155m DA
AR#5,081,500,0007c#% « ZEFEEDHRABAR
#11,265,800,0007T * 1 i A R #7,269,900,000
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4,261,900,0007T sk A R #6,728,600,0007T (7~ &
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NERERERE
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8% HEMEEHE2018F12A31BILFEZ AR
#507,300,0007T * fH B WA Z27% WA EF £
ERELEFFRMEZMNBEDPORTRE 2D
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B3 A A R#631,100,0007T © BEBEME QAL
B Uz A R #324,100,0007T M fE {5 & & A7) % 7
AR #285,500,0007T ¥ £ FE 815 5D 5% F
AR #806,500,0007T * BIEHREMERN L ERE
AR #545,800,0007C R JEE A E R ALEF AR
193,600,0007T °
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Microfinance

During the current year, the revenue earned by the microfinance
segment increased from RMB330.0 million, representing 7% of the
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017, to RMB387.5
million, representing 6% of the total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2018. The Group continued to expand the micro-
financing business in the year resulting in more interest income
earned. The microfinance segment recorded a profit of RMB149.3
million during the current year, compared with the segment profit of
RMB141.0 million for the last year.

The Group’s total shareholders’ funds increased from RMB10,914.8
million as at 31 December 2017 to RMB11,835.2 million as at 31
December 2018. The increase was contributed by profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the current year of RMB2,252.6 million
which was partially offset by the final dividend of RMB396.8 million
declared for the year ended 31 December 2017, and the effect of
the adopting of HKFRS 15 RMB547.6 million.

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group’s deposits, bank and cash balances decreased by 40%
to RMB3,237.9 million as at 31 December 2018 from RMB5,395.8
million as at 31 December 2017. The decrease was mainly due
to cash applied to land acquisitions, development costs of PRC
property projects, payments of final dividend, investments/advances
to joint ventures and associates, advances to related companies and
repayments of loans from group companies, netting off against the
proceeds from property sales and new bank loans.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2018, total bank and other borrowings of the
Group was RMB2,060.5 million with interest rates ranging from
3.0% to 5.2% per annum. The Group arranged one short-term bank
loan facility and one long-term bank loan facility totally amounting
to RMB773.2 million during the current year for general working
capital purpose. Meanwhile, the Group fully repaid a 1-year term
loan facility, approximately RMB342.5 million.

B %5 0 R

PEER
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B I A FE 2 A K #330,000,0007T @ k42 U A
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The net debt (measured by total borrowings minus cash and bank
deposits (including restricted cash)) decreased by RM1,032.8 million
to RMB1,960.5 million as at 31 December 2018 from RMB2,993.3
million as at 31 December 2017. The decrease in net debt was
mainly due to proceeds received from sales of properties applied
to repayments of loans from group companies during the year.
The Group’s net debt ratio (defined as net debt over total equity,
including non-controlling interests) decreased to 14% as at 31
December 2018, from 23% as at 31 December 2017.

The maturity profiles of the Group’s outstanding borrowings as at
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are summarised below:

BEREFHENERABRESRBETER(RE
ZRRHIEE) 5FE) R2018F12831E A AR
1,960,500,0007C © #2017 12A310 A B K&
2,993,300,0007T * & 4 A R #1,032,800,0007T °
BEREFERSEIEZARNFEHEWERIMZAER
BLEEEERARER AEBEZERKFELE
(EEAEEFER RS AR - BIEIFERREE
%) AH2017F12A318 223% | & £20185F 127
31H214% °

A& B R2018F 12318 K2017F12A31H 2 4

REBERZEFBERBMAT -
As at
»®
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
20184 20174
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Short-term and long-term bank and EHERARTREMER
other borrowings:

Within the first year or on demand RE—FRAFIREREEE 1,310,182 1,087,557

In the second year REZFNA 435,291 163,434

In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZRFA BEEERF 119,407 115,632

Over five years HEMR E 195,632 190,133
2,060,512 1,556,756

Loans from related parties: Eﬁ?ﬁf:‘ﬁ%ﬁ’\ :

Within the first year or on demand —FERNRIREKEFEIE 1,396,316 5,394,113

In second year E’t\%fglﬁ 2,604,478 2593,722
4,000,794 7,987,835

Total borrowings BEsE 6,061,306 9,544,591
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Foreign currency risk

As at 31 December 2018, borrowings were denominated in United
States dollars (“US$”), RMB and HK$. The Group mainly operates
in the Mainland China and most of the transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB, thus the Group is exposed to
foreign currency risk. Moderate fluctuation of RMB against HK$
and US$ was expected, the Group considered the foreign currency
risk exposure is acceptable. The Group will review and monitor its
currency exposure from time to time and when appropriate hedge
its currency risk.

The currency denominations of the Group’s outstanding borrowings
as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are summarised
below:

B %5 0 R

SMEE LB

20185 12A31H » ERIRET - ARBRBER
R AEETERNTRAREARLER  KEHMHR
5 BENRBBERARBRLIER AEETERHHE
REREEREL KBRS BERBBERAR
Wik AMARBIEAZIINERR - BHARK
RAMRETZEXEHEEZ#E BAKERR
BRSMNERRIDAZES - AEEK AR MER
E¥RAR  YREERREIEEERR -

A& B R2018F12A318 &2017F12A318 &
g2

BRZERRLEREE BB T

g

As at
i
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
20184 20174
128318 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
HKS$ B 4,172,335 3,352,612
RMB AR 1,263,856 5,394,113
uss$ ETT 625,115 797,866
Total Fk S 6,061,306 9,544,591

Interest rate risk

As at 31 December 2018, 53% of borrowings of the Group were
on a floating rate basis (2017: 72%). However, the interest rate
risk exposure was considered acceptable and no hedging was
considered necessary. The Group will continue to monitor the
suitability and cost efficiency of hedging instrument (including
interest rates swaps) and consider a mix of fixed and floating rate
borrowings in order to manage interest rate risk.

F=E R

2018512318 + 7N & E53% (20174 : 72%)
BEFURZEFIRE - Al - FIRAEBRWR 5
X MBAEZEEEM - NEEBEEBEETHHNTA
(BIEMREH) 2EEMHRRARZE  UAREEE
ERFHANREEERZEE  WEEEEFERR

G o
ZoN
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At 31 December 2018, investment properties of the Group with an
aggregate carrying value of RMB542,536,000 (2017: an investment
property and a property held for sale with carrying values of
RMB196,745,000 and RMB303,918,000 respectively) were pledged
to secure other borrowings granted to the Group.

(a) As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided guarantees
to certain banks in respect of mortgage granted by banks
relating to the mortgage loans arranged for purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees,
upon default in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with the accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulting purchasers to the banks and the
Group is entitled but not limited to take over the legal titles
and possession of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon issuance of the real estate
ownership certificates. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s
outstanding guarantees amounted to RMB1,626,646,000 (31
December 2017: RMB3,148,594,000).

The Directors consider that the fair value of the guarantees
is not significant and in case of defaulting payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties will be sufficient
to cover the outstanding mortgage principals, the accrued
interest and penalty. Therefore, no provision has been made
in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 (2017: Nil) for these guarantees.

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
a maximum guarantee of US$70,950,000 (equivalent to
RMB486,944,000) (31 December 2017: US$70,950,000
(equivalent to RMB463,601,000)) to a group of financial
institutions for a facility granted to a joint venture of the
Group. As at 31 December 2018, the facility guaranteed
by the Group to a joint venture was utilised to the extent
of approximately RMB486,944,000 (31 December 2017:
RMB463,601,000).

14 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited € it & B £ E AR A 7

MR2018F12A31H » AEE R EYERAELRE
AR 542 536,0007T (20174 : |WEMEMF

EWEEmED R AARE196,745,000T AR
303,918,00070) B Fi#&iF - WERBALEEHZ

Ht

25
=N

R2018F12A31H * BLRITIRBIZIBE XK
FAEEYEZER AEERAE THER
THRMEER - BREBEERIER  B2EERE
RIBIBHRIE  AEEBFETRRITEEZS
BRERZAEERBASEREMNFER
SF MAEBEEETREREEE@NE
ZETFMBHEREERE - NEB ZIERA
REREEARBEREARBEL AmE
EEHAEIL - P2018F12831H » A& H
H R E 2 R B AR K1,626,646,00070
(2017% 124318 A K #3,148,594,000
JL) °

EEEEERZAABLITEAR S LAMH
WMERMERRIER  BEMEZATEEFE
BRUNBEAEERBAS  BAFERE
2o At B E2018F12A31B IEFE T
ERZEERNIERERAFIREE (2017
FfE) o

RABESHEK s —HEeREBERERE
FAREB-—REEDT AEEAZESD
BRI R AR & = IR EEZ7070,950,000 (48
£ W A R #486,944,0007T) (2017412
A31H : % 7£70,950,000 (B % H A R #&
463,601,0007T)) © #2018 12A31H -
HASEERMEEFEEQRZBECE
B # A R #486,944,0007T (2017412 A 31
H : AR#463,601,0007T) °



PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.0275 per share (2017: RMBO0.025 per share) for the year
ended 31 December 2018, subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The proposed final dividend, if approved, will be paid on or about
21 June 2019 to shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 6 June 2019.

The proposed final dividend shall be declared in RMB and paid in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The final dividend payable in HK$ will
be converted from RMB at the average middle rate of RMB to HK$
as announced by the People’s Bank of China for the period from 15
May 2019 to 21 May 2019.

Financial Review

B %5 0 R

ZRARHRE

EE2EZ FARRARERABRITZERRASF
Keg HitER - RNEZE2018F12A31BIEFE 2
KR EERARKE0.02757T (20174 BRAR
#0.0257T) ©

REFEARIKRE (NER &) 845201946 A 21
BIR F7R201956 6 B &5 AR QR E A 2 &
% °

BHRRBEREBUARET R ABEE A - &
NREREBZEFEARBITR201965A158 F
2019F5 A1 B HIM A A AR XK R HEX
FHEE B o
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
EZ2018F HE2017F HZE2016F HZE2015F HE2014F
1283181t 12A318 L 12A318 1 12A318 1L 12A318 1

FE FE FE FE FE
(Restated)
(In RMB’000) (AARETTAEN) (E%)
Results E3
Revenue WA 7,079,136 4,711,019 8,706,669 4,240,759 2,168,450
Profit before tax BR 750 A 4,787,694 2,751,774 3,832,765 2,255,892 944,868
Tax iR (2,035,555) (944,526) (1,828,396) (880,741) (298,943)
Profit for the year F R F 2,752,139 1,807,248 2,004,369 1,375,151 645,925
Attributable to: AT AL FEL -
Owners of the Company VIN/NGIES =N 2,252,622 1,643,529 1,366,512 1,056,202 360,884
Non-controlling interests FEPE R AR i = 499,517 163,719 637,857 318,949 285,041
2,752,139 1,807,248 2,004,369 1,375,151 645,925
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20185 20174 20164F 20154 20144
(In RMB’000) (MARETTAEN) 128311 12H318 12H318 12H318 128318
Assets and liabilities EEHEE
Total assets BELEE 51,987,757 43,668,752 32,167,328 25,100,925 14,899,651
Total liabilities BELTE (38,117,372)  (30,621,124)  (20,529,931)  (15,250,899) (8,773,621)
Total equity (including BmgE (BE
non-controlling interests) IR R M) 13,870,385 13,047,628 11,637,397 9,850,026 6,126,030
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Our management believes that a sizable and quality land bank is the
key for a property developer to succeed in a competitive property
market in the PRC. Our core competitive edge includes good timing
for land acquisition at competitive pricing as well as professional
projects cashflow management.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s land bank totalled 13.75
million square meters, under which approximately 23% were located
in first tier cities — Beijing, Guangzhou, Shanghai and Shenzhen,
and approximately 66% were located in second tier cities such
as Wuhan, Changsha, Nanjing, Qingdao, Suzhou, Hangzhou, etc.,
as well as 11% were located in third tier cities including Huaian,
Taicang and Zhuzhou.

The Group’s land bank distribution in the PRC are summarised
below:

E 3 4E1)

BAMEEERRE AEEARBENLBHER
MEZRBETERFINFEHETSRSKY
MRS RANROBFEZERERAASRFS
MERKBLARERXHEERERER

M2018F 128318  REBM L FEE S 1,375
BYFK HB23%uRdt =« BN - EERE
I — R - DR ARRE - BEY BR &
B gM - MNEZBET 0 AR11% R B E#E
T KB REMNE =BT -

REBZBEALFEESBREBLT -

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BT MARRRHE BES/ attributable
Primary intended BEARRBENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) rEE
= W HEXERIME (F5K) iR
South China (including Guangdong,
Guangxi, Hainan)
ZEBE (BRER - EE - BE)
Guangzhou World Style Guangzhou Residential 235,691 33%
BMEEEE M F=E
Guangzhou Tiandou Square Guangzhou Commercial 42,472 74%
BMREES M [EES
Vision Shenzhen Business Park Shenzhen Investment properties 335,707 100%
for rental
AN R R E el REUMERELHE
Shenzhen Longgang Project Shenzhen Residential/Office/ 250,600 33%
Commercial
AYIEmEE el T/ Wrg/BE
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Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRMEENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) iy
5H il HEXERIMR (FHXK) FEfh R
North China (including Beijing, Tianjin,
Hebei, Shanxi, Inner Mongolia)
ZE (BFILRE - X2 T W
REL)
Beijing Daxing District Huangcun Project Beijing Residential/Commercial 220,105 90.5%
IR AREEEMNIER bR FE/H%
Beijing Jinshui Xishan Yijing Beijing Residential/Commercial 112,167 50%
b REKAELESR 1R FE/#Ex
Beijing Jinshui Yongye Huachen Jiayuan Beijing Residential 88,101 45%
EREKKEERRZE bR FE
Beijing Gemdale Mingcheng Changping Beijing Residential 67,960 33%
North Qijia 011 Project
IR &AM E T+ K011EE bR F=
Beijing Weixin Huaging Sohu.com Beijing Commercial for rental 14,853 60%
Internet Plaza
L REFEBEMBEAE SIA BEDERELE
Beijing Mentougou District Yongdingzhen Beijing Residential 99,309 30%
Keluotuo Project
It RFIEER K ERARIER bR FE
Beijing Fangshan Qinglonghu Project Beijing Residential 76,560 100%
ItRELEESER bR F=E
Beijing Cuigezhuangxiang Plot No. 0603 Beijing Residential 57,602 45%
IR EE H 0603135 bR F=
Beijing Cuigezhuangxiang Plot No. 0604 Beijing Residential 68,925 45%
I REE 40604138 bl =
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E 3 4E1)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRMEENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r5E
5H il HEXERIMR (FHXK) FEfh R
Beijing Shunyi Houshayu Plot No. 0075 Beijing Residential 132,950 33%
I RIEZ 1% 51800754 58 bR =
Tianjin Nongken Beirun Huating Tianjin Residential/Commercial 206,931 20%
RERBIBEE RE e/ HEx
Tianjin Huituo Haihe Education Park Project  Tianjin Residential 201,078 23%
REBRSTHERER RE F=
Tianjin Xingtai Jucheng Tianjin Residential/Commercial 137,697 22%
RERZEK RE FE/ B
Taiyuan Western District of Royall Lake Taiyuan Residential/Commercial/ 315,059 67%
Apartment
KRRFEHAAER AR [ERSP A SE N
Taiyuan Eastern District of Royall Lake Taiyuan Residential 93,866 74%
ARR=EHRRREE AR TE
Taiyuan Dongjianhe Land Taiyuan Residential 71,726 38%
PN ihakihe AR =
East China (including Shanghai, Jiangsu,
Zhejiang, Anhui, Fujian, Jiangxi,
Shandong)
ZRWE (BFELE  IH 0L 2#-
BE IR LR)
Shanghai Zhongjun Jindi Zizaicheng Shanghai Residential/Commercial 186,367 55%
LA aER i FE/BE
Shanghai Xuting Jiuting Shidai Center Shanghai Office/Commercial 190,989 30%
HERFENAFERRAL L& BRE S HE
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Review of Operations

E 3 4EI)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BT HARRHE BEP attributable
Primary intended BERRBENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) iy
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) PR
Shanghai Jiading Hengdong Industrial Shanghai Investment property 151,844 85%
Park Project
LEETEDELEER b RENE
Shanghai Songjiang Zhitao Industrial Shanghai Investment property 115,808 50%
Park Project
PERNTISHEERREER +ig REDE
Shanghai Huanyi Minhang Huanxin Shanghai Investment property 96,341 50%
Industrial Park Project
PBARRITABEXRER i REM*
Shanghai Qibao Project Shanghai Office for rental/ 87,939 50%
Commercial
HEtEEE L& WOERELT B
Shanghai Xihonggiao Project Shanghai Office for rental/ 84,518 13%
Commercial
LEEIEER L& WABAELEHE
Shanghai Xinwei Jindi Shiguang Yayuan Shanghai Residential 84,415 55%
Rt Tk nbilisg b2 L& =
Shanghai Baoshan Yuxin Industrial Shanghai Investment property 56,115 100%
Park Project
HEBLMHELREER L& REN%E
Shanghai Baoshan Lier Industrial Shanghai Investment property 55,378 100%
Park Project
HEBLNBERXERR i REME
Shanghai Jinming Changshou Road Project ~ Shanghai Office for rental/ 45,427 50%
Commercial
LEeERERIER g POERELT A
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E 3 4E1)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRMEENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) iy
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) FEfh R
Shanghai Anyang Project Shanghai Investment property 44,267 100%
LERFER g REM%E
Shanghai Changning District Project Shanghai Office for rental/ 11,103 100%
Commercial
HERZERER i PNERELR E
Shanghai Xujing Project Shanghai Residential 20,985 100%
LE%xIER = =
Shanghai Minhangxincheng Project Shanghai Office/Commercial 71,225 49%
HBRITHMIER N WBNEHE
Nanjing Weixin Fenghua Yaju Nanjing Residential/Commercial 235,659 96%
BREFEERE BR FE/HE
Nanjing Yaohaumen Project Nanjing Commercial Complex/ 268,427 49%
Office for sale
HRELFIER HR [EES5ET V4
BABRELE
Nanjing Jintuo Pukou Project Nanjing Residential 142,126 51%
HReABEOIER 255 FE
Nanjing Yulong Project Nanjing Industrial/R&D 60,098 80%
HRFHEER HR I% /%
Nantong Tongzhou District Project Nanjing Residential 101,339 86%
M@EmMNEER BR £
Suzhou Xinxin Road Project Xuzhou Residential 58,620 33%
RINIRREIER &N %
Xuzhou Sanhuan Road Project Xuzhou Residential/Commercial 434,735 26%
RN =IREIBE il FE/B%
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Review of Operations

E 3 4EI)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BT HARRHE BEP attributable
Primary intended BERRBENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) iy
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) PR
Xuzhou Jixiechang Project Xuzhou Residential 99,772 21%
RMEmEER M FE
Suzhou Jinanze Heshan Road Mingyue Suzhou Residential 82,002 47%
Yayuan
ML RMILEAN R EM FE
Suzhou Jinsu Gusucheng Suzhou Commercial 45,716 100%
HM e EN #M EES
Suzhou Qingjian Lake Plot Suzhou Residential 39,148 19%
FNE @R M F=E
Suzhou Jinxin Gongchuang Suzhan Suzhou Residential/Commercial 30,805 49%
Road Project
MR BIAIRRIARIA B #M FE/#Ex
Suzhou Wujiang Kaifaqu Project Suzhou Residential 130,953 33%
HMIRERER &N F=
Suzhou Changshou Plot No. 5 Suzhou Residential 63,805 20%
M BRI IR #M Fx
Huai’an Vision Huai'an Residential/Office/ 120,680 98%
Commercial
ER B L TE/BTE/BE¥
Taichang Gaoxin District Taichang Residential 88,490 17%
AEBHE V=) Fx
Taichang Yinhewan Project Taichang Residential 77,842 13%
REHRTEEE XE FE
Taichang Shaxi Project Taichang Residential 34,307 13%
AEDEIER V=) Fx
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E 3 4E1)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRMEENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) iy
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) FEfh R
Wujiang Liwan District Wujiang Residential 62,319 13%
RIIEEE RiI T=
Kunshan Lanting Yuyuan Kunshan Residential 170,551 74%
ELF=HE Bl F=E
Kunshan Sea Legend Kunshan Residential 114,945 30%
B HEF B F=
Kunshan Plot No. 12-2 Kunshan Residential 61,647 13%
B2 Bl e
Kunshan Plot No. 12-3 Kunshan Residential 140,733 24%
Bll12-345 Bl %
Kunshan Zhongyu Project Kunshan Residential 114,945 15%
ELFRFIER Bl Fx
Kunshan Jiangpu Road Kunshan Residential 106,950 74%
BILDAE = T
Kunshan Zhangpu Plot No. 10 Kunshan Residential 292,693 74%
BRI 105% 18 Ell Fx
Kunshan Lujia Plot No. 5-2 Kunshan Residential 152,634 38%
EILFERS-2i 58 A =
Hangzhou Wanning Weilaicheng Phase 3 Hangzhou Residential 179,755 23%
MMBERRH =1 M Fx
Hangzhou Jinhu Xiaoshancheng Xiaxiang Hangzhou Residential/Commercial 135,214 25%
Lake Project
MMEBRLSEE TR M T/ HE
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E 3 4EI)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRBENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) iy
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) PR
Hangzhou Zhongxu Xiaoshan Food Hangzhou Residential 114,788 23%
Warehouse Project
MMBERLEREEER M FE
Hangzhou Wanzhao Weilaicheng Hangzhou Residential 103,157 30%
M E R AR M Fx
Hangzhou Jinhang Dayunchenfu Hangzhou Residential 75,187 100%
MM EMAERR M FE
Hanzhou Weixin Dalehui Center Hangzhou Apartment/Commercial 55,780 100%
M BT KL .0 M B/ HE
Hangzhou Weilang Jinjiang Project Hangzhou Apartment/Office for sale 33,468 91%
MBI RATTIER Ul NE/PRERAELE
Hangzhou Pengbu Hangzhou Residential/Commercial/ 83,875 60%
Office
MMNZIR M e/ H%/ Bog
Jiashan Weitang Jiaxing Residential 97,989 20%
REWE e FE
Qingdao Qingyin High-speed Project Qingdao Residential 501,950 23%
555ERRRFER 55 FE
Qingdao Shenggang Project Qingdao Residential 72,772 50%
B 55 Fx
Qingdao Happy Marina City Project Qingdao Residential 56,958 35%
EEBEEENER 55 %
Qingdao Xikezhan Project Qingdao Residential 364,940 45%
EEATIIER 55 FE
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E 3 4E1)

Total GFA of remaining

unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRMEENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) iy
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) FEfh R
Jinan Tangye Plot Jinan Residential/Commercial/ 380,340 20%
Office for rental
EmEE AR it T/ E%/
PABRELR
Zhuji Guangyuehui Zhuji Commercial 51,337 74%
FEREE *#8 [EES
Central China (including Henan, Hubei,
Hunan)

FhuE (BFTHF i - HmE)
Wuhan Huangshihai Project Wuhan Residential/Commercial 167,846 28%
HEEWEER B FE/HE
Wuhan Laoguan Village Wuhan Residential 718,860 74%
REZBN HE F=
Wuhan Xinjucheng Wuhan Residential 610,325 55%
TR HE FE
Wuhan Guobo Wuhan Residential 326,062 74%
HERE HE Fx
Wuhan Xincheng Wuhan Residential 150,130 74%
BUEFT HE %
Wuhan Hannan Project Wuhan Residential 186,958 38%
REEMIER HE =
Wuhan Jiangxia Wulijie Plot No. 078 Wuhan Residential 65,711 21%
RETIERER078MM HE %
Wuhan Jiangwan Ronghui Wuhan Residential 117,058 74%
RELERE HE Fx
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E 3 4EI)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRMEENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r5E
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) FEfh R
Changsha River City Phase 1 Changsha Residential 206,991 74%
RAHEEN -4 =323 F=
Changsha Colourful Garden Changsha Residential 9,691 41%
RABYET 9 FE
Changsha No. 1 Project Changsha Office for rental 30,543 74%
R EHEM =323 HABAELHE
Zhuzhou Orchid Pavilion City Garden Zhuzhou Residential 97,010 74%
M= HOM Fx
Northwest District (including Shaanxi,
Gansu, Qinghai, Ningxia, Xinjiang)
FILHE (BFERE - HE - 58 25 HE)
Xi'an Zhutai Qujiang Heshi Xiaozhen Project  Xi'an Residential 277,071 100%
ARERMIRA/NEER itk F=x
Xi'an Shuokun Qujiang Peijiakong Project Xi'an Residential 290,495 47%
AR IERIEER ik =
Xi'an Zhutain Qujiang Tanghua Garden Xi'an Residential 83,945 100%
ALERBIEELE A% FE
Northeast District (including Liaoning,
Jilin, Heilongjiang)
RIWBE (BFEE - M BEI)
Dalian Huiquan Tanxi Dalian Residential 8,840 100%
REREREE PN %
Shenyang Huacheng Yijing Shenyang Residential/Commercial 211,464 100%
BSEREE el T/ m¥
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E 3 4E1)

Total GFA of remaining
unrecognized for sale/
under development/

held for future development Interest
BTHRBILE BRH attributable
Primary intended BERRMEENERE to the Group
Project City use of the Project (square meter) r5E
5H il HEXERIMR (F5K) FEfh R
Shenyang Huiyu, South of Polytechnic Shenyang Residential/Commercial 196,480 50%
Institute Project
EHEPBERNSRERR = FE/HE
Shenyang Yuefeng Shenyang Residential/Commercial 39,069 100%
IS e TE/ %
Southwest (including Chongging,
Sichuan, Guizhou, Yunnan, Tibet)
ARLE (BFEE M- &N E8 - &H)
Kunming Landouhui Kunming Residential 68,815 74%
RREBEHE B s
Chengdu Chenghua District Zhaojuesi Chengdu Residential/Commercial 59,636 49%
Project
REKERBEFIER g FE/HE%
Chengdu Qingyang District Chengdu Apartment/Commercial 25,874 100%
P #EFRIER P /N4 S
Others Residential 31,003
Hity FE
st 13,751,407
Land acquisitions in 2018 20185 Y+ it W ig

During 2018, the Group acquired 24 land projects in the PRC, with 720184 Hi [ » 7x & B 7 /b B Yg BEo4(E + 1 18
total planned GFA of approximately 2,733,000 square meters, under B - R 2| 4 18 & [ & £2,733,000F /5 3K » E &
which 1,415,000 square meters were attributable to the Group’s 1,415,000 K RN & B EG IR AR - %S+
equity interests. Total consideration for these land acquisitions U BE&E KRB ARE306.96B L - EFAEFIR
amounted to approximately RMB30,696 million, out of which  #5EHHRE1E B B AR NS FE N A RIE157.23(B 7T -
RMB15,723 million were payable by the Group according to its  R2018FE & H R ARG H KO AR
equity interests in relevant projects. The average land acquisition ~ 11,2007T °

cost in 2018 was approximately RMB11,200 per square meter.
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Properties sales and development

Though the Group experienced macroeconomic slowdown and
continual tightening measures for property market, it still managed
to achieve aggregated contracted sales of RMB49.03 billion in
2018, representing an increase of 8% from the previous year. Its
aggregated contracted sales area totalled 2,263,000 square meters
in 2018, representing a drop of approximately 9% as compared to
2017. Its average selling price was approximately RMB21,700 per
square meter in 2018, representing an increase of 19% as compared
to 2017.

Property leasing

As at 31 December 2018, our Vision Shenzhen Business Park
Phases 1 and 2, a business park with GFA of 127,000 square
meters, was nearly 100% occupied. Its major tenants include Intel,
Amazon and DJI. Also, our Beijing Sohu.com Internet Plaza and the
Bridge 8 project in Shanghai were also 100% occupied. In addition,
our newly opened Hangzhou shopping mall was also nearly 100%
occupied.

During the year, benefiting from the increase in the rental rate as
well as more new commercial projects were opened, the Group
recorded total rental/management fees revenue of approximately
RMB507 million in 2018, representing a remarkable increase of 32%
as compared to 2017.

Currently, the commercial projects under development includes
Xuzhou, Nanjing, Jinan, Beijing and Huai'an commercial complex
projects, several Shanghai commercial projects and Vision
Shenzhen Business Park Phase 3 in Nanshan District, Shenzhen.
Upon completion of these projects in the pipeline, our commercial
properties portfolio is expected to generate an additional RMB1.5
billion rental income to the Group.
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Mr. Ling Ke (“Mr. Ling”), aged 59, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since November 2012. Mr. Ling joined Gemdale
Corporation in 1992. He is also the Chairman and a director of
Gemdale Corporation and is overall responsible for the Gemdale
Corporation, particularly in charge of strategic planning. Mr.
Ling has extensive experience in strategic planning, property
development and corporate management. He holds a master’s
degree in Engineering Management from Zhejiang University, the
PRC. He is granted the professional title of Senior Economist.

Mr. Huang Juncan (“Mr. Huang”), aged 48, has been an
Executive Director of the Company and the Chairman of the
Group since November 2012. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang joined Gemdale
Corporation in 1992. He is also a director and the President of
Gemdale Corporation and is in charge of the whole operation of
Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Huang has extensive experience in
property investment, design, construction, marketing and corporate
management. He holds a bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering
from Tongji University, the PRC and a MBA from University of Wales,
Newport (Shenzhen), the PRC.

Mr. Xu Jiajun (“Mr. Xu”), aged 40, has been an Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since October
2012 and January 2013, respectively. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xu is a director, Senior
Vice President and the Board Secretary of Gemdale Corporation and
is responsible for capital management and strategic planning of
Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Xu has extensive experience in property
development, corporate management and strategic planning. He
was awarded the “Gold medal prize of Board Secretary” by New
Fortune Magazine from 2010 to 2016, and was awarded the “Best
Board Secretary” by Money Week in 2011 and 2012. He holds
a master’s degree in management from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics, the PRC.

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (“Mr. Wei”), aged 50, has been an Executive
Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since
October 2012. Mr. Wei joined Gemdale Corporation in 2003. He is
also a director, Senior Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer
of Gemdale Corporation and is responsible for overall financing
and accounting of Gemdale Corporation. Mr. Wei has extensive
experience in property development and financial management.
He is a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds an EMBA from Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics, the PRC.
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Mr. Loh Lian Huat (“Mr. Loh”), aged 55, has been a Non-executive
Director of the Company since May 2015. Mr. Loh is the Founder
of Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd., an investment advisory,
asset management and direct real estate investments firm. He
has over 18 years of experience in the corporate real estate asset
management industry. Prior to setting-up Silkrouteasia Capital
Partners Pte. Ltd. in 2011, Mr. Loh worked at MEAG Pacific Star
Asset Management Pte. Ltd. from May 2005 to July 2008. From
2000 to 2005, Mr. Loh worked at GIC Real Estate Pte. Ltd. Mr. Loh
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from
the National Defense Academy, Japan, and a Master of Science
degree in defence technology from the Royal Military College of
Science, United Kingdom. Mr. Loh is lead independent director, the
chairman of audit and risk committee and a member of nomination
and remuneration committee of OUE Commercial REIT Management
Pte. Ltd., the manager of OUE Commercial REIT, which is listed on
the Singapore Stock Exchange. He is also a non-independent non-
executive director of EFA Real Economy Income Trust, a Singapore-
based fund management entity with a Capital Market Licence
("CMS”) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”). He
is also a patron of the Bukit Timah Citizen Consultative Management
Committee, Singapore, a non-profit organization.

Ms. Zhang Feiyun (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 33, has been a Non-
executive Director of the Company since May 2015. Ms. Zhang is
presently a director of OUE Lippo Limited, a substantial Shareholder
of the Company. Prior to joining OUE Lippo Limited in 2015, Ms.
Zhang worked as the chief executive officer of Supernova Capital
Lid. (B BEREEEEEEGRAF]) from 2012 to 2015, where she was
responsible for real estate investment and management projects.
From 2010 to 2012, Ms. Zhang worked at the investment securities
division of Daiwa Bank and oversaw investments in the real estate
industry. Ms. Zhang holds a Bachelor degree of Journalism from
Fudan University, the PRC, and a Master of Management Degree
from the University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.
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Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (“Mr. Hui”), aged 71, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since December 2004. He
is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Hui is currently the chairman and chief executive
officer of Luk Fook Financial Services Limited. He also serves as a
non-executive Director of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited,
an independent non-executive director of Agile Property Holdings
Limited, China South City Holdings Limited, FSE Engineering
Holdings Limited, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited, SINOPEC
Engineering (Group) Co., Ltd. and Zhuhai Holdings Investment
Group Limited, and whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Mr. Hui has over 47 years of experience in the
securities and investment industry. He had for years been serving
as an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, a council member and vice chairman of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a member of the Advisory
Committee and the Committee on Real Estate Investment Trusts of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission, a director of
the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited, a member of
the Listing Committee of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited, an appointed member of the Securities and Futures Appeal
Tribunal, a member of the Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform, and an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel. Mr. Hui was
appointed by the Government of the HKSAR a Justice of the Peace
in 2004 and was also appointed a member of the Zhuhai Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
in 2006 to 2017.

Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony (“Mr. Chiang”), aged 61, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since November 2012. He is also a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Chiang is a
practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws
degree at the University of Hong Kong in 1980 and was admitted as
a solicitor of Hong Kong in 1983. He was appointed by the Ministry
of Justice in the PRC as an attesting officer in 1995. Mr. Chiang
has substantial experience in foreign investment and property
transactions in the PRC.
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Mr. Hu Chunyuan (“Mr. Hu”), aged 49, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since November 2012.
He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Hu is currently
the vice-president and executive partner of BDO China Shu Lun
Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP, a director of BDO Limited
and a fellow certified public accountant (as approved by the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants). Mr. Hu obtained
his bachelor’'s degree in Economics (Accounting) from Xi'an
Jiaotong University in 1991, his master’s degree in Economics
(Accounting) from Xiamen University in 1994, and his doctor’s
degree in Economics (Accounting) from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics in 1998 where he was a student of
Professor Xu Zhengdan, a famous accounting expert. Since 1991,
he has been successively engaged in auditing and management
consultancy in the Accounting Firm of Xiamen University, the Xiamen
Certified Public Accountants, Shenzhen Dahua Tiancheng Certified
Public Accountants, BDO China Li Xin Da Hua Certified Public
Accountants Co., Ltd. and BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public
Accountants LLP. In 1993, he passed the national CPA qualification
exam. He was approved as a Chinese certified public accountant
in 1996, and a certified public accountant qualified for engaging
in securities and futures activities in 1999. Mr. Hu has extensive
experiences in group reorganisation, IPO, assets restructuring and
debts restructuring, auditing of listed companies and securities
companies, and the design of corporate governance structure and
management structure.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin (“Mr. Wong”), aged 43, has been the Company
Secretary of the Company since October 2012. Mr. Wong was
graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Wong is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a CFA charterholder. Before joining the Group, Mr. Wong
worked in several Hong Kong listed/private companies as chief
financial officer. Mr. Wong has more than 21 years of experience in
accounting, treasury, finance and merger and acquisition.
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The Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance with
an emphasis on a quality board of directors, sound internal control,
principles and practices, and transparency and accountability to
all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) in order to
optimise return for its shareholders and enhance the performance
of the Group.

The Company has taken steps to adopt the principles and comply
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Board has reviewed periodically the
compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”), the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code,
except for the following deviations:

1. Under CG Code A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
view of shareholders. Due to other pre-arranged business
commitments which must be attended by certain directors
of the Company, Mr. Loh Lian Huat, Ms. Zhang Feiyun and
Mr. Hu Chunyuan were not able to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company on 16 May 2018.

2. Under CG Code E.1.2, the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting of the company. Due to
other pre-arranged business commitments which must be
attended by Mr. Huang Juncan, the chairman of the board,
he was not able to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company on 16 May 2018.

3. Under CG Code A.1.1, board meeting should be held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.
During the year, only two regular board meetings were held
to review and approve the annual and interim results of the
Company. The Company does not announce its quarterly
results and hence does not consider the holding of quarterly
meetings as necessary. Management supplied adequate and
timely information to the board and the directors can make
further enquiries to the senior management from time to time
to ensure that they are provided with sufficient information to
fulfill their directors’ duties.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time
to time, (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Following specific enquiries made by the Company,
all Directors had complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year. The Model Code also applies to
other specified senior management of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Board”) currently comprises four executive Directors, two non-
executive Directors (“NEDs”) and three independent non-executive
Directors (“INEDs”). The Directors during the year and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Ke

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer)

NEDs

Mr. Loh Lian Huat
Ms. Zhang Feiyun

INEDs

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
Mr. Hu Chunyuan

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 29 to 32 of this annual
report.

The NEDs were participating in board meetings to bring an
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct; taking the lead where potential conflicts
of interests arise; and scrutinising the Company’s performance in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring
performance reporting.
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The three INEDs represent one-third of the Board. The Board
possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the
maintenance of good corporate governance practices. One of the
INEDs has the appropriate professional qualification and accounting
and audit experience and expertise as required by Rules 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive Directors,
NEDs and INEDs also generates a strong independent element
on the Board, which allows for an independent and objective
decision making process for the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company will review the composition of the
Board from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the
appropriate and necessary expertise, skills, diversity of perspective
and experience to meet the needs of the Group’s business and to
enhance the shareholders’ value.

All NEDs (including INEDs) are appointed with specific term of not
more than three years and all Directors are appointed with letters
of appointment and subject to retirement by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meetings in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Bye-
law 109(A) and 189(vii) of the Company’s Bye-laws provides that
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Also, pursuant to Bye-law 100 of the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-election at the next
following general meeting.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Company considers that all the three INEDs are independent.

Directors and officers’ policy

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers
liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and officers against
liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate activities. Such
insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed on an annual basis.
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Meetings

During the year, the Board met regularly and held 2 meetings. The
attendance record of members of the Board, on a named basis, at
the board meetings and general meetings is set out in the following
table:

L

FRN - EFSTEHERE  GRT2AER -EFEE
FBLEEERKRE 2 HFERRE AR HIIRIAT
(IF-

Number of meetings attend/held

HE A BOTEERE
Board Meetings Annual General Meeting
EE8ER2 BREAFAE

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ling Ke B 2/2 0/1
Mr. Huang Juncan ERe S 2/2 0/1
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRERE 2/2 0/1
Mr. Wei Chuanjun EEELLE 2/2 0/1
NEDs FHTES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat’t 4 2/2 0/1
M. Zhang Feiyun REERZ L 2/2 0/1
INEDs BIYFHITES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung TR A 2/2 1/1
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony B #&E L4 2/2 1/1
Mr. Hu Chunyuan HRETLEE 0/2 0/1

Sufficient notices of not less than 14 days for regular board meetings
and reasonable notice for non-regular board meetings were given to
all Directors so as to ensure that each of them had an opportunity
to attend the meetings. Board papers will be given to the Board in a
timely manner and at least 3 days before the Board meeting by the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). If
potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder or a
Director arises which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical board meeting rather than a
written resolution, and the interested parties are required to abstain
from voting. The Directors attend meetings in persons or through
other means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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The Company Secretary shall attend all regular board meetings to
advise on corporate governance and statutory compliance, when
necessary. Directors shall have full access to information on the
Group and are able to obtain independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors. The Company
Secretary shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters
discussed and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Relationships and associations among the Directors

Each of the executive Directors is also a director and/or top
management of Gemdale Corporation (£ity (£E) BHBREA
A]), which is the holding company of Glassy An Limited. Glassy An
Limited is the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no relationship between
members of the Board (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)).

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Huang Juncan and the Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. Xu Jiajun. The positions of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer are held by separate individuals with a
view to maintaining an effective segregation of duties between the
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business and operations.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide leadership
for the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in the best interest
of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that the Board works
effectively and fully discharges its responsibilities, and provides
leadership for the Board in setting objectives and strategies, and
ensure good corporate governance practices are enforced as well
as all key issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The
Chairman has taken into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the Directors for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman
has delegated the responsibility of drawing up the agenda for each
board meeting to the Chief Executive Officer and the Company
Secretary. With the support of the Chief Executive Officer and the
Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and have
received adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading the management of
the Company in conducting its business affairs in accordance with
the Company’s objectives, and implementing the Group’s strategies
and policies.
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DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director
receives a comprehensive induction package covering business
operations, policy and procedures of the Company as well as the
general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director to
ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the
Company has been encouraging the Directors and senior executives
to enroll in a wide range of professional development courses and
seminars relating to the Listing Rules, companies ordinance/act and
corporate governance practices organized by professional bodies,
independent auditors and/or chambers in Hong Kong so that they
can continuously update and further improve their knowledge and
skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials
to develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company
Secretary also organises and arranges seminars on the latest
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the
Directors to assist them in discharging their duties. During the
year, all Directors, namely, Mr. Ling Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan, Mr. Xu
Jiajun, Mr. Wei Chuanjun, Mr. Loh Lian Huat, Ms. Zhang Feiyun,
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung, Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony and Mr. Hu
Chunyuan have received the requisite directors’ training/materials
in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on continuous
professional development.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
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RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of adequate
capital and managerial resources to implement the business
strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial and internal
control and conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws
and regulations. All Directors have made full and active contribution
to the affairs of the Board and the Board has always acted in the
best interest of the Group.

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate
strategy and policy and contractual commitments. Management
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group with
divisional heads responsible for different aspects of the business.

The Board considers that in preparing the financial statements,
the Group has applied the appropriate accounting policies that
are consistently adopted and made judgements/estimates that are
reasonable and prudent in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The publication of the
financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, is of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is
appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in the
preparation of the financial statements.
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The Board has established three board committees, namely, the
audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee,
each of which has the specific written terms of reference that will
be reviewed and updated periodically where necessary. Copies of
minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the board committees
are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Each board
committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions and
recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is
also provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and
has access to independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense according to the Company’s policy, if necessary.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) has
been established with specific written terms of reference stipulating
its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.gemdalepi.com) and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The
Audit Committee currently comprises Mr. Hu Chunyuan (Chairman
of the committee), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee,
Anthony. All Audit Committee members are INEDs.

The functions of the Audit Committee are, among other things,
responsible for assisting the Board to ensure objectivity and
credibility of financial reporting, including interim and final results,
and that the directors have exercised the care, diligence and skills
prescribed by law when presenting the Group’s results to the
shareholders. The Audit Committee is also responsible for assisting
the Board to ensure effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are in place and good corporate governance
standards and practices are maintained within the Group and
to monitor the internal and external audit functions and to make
relevant recommendations to the Board to ensure effective and
efficient operations and reliable reporting. The functions of the Audit
Committee will be reviewed regularly by the Board and amended
from time to time, as and when appropriate, in order to ensure
compliance with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code
(as amended from time to time). The Company has internal control
procedures to ensure that the continuing connected transactions
will be conducted in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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During the year, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings with the senior
management, of which were joined by the external auditors. The
attendance record of the committee members, on a named basis,
at these meetings is set out in the following table:

FAN BREZESCHSREBERIT2REE &
FANBZBIMLE ZEERBEHFEZFERZ
ek (AZIRFR) BIIRATIIE

Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Audit Committee EREEEHE HEBITEBRE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung TR S 2/2
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony P ADE S 2/2
Mr. Hu Chunyuan HHETLEE 0/2

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee and its recommendations made to the Board during the
year:

(a) reviewing (i) the annual results of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017”)and (ii) the interim
results of the Company for the 6 months ended 30 June 2018
and ensuring the full, complete and accurate disclosure in
the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the accounting
standards and other legal requirements for presenting the
same to the Board for approval;

(b) proposing the re-appointment of external auditors for FY2018;

(c) reviewing the audit fee proposal for FY2018 for auditors of
the Company to perform audit services and other special
corporate projects;

(d) reviewing the audit plan for FY2018;

(e) reviewing the report on monitoring of risk management and

internal control systems of the Group during the year and the
overall effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function;
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(f) reviewing the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the staff and the accounting and financial
reporting matters; and

(9) reviewing the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group for FY2017.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been addressed by
the management. The work and findings of the Audit Committee
have been reported to the Board. During the year, there were no
issues brought to the attention of the management and the Board
that required disclosure in this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms
of reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are
available on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com)
and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED and Chairman of the
committee), Mr. Hu Chunyuan (INED) and Mr. Xu Jiajun (executive
Director).

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(c) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

42 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £t E B EBEHRE A T

(f) EHNER BT 2EMEEBRANER Y
BHREEEZTHEE R

(9) FBHREE2017FE2MERH RFERE

ERECREECZEGMREZAARE - B
ZEGZIEBANGRENESTEME - TR
VEEREEEEREFGIBZISHEMARKSE
RAEE

¥yMEEE

ARAFIERVEFERETFNEZES ((FMES
) EHTHAHEEREBE CABRSEBRES
Al A AR R 7] 48 uhi(www.gemdalepi.com) & 3
= 5 8 ufi(www.hkexnews.hk)& 3 - FHEME B €37
HTFRPEE (BYFNTEEREZEGERF)
Bt (BUFNTES) RFRELEE (BITE
F) MRk -

FNZEgzACKBENT

(a) BMARFEREZLSMAEEENHMBR
Ko ZRE LA B BRI AT 7 B BOCR AR S IEAR T B
RAENREFAEESRHES

W\

(b)y ZREFGMICESHRBRMmMRE kit
EEE BN EE

(c) REFSEREMR BEXEIBTERLS
REBABZHMNGE  BREEYHE R
RERMNEFESR (BRRAIR B
R EZEAEMNEEE)



(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the group;

(f) to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(9) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

(h) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting. The
attendance record of the committee members, on a named basis,
at these meeting is set out in the following table:
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Number of meetings attend/held

Members of Remuneration Committee FMEEERE HE,/BITEBERE
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung TR S 1/1
Mr. Hu Chunyuan B TTRE 01
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRRELE 11

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee and its recommendations made to the
Board during the year:

(a) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the senior
management for FY2017 and their annual salary for FY2018;

(b) reviewing and determining the bonus payment of the
executive Director(s) for FY2017; and

(c) proposing the Directors’ fee for FY2018.
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The Board defined that the senior management of the Company
comprises the Executive Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer. Details of the Directors’ remuneration
for the year are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established with specific written terms
of reference stipulating its authorities and duties, which are
available on the websites of the Company (www.gemdalepi.com)
and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Nomination Committee
currently comprises Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman of the Board and
the committee), Mr. Hui Chiu Chung (INED) and Mr. Chiang Sheung

Yee, Anthony (INED).

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to review the Board diversity policy and any measurable
objectives for implementing such Board diversity policy
as may be adopted by the Board from time to time and to
review the progress on achieving the objectives; and to make
disclosure of its review results in the annual report of the
Company annually;

(d) to assess the independence of INEDs; and
(e) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
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During the year, no Nomination Committee meeting was held.
The Nomination Committee would review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the board from time to time and would make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

As the Company recognises that having a board diversity policy
can enhance the quality of its performance, the Board has adopted
a board diversity policy in compliance with the CG Code A.5.6.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy of the Company, in designing
the Board’s composition so as to achieve board diversity, a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service of the candidates will be taken into
account. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for
performing the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG
Code and is committed to ensuring that an effective governance
structure is in place to continuously review, monitor and improve
the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices
on the Group’s corporate governance, developing a code of
conduct applicable to the Directors and employees, monitoring
the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance and training
and continuing professional development of Directors and senior
management and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and the disclosure in this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board
in discharge of its corporate governance function.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and that the Board is fully
briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regard to them when making decisions
and would also facilitate induction and professional development of
directors. The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the
Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations of the Listing
Rules, Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchases,
Companies Ordinance, Securities and Futures Ordinance and other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin, who was appointed as a full-time company
secretary of the Company, reports to the Board and is responsible
for, inter alia, providing updated information on the Listing Rules and
regulatory and corporate governance developments to all Directors
from time to time. During the year, Mr. Wong has complied with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the
Group are set out below:
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2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

Services rendered MR AR¥T AREF T

Audit services EZRTS 4,551 2,613
Non-audit services TR

Review and other reporting services 5 & H A BB R AR TS 452 831

5,003 3,444
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view and are in
compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, statutory
requirements and other regulatory requirements. As at 31 December
2018, the Board was not aware of any material misstatement or
uncertainties that might put doubt on the Group’s financial position
or continue as a going concern. The Board endeavours to ensure
a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in financial reporting.

A statement by the external auditors of the Company relating to its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company
is set out on pages 109 to 116 of this annual report. There are no
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the Company’s assets and
shareholders’ interests, and reviewing their effectiveness annually
through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in fulfilling its oversight and corporate governance roles in
the Group’s financial, operational, compliance, risk management
and internal control, and the resourcing of the finance and internal
audit functions. The legal department of the Group together with the
internal audit department of the holding company of the Company
(“Internal Audit Departments”) is delegated to assist the Board
and/or the Audit Committee in the review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The Directors through the Internal Audit Departments
are kept regularly apprised of significant risks that may impact on
the Group’s performance. The internal audit function is independent
of the operating businesses of the Group.

The Internal Audit Departments would review the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control procedures,
and the findings will be provided to the Audit Committee to assist
them in performing their annual reviews. The Audit Committee can
make enquiries with the management from time to time to ensure
that they are provided sufficient information to review the internal
control procedures.
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The Group has in place an organisational structure with defined lines
of responsibility and delegation of authority. There are established
policies and procedures for financial planning and budgeting;
for information and reporting systems; for assessment of risk;
and for monitoring the Group’s operations and performance. The
information systems in place are designed to ensure that the
financial information reported is up to date and reliable. In addition,
the Company will engage independent consultants to conduct
review of the risk management and internal control system of
the Group as and when necessary. The Board is responsible for
approving and overall reviewing internal control policy while the
responsibility of day-to-day management of operational risks lies
with the management.

The systems and internal control are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives so
as to help safeguard the Group’s assets against fraud and other
irregularities and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair
accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules
and regulations.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review on all
material measures on risk management and internal control,
including financial, operational and compliance control and risk
management function. It also reviewed with Audit Committee and
the information from the Internal Audit Departments in respect of
the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system, adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function and satisfied that they were effective and
adequate as well as in compliance with our policies.

The Group considered that internal control should be adapted to
the size, scope of business, competitive and risk level of the Group
and adjusted in a timely manner followed by circumstances change.
The Group will continue to improve the risk management and
internal control system, standardise its implementation, strengthen
internal supervision and inspection so as to promote the sustainable
development of the Group.
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The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with shareholders and investors (both individuals
and institutions) (collectively the “Stakeholders”) to ensure that
the Group’s information is disseminated to Stakeholders in a
timely manner and enable them to have a clear assessment of
the enterprise performance. Various shareholder’s communication
policies have been adopted by the Company and will be reviewed
on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

Constitutional documents

During the year, there had been no significant change to the
Company’s constitutional documents.

Disclosures in corporate website

Extensive information on the Group’s activities and financial
position will be disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, circulars and other corporate communications
which will be sent to shareholders and/or published on the
websites of HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.gemdalepi.com). Other inside information is released by way
of formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules
and the provisions in relation to disclosure of Inside Information
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

General meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings
and various general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to
communicate directly with the shareholders and members of the
Board and the members of various committees are encouraged to
attend and answer questions at general meetings.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (“Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding
not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request to convene a
SGM at the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”),
which is presently situated at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists must state in
their request(s) the objects of the SGM and such request(s) must
be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM
Requisitionists.

The share registrars of the Company (the “Share Registrars”) will
verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’
request. Promptly after confirmation from the Share Registrars that
the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary
will arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance with all the
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if
the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the SGM
Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, a
SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene
a SGM if within 21 days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’
request, the Board does not proceed duly to convene a SGM
provided that any SGM so convened is held within three (3) months
from the date of the original SGM Requisitionists’ request. A SGM
so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than
100 of such registered Shareholders, can request the Company in
writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect
to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition, provided that
if an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less
after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not
deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

As regards the procedures for proposing a person for election as
a Director, please refer to the procedures made available under
the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website at
www.gemdalepi.com.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact
details are as follows:

19/F., Central Tower

28 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2826 2888
Email: hhx@gemdalepi.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIS - HERERHE

ABOUT THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report (the
“Report”) has been prepared in compliance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules on
The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and covers ESG
issues related to property development, property investment and
management business of Gemdale Properties and Investment
Corporation Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (the
“Reporting Period” or “FY2018").

Unless otherwise specified in this Report, the information disclosed
herein includes three major real estate subsidiaries, namely
Shanghai Zhongjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (_L/&HEE
EEMZARAT) (“Shanghai Zhongjun”), Vision (Shenzhen)
Software Technology Co., Ltd.* CRIIEFTEERBEER AR
(“Shenzhen Vision”), and Xi’an Zhutai Real Estate Development
Company Limited* (AZEHREHERZERAR]) (“Xi’an Zhutai”).
These projects are the core of the Group’s business, contributing
to over 70% of the Group’s revenue in total in 2018.

THE GROUP’S COMMITMENTS TO ESG

The Group operates its business in various domestic and
international regions and cities, providing tens of thousands of
enterprises and individuals with high quality property projects while
elevating the value of cities. Therefore, the Group undertakes social
responsibilities, and enhances its management on environmental,
social and governance subject areas to meet market expectations.
The Board of the Group shall have the ultimate authority over
the ESG related matters of the Group. Management will take into
account relevant ESG factors in the ordinary course of business and
operations, thus improving the overall performance of the Group as
well as catering to the needs of stakeholders.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In order to continuously monitor ESG performance while satisfying
reporting requirements, the Group has designated specified staff
to set up the ESG working group, the members of which include
management personnel possessing sufficient relevant knowledge
with expertise in finance and business, to report to the Board on a
regular basis. The working group is in charge of leading teams to
collect relevant environmental and social information and data, make
regular reports to monitor usage, emission and other indicators, as
well as evaluate the effectiveness of the strategies. Meanwhile, all
the collected information and data are used to make disclosures in
this Report, so that stakeholders have a better understanding of the
ESG position of the Group.

The existing risks assessment and internal control systems of
the Group also cover the relevant ESG risks. Through regular
assessments and reviews on the market conditions faced by the
Group, our performance and internal procedures, etc., the Group
identified potential risks and conducted corresponding measures.
Risk assessment and internal control activities are reported to
management and the Board on a regular basis, with a view to
providing further information to assist the Group in determining short-
term and medium-to-long term performance goals and strategies.
In regards to monitoring the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems, please refer to the section headed “Risk
Management and Internal Control” in the “Corporate Governance
Report” of the Group.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group attaches importance to stakeholders’ interests and has
been maintaining communication and contact with stakeholders on a
continuous basis, which enables us to report on the Group’s recent
performance and be informed of their significant views, feedback
and expectations on the Group’s operations. Based on the level and
nature of participation of all stakeholders in the Group’s operations,
we have categorised them into the following groups:
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

Group of stakeholders

B EAR

Contact method

BEHN

Shareholders and investors

BRRREREE

e Press releases and announcements
e Annual and interim reports

o HEREAE
o TN HRE

Employees o Staff newsletters « ETE
=) e Work performance assessment o THERFIZ
e Feedback collection o BERE
e Staff activities o« BTEH
Service suppliers and partners e Performance assessment o FIAFHH
REEEERESERBH e Annual contract renewal and update o EEELHREH
e \Website o HBuh

Communities

e (Charitable/volunteer activities

s BE/RIEY

HE
Customers e Customer satisfaction surveys o XREMBERALE
=2F e Website o HHuf
e Annual and interim reports o FREAFHRE
Media e Press releases and announcements o HERBEAS
fi g e Annual and interim reports o FREAFHWME
e Interviews o BEh
Government authorities/regulators e Annual and interim reports o FIFMAEIIRE
BAFERFY  BEE B e Statutory documents o EENMH

The Group was informed of the opinions of the main stakeholders
through the above continuous communication channels, thereby
evaluating the importance of relevant ESG related matters based
on the reporting principles such as importance, equilibrium and
consistency, to identify our operating activities that have a material

impact on the environment and the community, with a view to laying
a basis for the Group’s sustainable development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

The Group determines the following ESG reporting scope based on
the results of the above assessments as well as taking into account

internal consultation and consideration:

Aspects of ESG
BiZ - HEREARE

=R
= -

Material ESG Issues

BALAFEFRABER  HANTHEAREE - K
SEARRE HEREAREITLATREH

EXRR - HEREAREEH

1. ENVIRONMENTAL
BRIE

1.1 Emissions

235 C7)

Environmental assessment on
property development projects
Environmental protection measures
for property management

Waste disposal for renters and
owners

Waste reduction measures within the
Group

o FHERBIABRRENG
o MEEBRRE

o HENMEFPREYRE

o AREBRNEDRREE

1.2 Use of Resources

BERER

Energy utilisation
Water resources utilisation

o BER(ER
o JKERMEM

1.3 Environmental and
Natural Resources

Noise and dust from project
construction

s HEMIREREL

RBERRARER Project renovation works o IEHHEEIR
Indoor air quality of projects e BEEATRAME
2. SOCIAL
#HE
2.1  Employment Compensation and dismissal, o HEMKFRE  HEKE
E{E recruitment and promotion, working Ft~ TYERSE - BREA

hours and rest periods

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination

Human resources policy for
outsourced contractors

8

o FEKE - Z - RIX
o INBANE

IR

2.2 Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety

o BEMRFEZE

BEREZD

2.3 Development and Training Employee development and training o {8 8% E K3
BRRIE

2.4  Labour Standards Prevention of child labour or forced o [ylEE Taksa b4
&I A labour

2.5  Supply Chain Management Supply chain quality and o HEHPENRIRIEEIE
HEHEEE environmental management

2.6  Product Responsibility Real estate advertising o EMEEBES
EmEE Health and safety quality of property o EiEEBREEEZ 2 H

projects
Customer service
Customer privacy

£
o BFPIR%
o EPLE

2.7 Anti-corruption

Corporate principle of honesty and

o WMEHEFRZNEERE

RES integrity
2.8 Community Investment Community involvement o Em4RER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

1.1

ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group is a real estate company specialised in property
development, property investment and property management.
the Group’s business
development will exert certain impact on the surrounding

The Group understands that

environment, therefore the Group has always regarded
environmental
consideration factor, seeking to provide customers of
projects and other stakeholders with a natural and unspoiled
environment.

protection as a significant commercial

Environmental assessment on property development projects

All property development projects of the Group are
outsourced to professional third-party contractors, so the
Group does not directly produce any major emissions (such
as exhaust fumes, sewage, etc.) as a result of its project
developments. Nevertheless, the Group still bears the
responsibility for supervising outsourced contractors. During
the field construction process of the projects, the Group
entrusts third-party engineering consulting companies to
conduct on-site inspections on the environmental protection
situation,
periodically, ensuring environmental protection measures
for the projects are continuously monitored and all non-
compliance with standards are improved on a timely manner.
In addition, the Group has integrated the green design
concepts into its projects, and put in its best efforts to adhere

working environment and safety conditions

to the one-star design standards of China’s Assessment
Standards for Green Building. The selection of third-party
contractors, construction process and the acceptance
inspection are all under supervision of surveyors and
engineers from the project company. As a result, the Group
has even obtained one-star certifications for green building
designs for several of its projects.
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Taking one of the projects carried out by Xi’an Zhutai as an
example, the project not only takes into consideration and
applies the green concepts in its design, but also engages a
group of experts to verify and examine the implementation of
each provision in terms of different disciplines in accordance
with China’s Assessment Standards for Green Building (GB/
T50378-2014) issued by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-
Rural Development and General Administration of Quality
Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine as well as specific
requirements set out in China’s Assessment Rules for Green
Building. In addition, the selection of third-party contractors,
construction process and the acceptance inspection are
all under supervision of surveyors and engineers from the
project company. After the examination, the inspectors
unanimously agreed that the project meets the requirements
of the One-star Green Building (Design Label).

Environmental protection measures for property management

In terms of property management, the Group has
implemented many environmental protection policies and
encouraged outsourced property management personnel,
renters and owners to carry out energy conservation and
emission reduction measures. The Group entrusts Shenzhen
Gemdale Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Gemdale
PM”) to take responsibility for property management of
property development and commercial projects. Gemdale
PM has obtained the certifications of 1SO9001/ISO14001/
OHSAS18001, while its environmental protection work
has been certified by international standards. Besides,
Gemdale PM has cooperated for many years with Dongjiang
Environmental Company Limited, which is recognised by the
Shenzhen Government. Dongjiang Environmental Company
Limited is responsible for disposing of wastes produced
from repair and maintenance of equipment and facilities
during the property management process, and ensures the
wastes from property management are disposed of properly.
Property wastes warehouses are required to be established
by each project’'s property management personnel, where
waste oil, waste liquid, waste lighting and other hazardous
wastes are to be collected and disposed of properly by a
qualified environmental property company on a regular basis.
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Waste disposal for renters and owners

In terms of waste disposal for offices, shopping malls and
other projects, the Group requires the waste collector to
first sort general wastes, collect recyclable and reclaimable
wastes for recycling and clear-up other wastes for disposal.
For certain wastes that require special treatment, such as
food residues with an unpleasant smell, the Group has
also arranged separate spaces for special collection and
temporary storage, and has set up various equipment to
reduce the impact on the surrounding environment. The
Group also requires the property management companies
to engage qualified garbage disposal companies to clear-up
and dispose of the wastes they produce.

In terms of waste reduction, the Group requires property
management companies to set up a used battery collection
box at the waste collection site of the projects, where used
batteries from employees and customers will be collected to
reduce land pollution. The Group also requires wastes sorting
and has put up posters in conspicuous places of the projects
to encourage merchants, employees and customers to sort
wastes and facilitate recycling.

On the other hand, the Group has also established
corresponding control measures for oil fume emission
and sewage treatment for catering renters in shopping
malls. Whenever any renter applies for renovation, the
Group will require the renter to install a two-stage oil fume
filter system and three-stage oil and residue separator
inside their store for oil fume and sewage treatment. The
Group further requires the renters to clean up their kitchen
exhaust hoods and oil separator every day as well as the
smoke vents and kitchen ventilators regularly during their
routine operation. In addition, the Group requires property
management companies of the projects to engage an eligible
environmental protection company to clean up and drain the
public oil separation tank to ensure effective operation of
these equipment.
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Waste reduction measures within the Group

The Group also requires property management companies
to use electronic records for their routine inspection work,
and reduce the use of paper-based record forms. When it
is necessary to use paper-based record forms, the quantity
used must be checked carefully and printed in bulk to reduce
the use of paper.

In addition, the offices of the Group have implemented eco-
office measures, including requiring employees to select
single-sided used paper as the preferred printing paper
option, and setting up single-sided used paper/waste paper
recycling bin by the printer to strengthen the centralised
collection and disposal of waste papers, old newspapers and
magazines. Employees are also encouraged to communicate
with each other via email and reduce the use of paper
as much as possible. Paperless office are implemented
by handling paperwork electronically, and reducing paper
waste from administrative work. The Group also raises
individual environmental protection awareness for employees
by posting labels such as “Save Disposable Tableware” and
“Do Not Waste Paper” in the office’s pantries and restrooms
to constantly remind employees of energy conservation and
emission reduction. The majority of waste' generated by the
Group during the Reporting Period are one-time use paper
products, such as used paper from administrative work and
paper cups for guest reception which amounted up to 3.6
tonnes, with an additional 0.05 tonne from plastic water
bottles, which does not directly generate a large quantity of
hazardous waste.

The Group has compiled a range of environmental protection
measures related to the property management process as
well as environmental protection regulations related to the
work of employees, enabling the employees of the Group and
property management companies to comply with and promote
such environmental protection measures among clients and
customers, enhancing their awareness of environmental
protection and encouraging its implementation. The above
measures have been duly implemented during the Reporting
Period and have led to successful results.

Only includes waste directly controlled and generated by the Group
and excludes waste generated by other third parties (i.e. renters,
owners and third-party service providers).
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Greenhouse gas emissions of the Group mainly comes
from the use of energy in daily office work and property
management. During the Reporting Period, CO2e generated
by the Group was 825 tonnes in total (intensity of 3 tonnes
of CO2e per employee)?. The Group implemented various
energy conservation plans to reduce carbon footprint of the
Group. Please refer to the below section headed “Use of
Resources”.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to implementing an environment-
friendly resources utilisation system, which targets at
sustainable development and aims to realise green business.
In order to protect the natural environment and prevent
waste of resources, the Group has formulated different
energy-saving and water utilisation reduction policies
covering the subject areas of business operation and
property management. The Group did not use any packaging
materials during the Reporting Period.

Energy utilisation

Main forms of energy utilised by the Group are urban
electricity and petroleum?. Electricity utilised by the Group
during the Reporting Period amounted to a total of 1,170,000
kWh (intensity of 4,500 kWh per employee); petroleum
utilised amounted to a total of 41,914 litres (intensity of 162
litres per employee)*. The Group understands that reducing
energy consumption not only cuts greenhouse gas emissions
but also reduces unnecessary expense for the Group.
Therefore, the Group has implemented a number of energy
conservation plans in order to enhance energy efficiency
during the Reporting Period.

First, the Group has formulated the energy utilisation plan
for property projects. Based on an intact system, this
plan covers the aspects from equipment design to user
awareness, and aims to improve energy utilisation efficiency
comprehensively. This plan requires working out the central
air conditioner operating scheme and public utilities energy-
saving solution for each operational project, which shall
be adopted strictly upon approval by the Headquarters.
The employees shall utilise electricity according to the
energy-saving solution, so as to enhance the efficiency.
The Headquarters will check regularly to ensure effective
implementation of the energy-saving solution.

Carbon footprint data covers scope 1 and scope 2 emissions of the
Group, calculations of which are based on the Reporting Guide on
Environmental KPlIs issued by HKEX, the Baseline Emission Factors
for Regional Power Grids in China issued by the PRC's National
Development and Reform Commission and the Greenhouse Gas
Emission Factors issued by the Department for Environment, Food
& Rural Affairs of the United Kingdom (DEFRA).

Only includes energy consumption directly controlled and utilised
by the Group and excludes energy consumption generated by other
third parties (i.e. renters, owners and outsourced contractors).

As petroleum consumption was low, the generated exhaust emissions
can be omitted.

60 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £t E B EBEHRE A T

1.2

AEBNEBERBIEREIZREN BT
ARMEREBRTHRZERER EARSE
HE AREZ2EMELEN _ALREE
(CO2e)HEt825MAR BN (B E ABEES
WE—SECREE) 2 AREET T TR
BEETBIURBE RS EBNMEDN - F2ETH
® [ ERER] &0 -

BERER

AEBHNHITRERNEFRERGE - AR
HEZRAER BERKEH% - RRER
RARRLBRREER - AEBERIZT TR
FUERRE MRl D FKIRER - BEREEERY
XEEREE - ARBERNE®E HEIL EEH
BEEMEYL o

BEE(E
AEBFEAZEREZEAME R DA - KA
REHBEAEBMFERANE NBEEAE117E
TERK (REABMNUEE4500FTEE) M
FIEAMRBER A4 (ZREAE
fIfEE162F) ‘- AEBHA R L EREFRE
TMMEEEREREREOUN Bt AEAEE
BERIEVBRET - At - AEER RS A
BT T ZIAGEERT 8 LIS B Rk s o

B AREREEMWERB HERIRER
T8l - ZETEIRENRBRITERREZR
BREZEREE  WEEBR2FTURES

BERERAME  BREREEERBRAET
ZREENR  AHREOENRS K

REEAL R EEABIBIIT - REBIZENRE
NERAE RSN - BETEERETR
EHERETRETT =B BHHAIT -

AR

NI NB B
B
=

St B0 >4
i
2
[
i
a5
=
s
o

ReRpAsEEREZELER e
g(mzzu%ﬁz CEP MRS EES

R THHFERE - FTELEMBERI LA A RR -



The Group requires keeping the public energy consumption
records for each operational project and conducting
statistics, analysis and improvement on public energy
consumption every month. Such records will be submitted to
the Headquarters for review, thus ensuring the management’s
regular supervision and inspection of energy consumption
of each project. The Headquarters will establish energy
consumption indices according to industry standards,
compare with actual consumption of the projects, then
improve and strengthen management of non-compliance
projects. Furthermore, the Group will carry out maintenance
and even energy-saving transformation on high energy-
consuming equipment, such as air conditioner and lighting
system on a regular basis according to energy consumption
records, so as to enhance the efficiency of routine high
energy-consuming equipment. The Group also has the air
conditioning equipment in public areas of certain projects
changed from dispersed control to concentrated control in
order to reduce operation time and power consumption. The
Group also prefers repairs over purchasing new equipment
to reduce the amount of waste and save cost.

LED lighting and identification systems are installed in the
underground parking lots of operational projects of the
Group. Intelligent lighting systems are applied for public
stairs of the projects with an aim to provide sufficient lighting
with minimum power consumption. Air-conditioning systems
of the projects use the building automated energy saving
control systems, while water pumps of the air-conditioning
system and water supply system use frequency conversion
energy saving control systems to reduce any unnecessary
energy consumption. After the aforesaid energy-saving
measures had been adopted for the projects, approximately
11% of public energy consumption has been saved, which
has greatly reduced the impact on environment.

Green management is implemented within the Group,
including controlling the use of energy-consuming office
equipment, improving energy utilisation and operation
efficiency and promoting energy-saving concepts among
employees. These measures allow the Group to utilise energy
and other resources efficiently, thus enhancing energy
saving and emission reduction awareness of employees.
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Apart from the energy-saving plan implemented during daily
operations, the Group also focuses on reducing energy
consumption from the source. The Group requires the
outsourced contractors to adopt green construction solutions
in order to reduce energy and raw materials consumption.
In terms of raw materials, the Group endeavours to select
renewable materials so as to reduce consumption of natural
resources. In terms of project design, the Group also takes
energy saving into consideration, for example, increasing
the use of natural lighting to reduce the use of lighting
equipment, as well as improving building ventilation to
reduce the use of air-conditioning system.

Water resources utilisation

In terms of water resources, during the Reporting Period,
the total water consumption of the Group was 18,926 cubic
metres® (intensity of 73 cubic metres per employee), which
primarily consisted of water used for property management
and daily living of employees.

The Group fully understands how valuable water resources
are and therefore implements water saving plans to
reduce water consumption through promoting water saving
awareness among employees. The Group posts labels of
“Please Save Water” in offices, work places, pantries and
restrooms to advocate resources saving and promote an eco-
friendly working environment. Considering the substantial
amount of water consumption for property management
(including cleaning and landscaping), the Group has also
taken relevant measures to supervise the water consumption
of outsourced contractors. Referring to the actual work and
previous records, the Group has established the water
consumption index for outsourced contractors to follow
and report monthly. Through this water consumption index,
the Group can analyse the water consumption for property
management work in order to timely supervise the outsourced
contractors. The Group has also changed the landscape
watering systems of certain projects into automatic sprinkling,
reducing a significant amount on water consumption.

Only includes water consumption directly controlled and utilised
by the Group and excludes consumption generated by other third
parties (i.e. renters, owners and outsourced contractors).
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1.3

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has a strong sense of social responsibility and
corporate knowledge. During the project development period,
the Group strictly abides by applicable environmental laws
and regulations and national standards, and tries to minimise
the impact on the environment and natural resources.

Noise and dust from project construction

Before the construction of the projects, the Group employs
qualified third-party environmental impact assessment
experts to conduct a detailed assessment of the
environmental impacts arising from the project development,
establishes a written environmental impact assessment
report and formulates a compensation plan. During the
project implementation period, the Group allocates special
funds and implements all measures to control the impact of
the construction process on the surrounding environment,
including dust and noise. After the commencement of the
project business, the Group also makes great efforts to
control the environmental risk of property operation, for
example, it will introduce advanced equipment such as
imported fume extractors, professional rainwater-sewage
separators and grease traps for high-emission businesses,
which will provide powerful support for subsequent overall
environmental protection of the projects.

In order to control the main impacts of project construction
on the environmental and natural resources, the Group
requires the project construction contractor to reduce the
environmental impact of the project sites mainly by using the
outer frame, tower crane and road spraying equipment. In
addition, the construction contractor shall be equipped with
professional environmental tester for real-time monitoring of
the site noise, PM2.5 and other data, so as to timely control
and handle any abnormal conditions.
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Project renovation works

In order to mitigate the impact caused by the decoration
construction conducted by renters and owners or other
property users and the environment, regulations related
to property renovation have been put into place for
certain projects, which require customers to apply to
property management first before carrying out any type of
construction. Customers must submit supporting documents
to the property management for renovation construction and
management to prove that aspects such as construction
quality, construction operation, environmental protection
and safety are all in compliance with standards of the
project and relevant regulatory authorities of the government.
Additionally, renovation materials used by the Group and its
operations are all in compliance with relevant national green
environmental protection regulatory requirements, such as the
regulations stipulated in the Code for Indoor Environmental
Pollution Control of Civil Building Engineering (GB-50325-
2001D) and other relevant international regulations, and must
satisfy inspection standards.

Indoor air quality of projects

As for the operation of the projects, the office buildings
and shopping malls of the Group require a total ban on
smoking. Air purifiers or air conditioning are also installed
by property management to ensure the quality of indoor air.
For catering merchants, the decomposition of kitchen waste
will produce peculiar smell, so the Group has arranged a
separate garbage room for collection of food waste. The
Group has also installed ventilating, venting and refrigeration
equipment for the food waste room to eliminate odour in the
daily operation. In addition, the renovation materials and
furniture used in the projects are also in compliance with
formaldehyde safety emission standards.

The Group is committed to environmental protection, thereby
realising the sustainable development of the Group and
contributing to the environmental protection of the society.
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SOCIAL
Employment

Human resources are important assets of the Group. The
Group attaches importance to improving the quality of our
employees, increasing productivity and quality of service,
and attracting and retaining talents through our human
resources policies. The Group not only takes the Employee
Code of Conduct as its management basis, but also regards
dedication, integrity, determination and aspiration as the
core values in its talent management, thereby encouraging
employees to break conventions and continuously seek
excellence.

Compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours and rest periods

The remuneration of employees of the Group is determined by
reference to market levels and industry practice. Employee
promotion and performance awards are based on the Group’s
financial performance and objective performance appraisal
of individual employees. The Group’s employee benefit plans
cover mandatory provident fund, employee compensation
insurance and medical cover, mainland China social security
funds, subsidised educational and training programmes as
well as share option schemes. The Group’s recruitment,
dismissal, working hours, rest periods and other human
resources policies comply with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance, the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
and other applicable relevant laws and regulations to ensure
that each process is legal and reasonable.
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During the Reporting Period, the employee percentage RBEHE AKENETIE LD RED
distribution of the Group is as follows: N

Shanghai Zhongjun Xi’an Zhutai Shenzhen Vision

Eigfe ARER YR

Gender 4 Bl
Male B 73% 80% 66%
Female pegs 27% 20% 34%
Employment type EREER
Management EIEE 19% 10% 14%
Business executives ES YN 73% 85% 73%
Supporting staff “BEAE 8% 5% 13%
Age FE4a R
25 or below 255R AT 3% 3% 10%
26-29 26-295% 8% 8% 28%
30-39 30-395% 84% 84% 50%
40-49 40-495% 5% 5% 11%
50 or above 508k 8 A £ 0% 0% 1%
Territory ith &
Hong Kong BB 3% 0% 0%
Mainland China EalEipN 173 97% 100% 100%
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The Group also provides a wide range of activities for
employees of each project in order to encourage exchange
between colleagues, enhance team cohesion and cultivate
a good working atmosphere in the office, such activities
include annual gatherings, festival celebrations and activities,
company trips, sports events and competitions, staff birthday
parties, parent-child carnival sports events, group companies
festival walking events, company food festivals, etc., thereby
improving the physical and mental health of the employees.

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination

As an equal opportunity employer, the Group is committed
to providing a working environment free from discrimination.
This includes all arrangements relating to the employment of
the Group, such as recruitment, transfer, resignation, training,
promotion, remuneration and welfare, which are all conducted
in accordance to an established procedure of fairness and
objective standards to ensure equal opportunities and fair
treatment for all employees and job applicants. The Group
is firmly opposed to all forms of discrimination.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of
any violation of relevant laws and regulations on human
resources applicable to the Group, including the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and
Interests, the Trade Union Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labour Contracts Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
management personnel of the Group’s human resources
department are equipped with adequate knowledge and
experience regarding human resources. The management
personnel periodically seeks and obtains updates in relation
to laws and regulations on human resources and monitors
compliance so as to protect the interests of both the
employees and the Group.
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Human resources policy for outsourced contractors

Some of the Group’s daily operations which require
substantial human resources are outsourced to third
parties, including construction of project developments and
property management. As a result, the Group is committed
to monitoring the human resources policies of outsourced
contractors. The Group includes investigations on human
resources management and past violation records of the
outsourced contractors into the contractor evaluation criteria
as direct considerations for contractor selection and regular
performance appraisals.

Health and Safety
Occupational health and safety

The Group provides employees with an ideal and safe
working environment and takes all appropriate measures to
safeguard the health and safety of employees.

During the operation of commercial projects, the project
company regularly organises training on fire safety
knowledge, provides fire prevention knowledge for business
employees, carries out safety inspections on fire safety,
electricity and water use every month and organises fire
drills every year. The project company also reviews the staff
training plan (involving fire safety, staff safety, occupational
health and safety) prepared by the property company at the
beginning of each year and supervises the implementation
of the training plan in the daily process to ensure that the
property personnel are equipped to meet the requirements
of safety knowledge. Furthermore, in order to improve
physical and mental health of our employees, the Group
has arranged regular medical check-ups every year, and has
also organised health and fitness activities for our employees
during the Reporting Period, including annual gatherings,
opening ceremonies, fifth year anniversary celebration
parties, year-end parties, the Group’s anniversary hiking
activity, team building fun competitions activities, fun parent-
child carnival sports events and city wall marathons, in order
to allow our employees to strike a right balance between
work and life.

2.2
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In addition, the Group attaches great importance to the work
safety and health management of outsourced contractors.
In the bidding documents for outsourcing property
management, the Group explicitly requires outsourced
contractors to purchase social insurance for employees
according to government requirements, regularly carry
out occupational safety and health training, and purchase
commercial insurance for projects with major dangers and
hazards. For dangerous outsourced operations, the project
company will review the commercial insurance documents
purchased and organise the safety training and technical
handover before the construction/service of contractors
commences. In warm summer weather, the project company
will require the outsourced contractors to protect the staff
from heatstroke, exchange outdoor staff shifts to ensure their
health when working in high temperatures.

The Group has strictly complied with applicable laws
and regulations such as the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Regulation on Work-Related
Injury Insurance of the People’s Republic of China to ensure
that its employees are free from any potential hazard in
the workplace which might impact their health and safety.
Regular supervision on occupational health and safety are
being conducted by the human resource department of the
Group to ensure the operation safety is in compliance with
the requirements of relevant laws and regulations. During
the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any violation
of applicable laws and regulations on employee health and
safety.
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2.3

Development and Training
Employee development and training

The Group has comprehensive training regulations and
training system to support on-the-job education and training
of employees in order to improve their knowledge and skills.
Our training mainly includes orientation training, on-the-job
training and external training. Orientation training covers
personnel rules and regulations, professional quality and
corporate management system; on-the-job training covers
job qualification (job theory and practice) and annual training
plan; external training covers training of responsibilities
and skills for special jobs. All the training expenses are
borne by the Group. The Group also arranges different
career development plans and programmes according to
different business characteristics and personal aspirations,
competencies and development needs of the employees.

During the Reporting Period, the average training time of
employees of the Group are as follows:

2.3

R R
B RRELIE|

AR ER B 5 B 0 55 91 I [ AN B B8 AR ST HF
EEMEBRBE NG - UERAESHNM
BMEREE - ARBEWIBIIEEZEE 0 AR
A FEREEIIFSNUED - ABIBIIRIZE
e ASAEHE  BERBNQREERE
ZERBAAR  EBEIRERRE  BUE
RRE (MEwEER) MFEEEIE
SREAE  INREIIRIZBEFKRELS
rA LB E SRR B F AR o FTA S
ERYHAEEAE AEBEFHH TR
EBHENMEENEATR - ENMBRS
Ko ZEARMBEHRERRE -

RSB NEEKES FE IR
™

Shanghai Zhongjun Xi’an Zhutai Shenzhen Vision
Ligfhe FRER AL ET

Average training time ¥ ZHIEH
(hours) (/NEE) 315 385 23
Gender 4 Bl
Male B 3.4 3.8 23
Female egc 3.7 3.2 23
Employment type EEEH
Senior management R ERE 0 0 12
Mid-level management HHEIEE 5 3.5 24
Sales staff EBET 3.7 3.5 24
Supporting staff BHET 0 0 18
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Labour Standards
Prevention of child labour or forced labour

In strict accordance with the requirements of the applicable
laws and regulations on human resources, the Group recruits
personnel who have attained the age of 18 or above with
valid identification, and inspects the identification of the
applicants upon their entry. The companies under the Group
recruit employees on a fair, open and voluntary principle and
signs legal employment contracts with each employee and
does not use any forced labour.

On the other hand, contracts between the Group and
outsourced contractors include provisions regarding human
resources. Such provisions require the outsourced contractor
to ensure that all personnel are employed in accordance with
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and all
applicable relevant laws and regulations, and all child labour
and forced labour are strictly forbidden.

The Group conducts random checks of subsidiaries and
outsourced contractors on a regular basis to ensure that there
is no violation of the relevant applicable laws and regulations
and will continue to strictly comply with the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Underage Workers Special
Protection Provisions, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Minors and the Prohibition of Child
Labour Provisions of the People’s Republic of China. During
the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any violation
of applicable laws and regulations on the prevention of child
labour or forced labour.
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2.5

Supply Chain Management
Supply chain quality and environmental management

The Group sets very high standards for project quality.
Therefore, the Group incorporated a comprehensive selection
process in the selection of suppliers to effectively control
the quality of raw materials and services. The Group has
established a system of procedure documents covering
supplier investigation, selection, bidding,
supervision and evaluation to ensure that each selection
process is conducted under appropriate conditions and
consistent standards to exclude unqualified suppliers in a
fair, impartial and open manner. In addition to the quality
of the materials and services, the Group also considers the
suppliers’ environmental protection measures, construction
methods and their use of raw materials to promote a green
procurement process.

subsequent

In the event that the contractor fails to meet the requirements
of the bidding documents or the contract and is unable to
guarantee the interests of the employees, the contract will be
terminated in advance pursuant to the terms of the contract,
and the contractor will excluded by the Group for a certain
period of time.

In addition, the Group will do its best to engage local
suppliers for all of its projects in order to reduce carbon
emissions resulting from the transportation of products and
services. In FY2018, the Group cooperated with a total of 153
suppliers, all of which are based in the PRC.
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2.6

Product Responsibility
Real estate advertising and labelling

The Group is dedicated to providing high-quality projects
to satisfy customers’ needs and ensure transparency and
accuracy of the information relating to its projects and
services in the course of engineering, procurements, sales
and services, in order to prevent misleading customers or
prejudicing their interests. The Group makes certain that
all sales and promotional documents and information are
prepared in compliance with the requirements of relevant
advertising laws and regulations (i.e. The Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China). Personnel with relevant
knowledge of advertising laws in the marketing department
will review the marketing materials in order to make sure that
facts are objectively reflected and there is no exaggerated or
false marketing practices. Therefore, the Group is not aware
of any violation of advertising laws during the Reporting
Period.

Health and safety quality of property projects

The Group has also been conducting inspections on the
quality of its contractors and suppliers on a regular basis.
If there are significant changes to qualifications or severe
quality issues of a contractor or a supplier, the Group may
suspend the projects or the deliveries of such contractor
or supplier at any time and remove them from the list of
qualified suppliers in order to ensure the reliable quality of
our projects. When selecting building materials, the Group
also takes their effects on human health into consideration
and comply with relevant national environmental regulations
and requirements (including the requirements of GB-50325-
2001D, Code for Indoor Environmental Pollution Control of
Civil Building Engineering), ensuring that the materials do
not have any negative effect on residents’ health.

The Group requires property management companies to
provide suitable types of training for property management
staff to ensure that they have sufficient knowledge and skills
to serve all customers. Property management companies
will provide employees with external training on fire control,
elevator management, electricians and other special jobs,
so that they comply with relevant government regulations,
such as the Regulation on Property Management issued by
the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC.
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The Group is committed to providing high quality property
projects together with top-level services to meet the living,
entertainment and business needs of our customers. The
Group is widely recognised for its efforts and contributions
to the property industry, and has received various honours
and certifications awarded by different institutions in 2018,
including “Ranking of China’s TOP 100 Commercial Property
Enterprises”, “China’s TOP 50 Real Estate Developers
of Commercial Property”, among which, the Shenzhen
project has been conferred with “TOP 10 Golden Project of
Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau Industrial Park”.

Customer service

The Group is focused on establishing good and long-term
relationships with its customers and increasing customer
loyalty. Therefore, the Group has established comprehensive
after-sales service and customer feedback channels to
regularly collect all comments and complaints on services
and product quality. Specific personnel are responsible for
follow-ups and improvements to ensure that all comments
and complaints from customers are handled satisfactorily.
Inspections are conducted on the facilities and equipment
in public areas of the community and the hygiene of
the environment in the area before the ownership of a
property is delivered. In addition, strict inspection rules for
property projects are established, acceptance procedures,
policies and quality standards are formulated, and the
inspection work of the projects are organised by the property
engineers, which not only allows verification by both parties
but also ensures quality to meet customers’ needs. In
order to safeguard both parties and assure environmental
safety, new tenants are not only required to provide their
identity information, but also required to enter into the
Fire Control Responsibility Statement for Leasing Premises.
The Handbook of Fire Prevention Knowledge will also be
delivered by the Group to ensure that its tenants possess
adequate knowledge on fire safety.
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In order to understand the needs of our customers and
to collect their feedback, the Group conducts satisfaction
surveys for projects and on contracted clients of projects
for sale as well as property owners by way of telephone
or in person to continuously improve the Group’s products
and services. After the investigation is completed, detailed
analyses are carried out on the investigation results and an
action plan would be formulated to improve its performance
for the next year.

Customer complaints are invaluable for examining the
products and the service quality of the Group. The Group
has established a professional customer team specialising
in handling and tracking customer complaints, as well
as collecting customer feedback through the customer
service hotline. The Group has established customer service
guideline and established appropriate standards on “the
time required to confirm a complaint is received”, “the time
required to handle and address complaints” and “complaint
response rate” in accordance with the characteristics of
the projects (such as their nature, scale and customer
base). Customer service also conducts random checks on
the handlings to ensure that the customer complaints are
properly resolved.

Customer privacy

The Group has the responsibility to protect the privacy
of its customers or consumers. In addition to the public
documents prescribed by laws and regulations, the Group
strictly complies with relevant privacy regulations and will not
allow any disclosure of information without the permission of
the owner of the information. In addition, the Group will only
collect personal information necessary for its operations,
which will only be used for the purposes specified when
collecting such information.

The Group will continue to aim at quality real estate projects
and customers’ satisfaction, and is committed to comply with
PRC’s Product Quality Law, Customer Protection Law, Law of
Real Estate Administration, Construction Law and Personal
Information Protection Law, etc. During the Reporting Period,
the Group is not aware of any violation of applicable laws and
regulations on privacy, product and service quality.
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2.7

Anti-corruption
Corporate principle of honesty and integrity

The Group has been firmly adhering to the principles of
openness, responsibility, honesty and integrity. All employees
are required to strictly obey individual and professional
ethics. The Group regularly organises anti-corruption
compliance training and requires employees to report any
conflicts of interest on a regular basis. The Group has clear
whistle-blowing mechanisms and channels. Upon receiving
a case of whistle-blowing, the supervisory department will
immediately conduct preliminary verification and evaluation
to form a preliminary assessment and further handle the
case according to the preliminary assessment. In order to
ensure legal rights of the whistle-blower, supervisory staff
adheres to confidentiality principles and keeps investigating
contents and progress strictly confidential. Close attention
will be paid to all aspects and methods of the investigation
progress in order not to reveal information regarding the
whistle-blower. The Group firmly believes that, only by
implementing a range of measures such as work integrity
education, sound supervision system and enhanced reporting
and accountability mechanisms, as well as continuously
standardising each company decision-making procedure
regarding business management, a mechanism of checks
and balances along with mutual supervision could be
developed to effectively raise the anti-corruption awareness
of the employees, so as to safeguard the Company’s financial
and management effectiveness.

The Group will continue to abide by the relevant national
anti-corruption laws, including Regulations of the People’s
Republic of China for Suppression of Corruption, Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China, Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, etc., integrating the
anti-corruption policy into the development plan of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
violation of applicable laws and regulations relating to the
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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Community Investment
Community involvement

As a responsible enterprise, the Group actively contributes
to all walks of life with its own resources and by encouraging
our employees to work together to care for people in need.
Over the years, the Group has not only facilitated real
estate development and relevant industries to create better
living environments for society, but also fulfilled social
responsibilities by actively engaging in community and
charitable activities, including community-based health
and safety knowledge promotion and community-friendly
activities, which have contributed to the society in many
aspects. Among these community activities, Shanghai
Zhongjun provided charitable donations for Songjiang
District, Shanghai City in 2018, making donations in order to
help the surrounding communities in need.

The Group will continue to fulfill its social responsibilities
actively through its business network, and spare no effort to
contribute to communities, support poor communities and
the sectors in need in order to contribute to the sustainable
development of society.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHH

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report
of the Company and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company continues to be investment
holding while the principal activities of the Group are property
investment, development residential,
commercial and business park projects as well as microfinance.

and management of

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 and the financial position of the Group at that date
are set out on pages 117 to 310 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of RMB0.0275 per share (2017: RMB0.025) for the year
ended 31 December 2018, subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The proposed
final dividend, if approved, will be paid on or about 21 June 2019 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 6 June 2019. The proposed final dividend shall be
declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The final dividend
payable in Hong Kong dollars will be converted from RMB at the
average middle rate of RMB to Hong Kong dollars as announced
by the People’s Bank of China for the period from 15 May 2019 to
21 May 2019.

No interim dividend was paid during the year.
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The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) on 26 February 2019.

According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account the following factors:

(a) the financial results of the Group;

(b) the general financial conditions of the Group;

(c) the Group’s capital requirements and surplus;

(d) the Group’s future operations and earnings;

(e) contractual restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(f) any other factors that the Board consider relevant.

The recommendation of the dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of Bermuda, the Bye-
laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
Any declaration of annual dividend for the year will be subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company. The Dividend Policy
adopted by the Board is intended for the Company to maintain
adequate cash reserves to meet its capital requirements, fund its
future growth and enhance shareholder value when dividends are
recommended.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.
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A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out
in the Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 4 to 6 and page 7 to 28 of this annual report.
An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using the
financial key performance indicators is set out in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 7 to 28 of this annual report. The
Group’s environmental policies and performance are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 52 to 77
of this annual report.

Major Possible Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Group

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties
which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now
but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

A substantial portion of the operating assets of the Group are
located in the PRC and the Group expects that a material portion
of the revenue will continue to be derived from the operations in
the PRC. The results of operations and prospects are subject, to a
significant degree, to economic, political and legal developments
in the PRC. The economy of the PRC differs from the economies of
most developed countries in many respects, including the extent of
government involvement, the level of development, the growth rate
and government control of foreign exchange. The Group cannot
predict whether changes in the PRC’s political, economic and social
conditions, laws, regulations and policies will have any material
adverse effect on the current or future business, results of operation
or financial condition of the Group.
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Financial Risk

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 7
to 28 of this annual report and note 44 to the financial statements.

Management will hold meetings from time to time to discuss the
various industrial and tax policies implemented in the country/
cities/regions and will analyse the impact on the Group’s business.
Therefore, management can assess the possible changes
in policies in an early stage so that management can develop
appropriate strategies to reduce the risk of policy changes. Besides,
management are provided various analysis regularly which covering
business operations and financial information so that management
can have a clear and timely understanding of the Group’s operating
conditions, project progress and capital requirements timely so as
to identify the potential risks.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Group fully understand that employees, customers, suppliers,
partners and shareholders are the key to our sustainable and
stable development. The Group committed to establishing a close
relationship with our employees, providing high-quality products and
services to our customers, enhancing cooperation with our suppliers
and partners so as to ensure our sustainable development of the
Group for the benefit of the shareholders of the Company.

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with
a fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse
cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offers a
competitive remuneration package and great opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group also
provides our staff with regular trainings, including internal trainings
and refresher courses offered by professional organisations, so as to
keep them abreast of the latest development in the market, industry
and various businesses.
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In order to achieve the goal of “providing top-quality products
and services to customers”, the Group adheres to the core values
of “be devoted and be sincere; be brave and be a dreamer” in
every aspect of our work. The Group values the feedback from
customers and always try to understand their thoughts through daily
communication, after-sale return visit and customer satisfaction
surveys. In addition, the Group also sets up a customer service

hotline to respond to the feedback and complaints from customers.

The Group firmly believes that our vendors (including contractors)
are equally important in building high-quality development projects.
The Group proactively communicates with our vendors to ensure
they are committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable
products and services. Each contract the Group enters into with
our vendors is annexed to an “Integrity Cooperation Commitment”,
in which clearly state our professional integrity and specify various
requirements including regulatory compliance, anti-corruption and
other business ethics. The Group effectively implements the vendor
assessment process by conducting sampling check, site visit,
evaluation on the performance of contract, third-party certification
and other measures, to ensure the performance of our vendors.

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to its shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business
developments for achieving the sustainability of earnings growth
and rewarding shareholders by stable dividend payouts taking into
account the capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions and future
business expansion needs of the Group.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The principal activities of the Group are property investment,
development and management of residential, commercial and
business park projects as well as microfinance. Compliance
procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those that have significant impact
on the industry, including planning, construction, lease and/or sales,
and property management; any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations affecting property management are brought
to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation teams
from time to time. The Group is also committed to safeguarding
the security of personal data. When collecting and processing
such data, the Group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and the guidelines issued by the Office of the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data. The Group is also subject to
various corporate and administrative requirements under other laws
and regulations such as the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Employment Ordinance. Through various
internal control and approval procedures that are in place, the
Company seeks to ensure the compliance with these requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

The Group’s consolidated revenue and operating profit/(loss) for the
year by business segment is as follows:

By business segment (consolidated basis):
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Property
Property  investment and Micro-
development management finance Corporate Total
(In RMB’000) (AARBTTREN) NERE  WERERER MEER tEER k]
Revenue WA 6,184,335 507,260 387,541 - 7,079,136
Segment profit/(loss) AEEHN,/ (BE) 4,261,913 631,112 149,296 (44,906) 4,997,415
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 are disclosed in note 46 to the financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 16 of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are disclosed in notes 25(a) and 25(b)(i)
to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves, including the
contributed surplus, available for distribution as dividends amounted
to RMB1,664,075,000 (equivalent to HK$1,792,060,000) (2017:
RMB1,718,540,000 (equivalent to HK$1,877,200,000)).

WARRANTS, OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Other than the share option schemes of the Company and the
outstanding options granted under such share option schemes as
disclosed in note 25(b) to the financial statements, the Company
had no outstanding warrants, options or similar rights as at 31
December 2018.

DONATIONS

No donation was made by the Group during the year (2017: Nil).
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The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ling Ke

Mr. Huang Juncan (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Jiajun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wei Chuanjun (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors (“NEDs”)

Mr. Loh Lian Huat
Ms. Zhang Feiyun

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”)

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony
Mr. Hu Chunyuan

According to the Company’'s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).
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Profiles of Directors and Company Secretary of the Company are
set out on pages 29 to 32 of this annual report.

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 20 May
2003 (the “Share Option Scheme 2003”) which expired on 20 May
2013 and a new share option scheme was adopted by the Company
on 15 May 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme 2013") for the
purpose of continuing to give incentive to, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the Qualifying Grantees
(as defined in the Share Option Scheme 2013) of the Company. Any
share options which were granted under the Share Option Scheme
2003 prior to its expiry shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms as set out therein.

A summary of the Share Option Scheme 2003 and the Share Option
Scheme 2013 (collectively “Share Option Schemes”) is set out as
follows:

Purposes of the Share Option Schemes

The purposes of the Share Option Schemes are to attract and retain
the best quality personnel for the development of the Company’s
businesses, to provide additional incentives to Directors and
employees, etc., and to promote the long term financial success
of the Company by aligning the interests of option holders to
shareholders.

Participants of the Share Option Schemes

Eligible participants of the Share Option Schemes include any
employee or any proposed employee (including an officer or
Director (whether executive or non-executive) or alternate Director
of the Company or any affiliate, etc.)
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Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Schemes and percentage of issued share capital as
at the date of this annual report

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme 2003 and the Share
Option Scheme 2013 amounted to 131,240,000 and 810,096,000
respectively.

Under the Share Option Scheme 2013, the Company may further
grant share options to subscribe for 440,610,103 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 2.77% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Schemes

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant
unless the same is approved by shareholders in a general meeting.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective associates,
are subject to the approval in advance by the INEDs of the
Company, excluding the INED(s) of the Company who is/are the
grantee(s) of the share options. In addition, any share option
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) granted
to a substantial shareholder or an INED of the Company, or to any
of their respective associates, in any 12-month period must not
exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of grant or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price
of the Company’s shares as at the date of grant) must not exceed
HK$5 million unless the same is approved by shareholders in a
general meeting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the Board, and commences on a specified date and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
share options.
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The minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

1 year

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls must
or may be made or loans for such purposes must be paid

HK$1 is to be paid by each grantee as consideration for the grant
of option within 28 days from the date of offer.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors, being at
least the highest of:

(a) the closing price of shares as stated in The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)’'s daily
quotations sheet on the date of offer, which must be a
business day;

(b) the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(c) the nominal value of a Company’s share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Schemes shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the respective dates of their adoption.
The Share Option Scheme 2003 expired on 20 May 2013. The Share
Option Scheme 2013 which was adopted on 15 May 2013 will expire
on 15 May 2023.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the Share 1BIRBERMETEI BN ENNESFBLT ¢
Option Schemes during the year were as follows:

Number of share options

BREZE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at 1/1/2018 as at 31/12/2018
Year of grant (Note 2) (Note 3)
(Note 1) ®2018F1H1H Exercised A2018%12H31H
Name and category of grantees RHEH CESH during the year i RITE
ARAZHEARER (Hizt1) (Hizz2) RERITE (H1723)
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Ling Ke 2013 27,950,000 - 27,950,000
EREE 2013 49,500,000 = 49,500,000
2014 90,000,000 - 90,000,000
167,450,000 - 167,450,000
Mr. Huang Juncan 2013 20,960,000 = 20,960,000
BRBEE 2013* 43,500,000 = 43,500,000
2014 80,000,000 - 80,000,000
144,460,000 - 144,460,000
Mr. Xu Jiajun 2013 15,130,000 - 15,130,000
BRRELE 2013* 39,100,000 = 39,100,000
2014 72,000,000 - 72,000,000
126,230,000 - 126,230,000
Mr. Wei Chuanjun 2013 11,650,000 - 11,650,000
BEEELLE 2013* 32,500,000 - 32,500,000
2014 35,000,000 - 35,000,000
79,150,000 - 79,150,000
INEDs
BYEHTES
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung 2013 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
PR EAE 2013* 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 (3,000,000) -
8,000,000 (3,000,000) 5,000,000
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Anthony 2013 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
BrEiE 2013* 3,000,000 = 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
8,000,000 = 8,000,000
Mr. Hu Chunyuan 2013 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
HETTEE 2013* 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
2014 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
8,000,000 = 8,000,000
SUB-TOTAL
Nt 541,290,000 (3,000,000) 538,290,000
Others (In aggregate) 2013 56,530,000 (3,490,000) 53,040,000
Hith (A3h) 2013* 240,266,000 s 240,266,000
2014 120,800,000 (6,500,000) 114,300,000
SUB-TOTAL
et 417,596,000 (9,990,000) 407,606,000
TOTAL
meE 958,886,000 (12,990,000) 945,896,000
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Notes: et -

1.
Year of Grant Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price Closing price*
RAHFH RAAH d end- Wik e

HK$ HK$
2013 07/01/2013  07/01/2014 - 06/01/2023 0.550 0.455
2013* 20/05/2013  20/05/2014 - 19/05/2023 0.792 0.780
2014 29/12/2014  29/12/2015 - 28/12/2024 0.440 0.430
" Closing price of the Company’s share quoted on the L AR AR DR B 1 H B BT IE B 3 AT
Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant Vg b

2. All share options granted were vested and exercisable in full 2. BrERMLZBREE RIEHE B 8L R AT
in 2017 in accordance with the vesting period set out in their B EFBRIR2017F 2 EFBLR A TUITE °
respective offer letters.

3. No share option was granted, lapsed or cancelled during the 3. B E2018F 12H31 HIF FRIER L - it#53E

year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year, the subscription rights attaching to 3,490,000 and
9,500,000 share options were exercised at an exercise price of
HK$0.55 and HK$0.44 per share respectively. They involved the
issuance of a total of 12,990,000 new shares of the Company at a
nominal value of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of HK$6,099,500. The proceeds from these exercises of
share options would be applied for general working capital of the
Group.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
and chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

As at 31 December 2018, the following Directors and the chief
executive of the Company had the following interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ")) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
under the Listing Rules:
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(a) Long position in the shares and share options of the (a)

Company

IEp
B
Iif¥

RAERARDREREZFA

Approximate

percentage

Total of total

Number of number of shareholding

share options underlying (Note 5)

Number of  outstanding shares {HREAEZ

Name of Director Nature of interest shares MATEZ  Notes 1HEA AR 17 BMAES T

EEpE EaEtE Sk 4= BREHE Bt e (H725)

Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial owner - 27,950,000 1 167,450,000 1.05%
ERSE EREBA 49,500,000 2
90,000,000 )

Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial owner - 20,960,000 1 144,460,000 0.91%
BRERE EREAA 43,500,000 2
80,000,000 3

Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial owner = 15,130,000 1 126,230,000 0.80%
RRELE EalaA 39,100,000 2
72,000,000 3

Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial owner 15,000,000 11,650,000 1 94,150,000 0.59%
EEELLE EREBA 32,500,000 2
35,000,000 &)

Mr. Loh Lian Huat Through a controlled 1,000,000 - 4 1,000,000 0.01%

Loh Lian Huat%: £ corporation
BPTEHEE

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Beneficial owner = 2,000,000 1 5,000,000 0.03%
ERictibia EnlEaA 3,000,000 2

Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 1 8,000,000 0.05%
Anthony EnlEEA 3,000,000 2
BRELE 3,000,000 3

Mr. Hu Chunyuan Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 1 8,000,000 0.05%
HETEE BERBEAA 3,000,000 2
3,000,000 &)
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Notes:

The share options were granted on 7 January 2013, each
with an exercise price of HK$0.55 per share and a validity
period from 7 January 2013 to 6 January 2023 under the
Share Option Scheme 2003.

The share options were granted on 20 May 2013, each
with an exercise price of HK$0.792 per share and a
validity period from 20 May 2013 to 19 May 2023 under
the Share Option Scheme 2013.

The share options were granted on 29 December 2014,
each with an exercise price of HK$0.44 per share and a
validity period from 29 December 2014 to 28 December
2024 under the Share Option Scheme 2013.

Mr. Loh Lian Huat'’s interest in 1,000,000 shares is held
through Silkrouteasia Capital Partners Pte. Ltd., which is
50% owned by Mr. Loh Lian Huat.

The percentage shareholding in the Company is
calculated on the basis of 15,874,713,827 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2018.
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(b)

Long position in the shares and underlying shares of
the associated corporation of the Company — Gemdale
Corporation

(b) REQXAEBIESHEE RO REER
v s}

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares total shareholding
EEES BEtE ROBE (EREBEZBNEILL
Mr. Ling Ke Beneficial owner 3,708,400 0.08%
B EmEAA
Mr. Huang Juncan Beneficial owner 2,065,600 0.05%
"HEREE BHEAA
Mr. Xu Jiajun Beneficial owner 1,050,800 0.02%
RRELE BEHEAA
Mr. Wei Chuanjun Beneficial owner 960,100 0.02%
BEERE BHEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO or the Model Code.

Br XA SN - R2018F 128318 » &
RAEERESTBRAEMERARFNE
FHREERE (F&RFESHRATKROIFEXV
) 2t MEROREESS  EER
BEES KRB EIEG 35216 8N AR FA
GEERMzEMERIAR  HIRBEES
REE GO EXVEB T LEFRIZBESITHAE AR
NE|REER T2 SRR
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As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had the following
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the shares of the Company

R2018F12A318 L TAL (KRR EEEE&ES
TERABBRIN RAQBIRMOKIMEERGTHEEST
TIRIEE A M S EHIE336IFL N AR R BIEFE
ErnMzERIAR

RAERXARD2HFR

Approximate

percentage
of total
shareholding
(Note 4)
HREREZ
Name of shareholder Notes Nature of interest/capacity Number of shares BABES L
REEM #fat EEEE 515 REEE (Hi7t4)
Glassy An Limited 1 Directly beneficially owned 6,565,112,983 41.36%
HEZBRAR BEEERER
OUE Lippo Limited 2 Directly beneficially owned 2,353,226,398 14.82%
BENRERESR
Beacon Limited & Directly beneficially owned 2,353,226,397 14.82%
BEREERESR
Notes: Wit
1. As at 31 December 2018, Glassy An Limited was wholly-owned 1. H2018%F 128310 B HFR LA HEEHEF

by Prosper Commercial Limited, which was indirectly controlled

by Gemdale Corporation. Gemdale Corporation is a company
established in the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) with
limited liability and the A-shares of which are listed on the

Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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2. As at 31 December 2018, OUE Lippo Limited was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Epoch Thrive Limited, which was wholly-owned by
Ms. Lian Yi.

3. As at 31 December 2018, Beacon Limited was a wholly-owned

subsidiary of OUE Limited, whose shares are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange. OUE Limited was a subsidiary of
Lippo ASM Asia Property Limited, which was owned as to 50% by
Pacific Landmark Holdings Limited and as to 50% by Admiralty
Station Management Limited. Pacific Landmark Holdings Limited
was a subsidiary of Lippo Capital Limited which was owned as to
60% by Lippo Capital Holdings Company Limited and 40% by PT
Trijaya Utama Mandiri. Lippo Capital Holdings Company Limited
was beneficially owned by Mr. Stephen Riady while PT Trijaya
Utama Mandiri was beneficially owned by Mr. James Tjahaja
Riady. Admiralty Station Management Limited was beneficially
owned by Mr. Chan Kin.

4. The percentage shareholding in the Company was calculated on
the basis of 15,874,713,827 shares of the Company in issue as
at 31 December 2018.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no other person
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Each of Messrs. Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei
Chuanjun, all being the executive Directors, is also a director and/
or top management of Gemdale Corporation which is the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company and is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Therefore, each of Messrs.
Ling Ke, Huang Juncan, Xu Jiajun and Wei Chuanjun is materially
interested in the transactions as disclosed in the sub-headed “(a)
Continuing Connected Transactions” under the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below.

Directors’ Report

EEEHG

2. R20184F12/31H  OUE Lippo Limited:2

Epoch Thrive LimitedZ = &M BRF] » iM%
NAHEB LT EEE -

3. R2018%#12H31H » Beacon Limited:2 OUE
LimitedZ £ & W1/& 2\ 7] (OUE Limited.Z & (7
FEFTMBEZZK ZH L) e OUE Limitedsg
Lippo ASM Asia Property Limited.Z /&2
7]+ Z 2 Al7 FIdiPacific Landmark Holdings
Limited X Admiralty Station Management
Limited& #& B50%#E z ° Pacific Landmark
Holdings Limiteds2Lippo Capital Limited.Z ff
BRA - #Z2E]7 FIfLippo Capital Holdings
Company Limited#s H60%KPT Trijaya
Utama Mandiri#s #40% ° Lippo Capital
Holdings LimiteddiStephen Riadyt 4t & as ##
% ' MPT Trijaya Utama Mandirifl|James
Tjahaja Riadyst 4 & zx # 7 ° Admiralty
Station Management Limited 8| f#fE 6 £ &

4. REREZ R 7 TR L EJR2018F 12

H31HZ B #77H81715,874,713 827k B &
B ECOREESN - 720185128318 » BIEE M A
TRARBIRGHABRG P HEEREFEFLBE
& B 336 KN AR RAFE 2 ERM 2k

NN
KB o

EERERBRERRS » THHAEGHNFZE
RiEs

RRABRTEFTZRELE  FEERBEE  HREE
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Directors’ Report

EEEHH

Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below and the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements,
there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company’s holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or its connected
entities had a material interest (whether directly or indirectly)
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

OTHER DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

As at the date of this report, the following Directors were also a
director or an employee of the following companies, each of which

BTXBERS] —#miEE X5 kI BHRR M
FAWBEZERBETRZIN BEFRENFR
EARRE > NARZERAFREENB R RRA
EMBEARY BT IRAARESTKEBEER
BEXAMRAREARGEMEARREBEEX
BBEZHMRZS  REHHAL -

E=HMER

RABRERH  THEZERRATRAAZEETHE
0 MERBARKRRARRO RBRRATETA

7

I

\

had or was deemed to have an interest or short position in the ZHERMGEERIEEENFEKMEXVIE2R
shares or underlying shares in respect of equity derivatives of the  ZE3D MM EBRAA DR WE ZEFHAE ¢
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
Name of substantial shareholder Position in substantial shareholder
Name of Director of the Company of the Company
EEEE ADRETERFEER RERATETERRZRAL
Mr. Ling Ke Gemdale Corporation THEE Director EF
A Glassy An Limited HEZBR AT Director 5%
Mr. Huang Juncan Gemdale Corporation S EE Director 5%
=ERBERE
Mr. Xu Jiajun Gemdale Corporation THEE Director EF
mRESLE
Mr. Wei Chuanjun Gemdale Corporation SHEE Director 5=
BEEELE
Ms. Zhang Feiyun OUE Lippo Limited Director EF

REBLL
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The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
during the year:

(a)
1.

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 8 March 2018, a property development and technical
services agreement was entered into between the Company
and Gemdale Corporation (the “Services Agreement”),
pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation agreed to provide
property development and technical services to the Company
(or its subsidiary(ies)) in relation to certain property projects
of the Company (or its subsidiary(ies)) for the year ending
31 December 2018 at the services fee calculated based
on 0.6% of the contracted sales of the Group’s properties
receiving such services catered by Gemdale Corporation.

Gemdale Corporation is the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. The Company set the
annual cap for the aggregate amount of services fee payable
pursuant to the Services Agreement at RMB85,000,000 for
the year ending 31 December 2018.

During the year, the aggregate amount of services fee
of approximately RMB75,089,000 was paid to Gemdale
Corporation under the Services Agreement.

On 8 March 2018, an entrusted operation agreement was
entered into between the Company, it RBIKEMERZES
fR 2 \) (Beijing Ganglu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.)
(“Beijing Ganglu”, a subsidiary of the Company, as trustee),
It REHBERERZEER QA (Beijing Gemdale Hongyun
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.) (“Beijing Gemdale”)
and Beijing Gemdale, Chaoyang Branch (together with
Beijing Gemdale, as principal) (the “Entrusted Operation
Agreement”), pursuant to which the principal agreed to
engage Beijing Ganglu to manage the operations of dt %
£HEY (Beijing Gemdale Plaza) located in Beijing, the
PRC for and on its behalf for the year ending 31 December
2018 at the entrusted management fee calculated based on
the operating cost for provision of relevant services plus a
margin of 20%.

FEBRFAERTIL MIMERS ¢

(a)

R2018F3H8H - AR A HES K BEE] L
MERBERBNRSE HE (REHZE] -
Bt @EERBREE2018F12A31
BEFERARR (HEWBRAR) 2B T
MEEE RARR (REMBRR) REYD
ERBERENERY  REBZAEEFER:
MEBREABARB 2MEZENVEER
0.6%&HHE °

SHEB AR QR HELERRER - FEILR
BETMRAMNARNRAR ZEEALT - AQF
1R 1% AR 7% 19 5% & € 8L 2201812 H31H 1E
FERNRBEZFELREBAARE
85,000,0007T °

FRARFRERSHETERSERS
RIS B BRI ARE75,089,0007T °

M2018F3A8H » AR A ~ b FBIREHE
HAEFRAR ([XFBK]  AAa2HWEB
AEMERETAN) L RSHIBERMER
BERAR (X&) Rt RL B
ARF CGERIEREH - EBEFEA) 5132
HEBEZthw ((EEEEEREHE]) -
Bt AR ewREZFERBRRERE
2018F12AIALLFEREEEMRPE
IRZEREHMES EE  BEEAEER
IREAR AR FTEE & 2 S & BN £ IR 20%5T
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Beijing Gemdale is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap for
the entrusted management fee receivable pursuant to the
Entrusted Operation Agreement at RMB26,400,000 for the
year ending 31 December 2018.

During the vyear, an entrusted management fee of
approximately RMB26,400,000 was received from Beijing
Gemdale under the Entrusted Operation Agreement.

On 8 March 2018, a framework agreement was entered
into between the Company and FII& Y EERER QA
(Shenzhen Gemdale Property Management Ltd.*) (“Gemdale
Property”’) (the “Property Management Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Gemdale Property and/or its
subsidiaries and/or its designated affiliated companies under
the same control agreed to provide property management
services during the development stage of the property
projects of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2018
at the management services fee calculated based on the
relevant costs for provision of the relevant services plus a
margin of 10% plus tax.

Gemdale Property is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap for the
aggregate amount of management services fee payable
pursuant to the Property Management Framework Agreement
at RMB70,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2018.

During the year, the aggregate amount of management
services fee of approximately RMB45,121,000 was paid to
Gemdale Property or its subsidiaries/designated affiliated
companies under the same control under the subsidiary
agreements to the Property Management Framework
Agreement.
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On 8 March 2018, a framework agreement was entered into
between the Company and RIlmE&EFITREER AT
(Shenzhen Gemdale Building Project Co., Ltd.) (“Gemdale
Building”) (the “Framework System Installation Agreement”),
pursuant to which Gemdale Building agreed to provide certain
intelligent system project services for the various property
projects of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2018
at the project fees calculated based on the actual cost for
provision of relevant services plus a margin of 1.25% plus tax.

Gemdale Building is a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Company set the annual cap for the
aggregate amount of project fees payable pursuant to the
Framework System Installation Agreement at RMB40,000,000
for the year ending 31 December 2018.

During the year, the aggregate amount of project fees of
approximately RMB19,253,000 was paid to Gemdale Building
under the subsidiary agreements to the Framework System
Installation Agreement.

On 8 March 2018, a framework agreement was entered
into between FYIFTR A& EHEARTE B IR 2 7] Shenzhen Xinjia
Living Technology Service Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Xinjia”,
a subsidiary of the Company) and Gemdale Corporation
(the “Decoration Services Framework Agreement’),
pursuant to which Gemdale Corporation agreed to engage
Shenzhen Xinjia to provide decoration services for certain
property projects developed by Gemdale Corporation and
its subsidiaries through tendering, invited tendering or direct
engagement for the year ended 31 December 2018 at the
entrusted fee of fitting out works calculated based on the
actual costs for provision of relevant services plus a margin
of about 7% to 15%.

M2018F3HA8H + AR AIERYITHRHIEF
IRBERAR ([£hEF]) ST LIERGH
([REERIRERBE]) @ Bt w2
FREMRASEZ [EYZEIEE RNEBE2018%5F
12A31AEFERHETERIERATIIE
ITRBREHBERBAEEZERKAN L
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EEERTIRERGHBTEHE2018F 124
SIREFERNIREBERB 2 FELRAA
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The Company set the annual cap for the aggregate amount
of the entrusted fee receivable pursuant to the Decoration
Services Framework Agreement at RMB100,000,000 for the
year ending 31 December 2018.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the entrusted
fee of approximately RMB52,317,000 was received from
Gemdale Corporation under the subsidiary agreements to
the Decoration Services Framework Agreement.

On 8 March 2018, a framework agreement was entered into
between the Company and Gemdale Property (the “Property
Management Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Company agreed to engage Gemdale Property to provide
property management services, which includes safety (fire
protection), engineering, customer and other professional
services, for the properties developed and held by the
Group for long-term investment purpose, such as shopping
malls, office buildings and business parks (the “Investment
Properties”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 at the
property management fee calculated based on the relevant
costs for provision of relevant services plus a margin of 10%.

The Company set the annual cap for the aggregate
amount of the property management fee payable pursuant
to the Property Management Framework Agreement at
RMB20,000,000 for the year ending 31 December 2018.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the property
management fee of approximately RMB17,298,000 was
paid to Gemdale Property under the Property Management
Framework Agreement.
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On 8 March 2018, a tenancy framework agreement
was entered into between the Company and Gemdale
Corporation, pursuant to which, the Company (as landlord)
will lease a maximum gross floor area of 8,340 square meters
in Vision Shenzhen Business Park, 9 Gaoxin 9th South
Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, PRC (4 B &3 1L &
S NEBITFRINEFEFEHLE) to Gemdale Corporation,
its subsidiaries and/or its associated companies. Specific
parts of the lease floor and area will be determined in
accordance with the actual situation of individual lease
contracts otherwise agreed. The total rent and property
management fee payable by the subsidiaries/associates of
the Gemdale Corporation to the Company shall not exceed
RMB11,000,000 (the “Tenancy Framework Agreement”).

The Company set the proposed annual cap for the aggregate
amount of the rent and property management fee receivable
under the Tenancy Framework Agreement for the year ending
31 December 2018 is RMB11,000,000.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the rent and
property management fee of approximately RMB10,212,000
was received from Gemdale Corporation, its subsidiaries and/
or its associated companies under the Tenancy Framework
Agreement.

The rent and property management fee received included
the amounts from (i) &I LR EEEER AT (“Gemdale
Investment”), a subsidiary of Gemdale Corporation, of
approximately RMB1,129,000 for the period from 1 January
2018 to 30 November 2018 under the tenancy agreement
dated 15 March 2016; and (ii) Gemdale Property of
approximately RMB2,449,000 for the period from 1 January
2018 to 30 April 2018 under the tenancy agreement dated
26 June 2015.

On 15 March 2016, a tenancy agreement was entered into
between Beijing Gemdale (as landlord) and &I AIERF
RIFEEEBR AR (Shenzhen Firework Time Investment
Management Co., Ltd.) (“Shenzhen Firework”, a subsidiary
of the Company) (as tenant) in respect of leasing a premises
in Beijing, the PRC for a term of 36 months commencing from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive).
The annual rent and property management fee payable by
the tenant to the landlord for each of the three years ending
31 December 2018 were approximately RMB6,726,000 (the
“Beijing Tenancy Agreement”).
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(b)

The Company set the annual caps for the aggregate amount
of the rent and property management fee payable pursuant
to the Beijing Tenancy Agreement at RMB7,000,000 for each
of the three years ending 31 December 2018.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the rent and
property management fee of approximately RMB2,242,000
was paid to Beijing Gemdale under the Beijing Tenancy
Agreement.

On 13 December 2016, a framework agreement was
entered into between BEMEEFEHEFEEBE RN BRAF
(Guangzhou Guangdian Real Estate Development Group Co.,
Ltd.) ("Guangzhou Guangdian”), which is owned as to 74%
by the Company, and Gemdale Corporation (the “Financial
Consulting Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
Gemdale Corporation agreed to provide financial advisory
and consultation services to Guangzhou Guangdian and/or
its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies
for their property projects for three years commencing
from 13 December 2016 to 12 December 2019 (both days
inclusive) the at a maximum rate of 1% per annum over the
facility amount obtained by Guangzhou Guangdian and/or
its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies.

The Company set the annual caps for the aggregate amount
of the financial consultancy fee payable pursuant to the
Financial Consulting Framework Agreement at RMB8.5
million, RMB100 million, RMB100 million and RMB92 million
for each of the four years ending 31 December 2019,
respectively.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the financial
consultancy fee of approximately RMB61,791,000 was paid
to Gemdale Corporation under the Financial Consulting
Framework Agreement.

Connected Transactions

On 3 April 2018, Shanghai Zhongjun Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Zhongjun”, a subsidiary of the
Company) entered into a loan agreement with Singlong Real
Estate (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., (“Singlong Suzhou”), pursuant
to which Shanghai Zhongjun (as lender) agreed to provide
a loan in the principal amount of RMB1,921.2 million to
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(c)

Singlong Suzhou (as borrower) at floating rate in accordance
with the benchmark lending rate in the People’s Bank of
China (the then interest rate was 4.35% per annum) to
be repaid at the earlier of: (a) 12 months from the date
of drawdown; or (b) 1 month from the date of demand of
repayment from the lender.

On 2 August 2018, Shanghai Zhongjun entered into a loan
agreement with each of Chengdu Sino-Singapore South West
Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Logistics”) and Singlong
Suzhou, pursuant to which Shanghai Zhongjun (as lender)
agreed to provide a loan in the principal amount of RMB180
million and RMB160 million to each of Chengdu Logistics
and Singlong Suzhou (together, as borrowers), respectively
at floating rate in accordance with the benchmark lending
rate in the People’s Bank of China (the then interest rate was
4.35% per annum) to be repaid at the earlier of: (a) 29 May
2019; or (b) 1 month from the date of demand of repayment
from the lender.

Each of Singlong Suzhou and Chengdu Logistics is a
subsidiary of a company which is a substantial shareholder
of Shanghai Zhongjun and is therefore a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. The entering into the loan agreements
constituted connected transactions of the Company. Such
transactions were subject to reporting and announcement
but was exempt from circular and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules.

Annual review of
transactions

the continuing connected

In accordance with Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the
INEDs had reviewed the continuing connected transactions
as contemplated under the (i) Services Agreement, (ii)
Entrusted Operation Agreement, (iii) Property Management
Framework Agreement, (iv) Framework System Installation
Agreement, (v) Decoration Services Framework Agreement,
(vi) Property Management Framework Agreement, (vii)
Tenancy Framework Agreement, (viii) Beijing Tenancy
Agreement and (ix) Financial Consulting Framework
Agreement (collectively, the “2018 Continuing Connected

(c)

K (B R4.35%) i1 E - fi(a)E R A HIE
B2z B+ A : F(b)ERT ERKIEK—
BAAR (LABRFERE) EE -

201858 A28 + LiEMEE 5 R BLRK R+ ¥
ﬁﬁ%/mﬁ’zﬁL\ j (fﬁjzﬂ%md) &Eﬁéﬁ
JlquiEf?xTé%a%% R BB (ERE

;) BED M EHDR R EBEEHMN (5
%ﬁa ERERA) REREARK18ETR
AR BETHER - FREIBIEARRIT
EREERFH R Z2ZEF K (R R4.35%)
FE - R@ZZBE-NAFRAZTAR  s@E
L) EFFERBEREE—MEARN (UBREEA
#) R -

EEHFMNEKRBYREEREBMHEZE
ERRZMBAR - FRE EWRAE
14A$7%2K“ﬁ (EMBABIE®E) ZREA
T AIUERBEERARBZHERS
FZEZZRE ETRBEI4A0EEET
BERREZRTE  BERLETEHR
FOB R Z FRTE ©

FEREXINTFEER

BRI EMARAIE14A3715 - B FFRITEE
EEHFAN)RBEHZE - ()VBEEEET
g - ()W EERERBZE  (VERER
TRIEED:S  (WLERERKERZ
(VDI EEBIBERTZE  (ViDHEER =

(viii) b R AE & 175 5 2 (ix) B 75 A FE AR 28 1 2

Annual Report 2018 &3 103



Transactions”) which were subsisting during the year and
confirmed that the 2018 Continuing Connected Transactions
had been entered into:

() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the 2018 Continuing Connected Transactions on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on
the Group’s 2018 Continuing Connected Transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the 2018 Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed
above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the material related party
transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements
for the year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above material related party transactions
constituted connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules,
the Company had complied with the relevant requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

104 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £t E B £BEHRE A T

THETZHERERS (51 [20185F
WMBEXS ) WHER018FHEMERS
J5

0 AEEAER —MEBREFE]

<

(i) BREAEEKFL R

(i) RIBEE2018FHEMERH 21
B BEREATFAERFEER
RIR R EE R Ao 2 G FRET AL ©

ARRZZHEMZBREREGTMAER
iz BAEZ TEERIFE30005 E X EH
BERUEMBERUIINBZTERZ2RER
FAETAOFERANE R L R B ATl 75 4B 8
I 5 B I B K R AN R B 2 2018 F 15
BRAERS - ARAZBEERE TR
F14A56MFFE L ERE XM - BEPHIIERH
AEE LR EAM2018FHERER S
ZEBERNER - AARIERABZPIER
TR R o

B ECRBESN - KU RAN A1 BB
P2 EARIES RSB TRARE i RAEAT
HE TRREZ MERHATRR S HENE
25 o

ELAREBEETRIRETBHERZ ZERNHE
HRG AREERELETRUEIAAZTRFAN
BHEBEEXK -



DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Ling
Ke, Mr. Huang Juncan, Mr. Xu Jiajun and Mr. Wei Chuanjun, all
being executive Directors, held shareholding or other interests and/
or directorships in companies/entities within the group of Gemdale
Corporation. Gemdale Corporation mainly focuses on residential
property development and participates in large-scale urban
complex/commercial projects in the top 50 cities (by population/
economic scale) in the PRC.

The Board also includes two NEDs and three INEDs whose views
carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions. Therefore the Board
is independent from the board of directors/governing committees of
Gemdale Corporation and none of the above-mentioned Directors
can personally manage the Board. The audit committee of the
Company, which consists of three INEDs, meets regularly to assist
the Board in reviewing the financial performance, risk management
and internal control, and compliance systems of the Group.

Further, each of the above-mentioned Directors is fully aware of,
and has been discharging, his/her fiduciary duty to the Company
and has acted and will continue to act in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. Therefore, the Group is
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the businesses of such companies/entities in which
Directors have declared interests.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, none of
the Directors nor their respective close associates had any interest
in any business, which competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, at no time during the year was the Company, or
any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year, the five largest suppliers and the largest supplier of the
Group accounted for approximately 19% and 9% of the total value
of the Group’s purchases respectively.

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
1% and 0.5%, respectively, of the Group’s revenue.

At no time during the year did the Directors, their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interests in these suppliers or customers referred
to above.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out on
page 187 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on the Stock
Exchange during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 2,900
(2017: 2,400) employees. Salaries of employees are maintained at
competitive levels while bonuses may be granted on a discretionary
basis with reference to the performance of the Group as well as
the individual's performance. Other employee benefits include
mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical cover, subsidised
educational and training programmes as well as a share option
scheme.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined with reference to
the Directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as the results of
the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on pages
33 to 51 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Details of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report are set
out on pages 52 to 77 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board of
Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited

Mr. Huang Juncan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2019
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To the shareholders of Gemdale Properties and Investment
Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gemdale
Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 117 to 310, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
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on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
BEEtEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNBANAEEBRETSE

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2018, investment properties (including
completed investment properties and investment properties
under construction) measured at fair value amounted to
approximately RMB8,839 million, with the corresponding
fair value gain of approximately RMB324 million recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. The valuation process
is inherently subjective, and dependent on a number of
estimates, such as reversionary rental value, vacancy rate
and yield rate. The Group engaged external valuers to
perform valuation of the investment properties.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the
financial statements.
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We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation experts engaged by the
Group. We also obtained an understanding of the work
of the valuation experts. In addition, we assessed the
data used as inputs for the valuation, and evaluated
major assumptions and methodologies adopted in
the valuation. We also involved our internal valuation
experts to assist us in evaluating the major assumptions
and methodologies of the valuation of investment
properties held by the Group. We also considered the
adequacy of disclosures in the financial statements.
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Key Audit Matter
BEETER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB EERRENSE

Determining whether the acquisition of subsidiaries

BEWETRRREBRERES O

constituted a business combination

On 8 February 2018 and 3 July 2018, the Group acquired
100% equity interests of Shanghai Anyang Muye Company
Limited (“Anyang”) and Shanghai Heshu Development
Company Limited (“Heshu”) respectively, from independent
third parties at a total consideration of RMB37 million and
RMB148 million. Anyang and Heshu hold land use rights in
Shanghai.
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Management concluded that the above acquisition
constituted an acquisition of assets instead of a business
combination because the acquired entities and assets did
not constitute the carrying on of a business (i.e., there are
no processes applied to the inputs that have the ability
to create outputs). Anyang and Heshu had no operation
team and no construction work was carried out before
the acquisition. Such conclusion depends on significant
judgement made by management.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 36 to the
financial statements.
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We assessed management’s judgements in determining
whether the acquisition constituted a business
combination. We obtained evidence about whether
the acquired entities have carried out any significant
business transactions prior to the acquisition dates.
We also obtained the sales and purchase agreements
and reviewed the terms regarding the acquisitions.
Furthermore, we reviewed the financial statements of
Anyang as at 31 January 2018 and Heshu as at 30 June
2018.
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Key Audit Matter
BEETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB EERRENSE

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties

During the year, due to the adoption of a new accounting
standard, a change in accounting policy on revenue
recognition was noted. The new accounting policy for
revenue recognition has been detailed in note 2.2 to the
consolidated financial statements. Management is required
to assess the impacts for the transition to account for the
impact from adopting the new policy and it needs to make
judgment in assessing the timing when the performance
obligation has been satisfied.
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Management inspected the contract terms and determined
that revenue from the sale of properties is recognised to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring properties to a customer, at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the properties.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the
financial statements.
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We inspected contracts, on a sample basis, with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards. We evaluated the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls which govern revenue recognition. On
a sample basis, we inspected the underlying contracts,
bank-in slips for settled balances, construction
completion certificates and delivery of properties
and assessed whether the related revenue had been
recognised in accordance with the Group’s revenue
recognition policies. We evaluated the management on
the transition and the application of the new accounting
policy and considered the adequacy of the financial
disclosure.

BACHEREHENESNEFAERC 2 ERITES
HEAIRE - ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁA@F EHEYERATERNRE
BAMEENRT  BREETRN - RACHMEHLLF

iﬁZWAx%ﬁﬁﬁa%~E%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁTA%
%‘Iﬁ@l%%&*ﬁ%%%%'I%%H%WAﬁﬁ
Rz EREZWARRBHKETER  RMADFHEH
%@Eﬁ%@ﬁ&ﬁ%%%ﬁ*ﬂﬂ%%%ﬁ&ﬁ%i%
Mo

112 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £t E B £BEHRE A 7



Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group'’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
¥ M A% BYED R

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HEBFZESHBEMNZED  RAETEHLER
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit S AREGAMERENEANRAEE - AMEKH
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and  #E+t EE - RIEXBRATRE P ELEE
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters inour  BIEEEER T AT AR EELEE » siEHRE
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure ZFEREHIBR T @ MR K/ BFERERMRETEBE
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we FHEEKNEAZRRBBEENARFZE - HFER
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report & NEERE P BBZEE -

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent  HEAB I ZHMRENFABEABRAREER
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young RXETHENER AT
Certified Public Accountants HESE AN

22nd Floor, CITIC Tower e

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central FIRREE 19
Hong Kong FiERE221E

21 March 2019 201943 H21H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEER

Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F 12 A 31 HILFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARET T ARBT T
(Restated)
(&%)
Revenue N 5 7,079,136 4,711,019
Cost DN (2,970,181)  (2,851,551)
Gross profit ES 4,108,955 1,859,468
Direct operating expenses HELEHY (1,233,079) (948,062)
Other income and gains H A Rz 5 588,247 425,992
Changes in fair values of investment properties &Y% N EEE) 13 324,144 545,840
Administrative expenses TR (92,189) (82,373)
Finance costs 5B 6 (249,776) (241,843)
Share of profits and losses of: FEIERE -
Joint ventures LN 1,347,197 1,189,781
Associates Bt N A) (5,805) 2,971
Profit before tax R 35 AL e A 7 4,787,694 2,751,774
Tax HIA 8 (2,035,555) (944,526)
Profit for the year AR 5 F 2,752,139 1,807,248
Attributable to: AT AL RES :
Owners of the Company VN/NEIES VN 2,252,622 1,643,529

Non-controlling interests

FEHER R R A R

499,517 163,719

2,752,139 1,807,248

Earnings per share attributable to PN/NSIESYSIN X )
owners of the Company FRAEF
- Basic (RMB) —ER (AR¥KT) 10 0.1419 0.1039
— Diluted (RMB) — 8 (AR 10 0.1396 0.1029
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEZHEWER

Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F 12 A 31 HILFE

2018 2017
20185 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 ARBT T ARBTT
Profit for the year REE 2,752,139 1,807,248
Other comprehensive (loss)/income HEip2m (F58), /W
— Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hﬁ“ﬂéﬂﬁfﬁééﬁﬁ n¥E
that may be reclassified to profit or FiEZzHEMEEA
loss in subsequent periods (B518) /U zs
Exchange differences: b 5 B R 4
Exchange differences on translation BREBINETS 2 (512,540) 597,880
of foreign operations M 5 =5
Share of exchange differences on B{REE AT 86,022 (99,659)
translation of foreign operations MEBINEB 2
of joint ventures fEH Z5E
Release upon deregistration of Gl SN IR 5 = (6,966)
subsidiaries
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries HEWBA Rz [0 # 37 59,590 =
Debt investment at fair value through LA’&ﬁTEH)\EIﬁﬂiE
other comprehensive income: & Z{iﬁﬂxﬁ
Change in fair value, net of tax AREZE - ENRKRTIE 691 -
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income 1 E’\ %Hﬂfﬁi%ﬁ Sak ]
that may be reclassified to profit or loss FEEcEMAE2E (366,237) 491,255
in subsequent periods (Eﬁﬁ WS E R
— Other comprehensive income/(loss) — BT RARBEEFTSE
that will not be reclassified to profit FEFzEMEENE
or loss in subsequent periods (E518)
Exchange differences: b i B R
Exchange differences on REBINETS 2 307,537 (470,724)
translation of foreign operations ER%%E
Equity investments designated at fair READET AR
value through other comprehensive 1@4& 5 2 R
income: ®E
Changes in fair value, net of tax AREZE  BENHRTIE 8,292 -
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) BRI ER BAEES 315,829 (470,724)
that will not be reclassified to profit %ﬁ?ﬁ@ =2 B EE
or loss in subsequent periods Wz, (E518) F58
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for REEEMEE (EiE),/ (50,408) 20,531
the year, net of tax Wz - 2HBREIA
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEEK=ERE 2,701,731 1,827,779
Attributable to: LA AT FE(h -
Owners of the Company ViN/NETESY =N 2,182,779 1,682,162
Non-controlling interests IR AR R 518,952 145,617
2,701,731 1,827,779
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 ARET T ARBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENEE 12 126,963 63,372
Investment properties "EME 13 8,839,014 6,366,809
Intangible assets WA E 19 39,848 48,076
Prepayments, deposits and FEMFIE - ZeE R 23 1,869,398 2,046,634
other receivables H fth JE U BR X
Investments in joint ventures REERBIZIRE 17 7,803,183 5,872,493
Investments in associates REEREZIRE 18 2,620,385 632,736
Available-for-sale financial investments AEHESRIEE 20 - 60,045
Equity investments designated at NAREsEAHES 21 143,742 e
fair value through other comprehensive FEFT AR M2
income 2R E
Debt investment at fair value through AAnBETEEEE 21 18,814 =
other comprehensive income Hih 2wz 2 EERE
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 33 965,358 554,852
Total non-current assets FRBEELLE 22,426,705 15,645,017
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties held for sale FHREWE 14 3,935,273 1,395,639
Properties under development BREPYE 15 12,410,071 13,562,264
Prepayment for acquisition of a Yo iE i A2 16 = 241,765
land use right TETFRIE
Trade receivables EUE BRI 22 18,061 17,472
Prepayments, deposits and BHIE - BER 23 3,278,784 4,139,497
other receivables H th JE U BR X
Loans to joint ventures BUEZENRIER 31(a) 1,084,622 948,397
Loans to related companies FEW R E AR E R 31(b) 2,261,200 370,000
Loans to non-controlling shareholders FE U 345 A% AR SR E 3K 31(c) 57,155 41,377
Due from the ultimate holding company eSS i /N F- 32 21,072 =
Due from fellow subsidiaries JE UK [F) 2 B 8 1) B FIE 32 8,493 4,958
Due from joint ventures JEU & & A RIFRIE 32 1,313,421 127,702
Due from associates JiE Wi Hse & 2 R FRIE 32 145,662 5
Due from non-controlling shareholders JE U SEFE AR A% 3R SR 32 247,490 212,652
Due from related companies JE U B8 N R FRIA 32 3,006 564
Prepaid tax SEANE A 675,920 410,128
Restricted cash IR EIEE 24 862,902 1,155,555
Deposits, bank and cash balances T SRITRIRSHEH 24 3,237,920 5,395,765
Total current assets REBEEHAR 29,561,052 28,023,735
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI &R

31 December 2018
MR 2018 12 A 31 H

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
23 ARET T ARBET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables FERTE SRR 27 2,010,954 1,637,372
Advanced receipts, accruals and TEWERIA ~ FEETIRERIE X 28 20,025,204 14,637,328
other payables H fth FETBR K
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M B ERIT R E M E K 30 1,310,181 1,087,557
Loans from the ultimate holding company ERREIER AR ER 31(d) 948,641 5,240,113
Loans from a fellow subsidiary R ZRMBRARER 31(e) 132,460 .
Loans from joint ventures EREERTIER 31(f) 23,175 154,000
Loans from an associate TR N RIE 31(g) 292,040 >
Due to the ultimate holding company JEAS S AR IR A RIFRIA 32 71,051 2,723
Due to fellow subsidiaries FET R R B 8 A B RIE 32 104,010 120,158
Due to joint ventures JET B &R RFIA 32 4,010,559 1,856,269
Due to associates JETEE 2 AR FUR 32 1,195,574 10,000
Due to non-controlling shareholders 1 FE15 AR AR SRR IE 32 203,357 100,030
Due to a related company JETRAE R RIFIA 32 1,818 2,760
Tax payable FET IR 3,393,054 1,849,866
Total current liabilities REAEEE 33,722,078 26,598,176
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS e (B EEFE (4,161,026) 1,425,559
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #E&EHAEE & 18,265,679 17,070,576
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBESE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B B ERIT REMEK 30 750,331 469,199
Loans from a fellow subsidiary ENRZRERNBRARER 31(e) 2,604,478 2593,722
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 33 1,040,485 960,027
Total non-current liabilities FRBABEETE 4,395,294 4,022,948
NET ASSETS EEFE 13,870,385 13,047,628
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 72 F# 8 A FE{L %
Issued capital BEITIRA 25(a) 1,439,211 1,438,153
Reserves HiE 26 10,395,950 9,476,672
11,835,161 10,914,825
Non-controlling interests FEEER B R ER 2,035,224 2,132,803
TOTAL EQUITY A 13,870,385 13,047,628
Mr. Xu Jiajun Mr. Wei Chuanjun
BRREEE BEEELE
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
HITEFFTIHAEE HITEFFYHAEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE 2018 F 12 A 31 BILFE
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Year ended 31 December 2018

HZE2018F 12 A31 HIEFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F 12 A 31 HILFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wiz AR%ET R ARBFT
(Restated)
(E7)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXB2RERE
Profit before tax B 35 A A 4,787,694 2,751,774
Adjustments for: BT BIBEELRE
Finance costs MHER 6 249,776 241,843
Bank interest income BITHBIA 5 (40,055) (32,836)
Interest income on loans to related companies JEWEE AR ERZ 5 (73,783) (24,942)
FEUA
Interest income on loans to joint ventures FBRAEANRERZ 5 (74,951) (70,113)
FBUA
Interest income on loans to associates W EARERZ 5 = (18,828)
FEHA
Interest income on loan to non-controlling AR R E T 2 5 (1,609) s
shareholders FEWA
Interest income from available-for-sale AIHEESRIEER S 5 - (55,288)
financial investments ON \
Interest income on loans to third parties FRE=FERZFBHA 5 (27,546) (8,775)
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of items of HEWE BENMREEE 7 (346) 107
property, plant and equipment Z (W) EiEFE
Depreciation e 7 41,418 17,014
Amortisation of intangible assets mI A ES i 7 8,228 8,227
Changes in fair values of investment properties BREMEZDARELZS) 7 (324,144) (545,840)
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of HE/ BRALEWNBRRZ 5 (1,039) (53,458)
subsidiaries Wz F 58
Release of exchange fluctuation reserves HEMB AR CER 5 - (6,966)
upon deregistration of subsidiaries S B R 1 1m0 2
Impairment of goodwill arising on acquisition W B A RMEE L 7 29,702 4,889
of subsidiaries PR E
Impairment of properties under development BRERPYEZRE 7 83,286 =
Impairment of receivables, net JEUBRFORE - FEE 7 115,203 96,520
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures [EhEEARRE (1,347,197) (1,189,781)
Share of profits and losses of associates FE(REE AR AE 5,805 (2,971)
Operating profit before working capital changes BEESEH 2L 3,430,442 1,110,576
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for sale FHEDEZ (EN),/ wHH (2,351,269) 583,871
Increase in properties under development BRI 2L (1,511,647) (5,303,865)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments for WeE + b5 R 2 TR BR 3K 245,140 (131,765)
acquisitions of land use rights WA ()
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, FEWE SERFN - TAMFUE - 928,392 (8,108,361)
prepayments, deposits and other receivables e MEMEKERIEZ
R /(8 hn) )
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash R|REIRE 2/, (E) 292,652 (897,445)
Increase in trade payables, advanced receipts, ERE SRR - BlGE - 6,164,221 12,059,271
accruals and other payables FEETHRARIE I H At FE T AR 5K
Z BN
Cash generated from operations KEEBMBZRE 7,197,931 4,312,282
Overseas taxes paid BREINZFIE (1,029,511) (1,438,974)
Net cash from operating activities REEBMBzRESTFHE 6,168,420 2,873,308
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F 12 A 31 HILFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR%ETR ARBFT
(Restated)
(E7)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEBEZHERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment B A% - BiE RRBIE R 2 58 (71,317) (20,322)
Additions/improvements to investment properties R E&MELT 6, 13 (2,172,455) (714,439)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial investments B ARt HELRIZE - (52,671)
Loans to related companies BTHERRIZER (2,261,200) (400,000)
Repayment of loans received from related WEBERARZER 370,000 1,180,000
companies
Loans to joint ventures BTEERRZER (2,561,010) (4,204,094)
Repayment of loans received from joint ventures ~ WBE&EAEZER 2,434,916 4,431,282
Loans from joint ventures XQQ%“TZ%M 161,215 94,000
Changes in balances with joint ventures HAEL AR EE 1,638,174 569,542
Loans to associates BTHER TZEM = (8,415,578)
Repayment of loans received from associates WEBE AR ZER - 7,827,500
Changes in balances with associates £ Hﬁ%ﬂé@jﬁﬁﬁzmﬁ 1,039,912 10,000
Amount received from a related company B BiE A RI5RIE = 1,714
Change in balance with a related company Eﬁ%ﬁ@’&ﬁj%ﬁﬁ%Z@@J (942) -
Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash equivalents WEIBARZRERREE 35 (55,967) 6,397
in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries BEEBZ ORE),/ RAFE
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash equivalents HEREREEHRBRRZ 37 616,094 (129,641)
in respect of disposal and deemed disposal BekBRe&EEER 2
of subsidiaries A () F8
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE BELEREEEZ 933 98
plant and equipment FTS5kIE
Decrease in time deposits with original maturity REABRISABE=EAY 22,250 24,000
of more than three months when acquired EEFER 2R
Bank interest received BUERITR S 40,532 32,690
Acquisition of equity investments at fair value ﬁﬁkbxﬁﬁ@*fgﬂﬁﬁ A (92,112) =
through other comprehensive income Hih 2 EM a2 RIERE
Interest received on loans to related companies EHEER Tffmﬂ = 71,342 25,958
Interest received on loans to joint ventures 2EE AT ERFE 93,305 132,155
Interest received on loans to associates BUEE A R B FS - 38,211
Interest received from available-for-sale B AT #HEESRIZEFS = 55,288
financial investments
Interest received on loans to non-controlling BRI E R 2 FIE 1,609 =
shareholders
Interest received on loans to third parties BRE=ZFERZFE 27,546 8,775
Redemption of available-for-sale financial WAt éﬁiﬂ&é = 1,300,200
investments
Capital contributions to joint ventures REERRIZIRE (1,268,690) (667,222)
Capital contributions to associates REE R R ZIRE (1,480,639) (191)
Return of capital from a joint venture BENRIRERAE 45,000 -
Dividends from joint ventures BlAERAFIRE 222,459 197,687
Acquisition of interests in joint ventures G ol NS (144,753) (26,718)
Proceeds from disposal of interests in joint HEEE DA ZFEHR = 2,427
ventures
Loans to non-controlling shareholders BT IEERBRRER (14,702) (41,377)
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities REEK (i), FiIBzRE&FHE (3,338,500) 1,265,671
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Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F 12 A 31 HILFE

2017
20174
Notes RMB’000
M ARETT
(Restated)
(E7)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXB2RERE
Issue of shares on exercise of share options 1T BB R B 1T AR D 25(a)(i) 26,947
Dividends paid BRRE (315,963)
Interest and other bank charges paid THRFMEREMRITER (306,071)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WS JE iR AR R R 2 (84,399)
Amounts received from the ultimate holding B ESREIER A RIFIA 58,869

company
Amounts paid to the ultimate holding company B REIERARRIA (129,447)
Amounts received from fellow subsidiaries BN E 63,198
Amounts paid to fellow subsidiaries SIS EPANGIE S (12,701)
Partial disposal of subsidiaries HEH B2 RS R AE 357,768
Capital contributions from non-controlling FEERR AR R AR AIZ A 39,150
shareholders

Capital returned to non-controlling shareholders RBIFERR AR R AR A -
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders BT IR AR R AR 2 (345,834)
Amounts paid to non-controlling shareholders B IR R IR (183,917)
Amounts received from non-controlling shareholders 2 Wt JE1% B& % 58 308 46,128
New bank and other borrowings FgRIT REMER 814,375
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ERFITREMER (141,799)
Loan proceeds from the ultimate holding company B & &R AT ER 21,136,606

Repayment of loans from the ultimate holding
company

EEREZERDTER

(23,168,616)

Loan proceeds from fellow subsidiaries PEIEES =N 925,024
Repayment of loans from a fellow subsidiary BERZRMBARER (301,740)
Repayment of loans from a non-controlling ERIFHERIRRER (53,010)
shareholder
Net cash used in financing activities MEXBMEZRSFE (1,575,432)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRBELEEERZ (BY)/ 2,563,547
CASH EQUIVALENTS bpilpeE]
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FYzRe MBS EER 2,822,968
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net GNHCTE SR B Y B2 . JRER (36,750)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRZBERBSEER 5,349,765
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERFESEERBLERZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS: o
Cash and bank balances e RFITHEH 5,081,594
Non-pledged time deposits EERTE TR 314,171
Deposits, bank and cash balances as stated in RERE MR RFATIRZ 5,395,765
the consolidated statement of financial position T BT RBESAHS
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity ~ REBARRISHEZHR=EAZ (46,000)
of more than three months when acquired ERETEIER
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRZRERBAEEHEER 5,349,765
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located at
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

During the year, the principal activity of the Company was
investment holding while the Group was involved in property
development, property investment, property management
and micro-financing business.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Glassy
An Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability. In the opinion of the Directors,
the ultimate holding company of the Company is £t ((2E)
f& 175 A R A Bl(“Gemdale Corporation”), which is established
in the PRC with limited liability and whose shares are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
disclosed in note 46.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties and financial assets at
fair value which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

21

126 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £t E B £BEHRE A 7

REAREEER

cHEEEBRERAR ([ARA]) JIRE
REAMKIZERAR - A ER
ik ACanon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda °

RER RARUKREERSTIEEXL M
AEBEAREVERR  WERE  WEE
B RNRERET o

RRB 2 BEERAR T — RN RBELZE
EEMRLzBRAR —BLBERAR - &
ERRARRRZBZEERRB T — KRB E
BRI 2 BRAR — & (£E) ROBRLD
A ([2EE])  ERODELBESZXSHA
£

ARABEZEZHER R FBED R 46 B

5= o

mREXE

EPBHRTDRBEEASTNAE ((HEE
AEAE]) BMzBEMBREER ([F
AMBREERND (BEMEETRMBERS
ZR - FEEFEA (FEGFEL]) &
2B BELRGF R REE R BHED
ZEBEERMER - BREMVERUNAIAE
AECEREERAAEEIN  AMBR
RIKBE LKA ERIRE - AMIBIHRIAA
RE (TARKD 25 REBAEAEIN
PrESEMEN =S TR -



The Group recorded net current liabilities of
RMB4,161,026,000 which included sales deposit received
from pre-sales of properties of RMB19,126,077,000 as at 31
December 2018. In view of the net current liabilities position,
the Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.
Having considered the cash inflow from the operations, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full
its financial obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable
future.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

MR2018F12A31H AEEH B RH &
EF % AR #4161,026,000T° &+ B
BTRMEBEERURBRZHEIREARE
19,126,077,0007T ° &R B B B F B M
N BBEEHHAERAEERKZABES
MRJF - ARETAESRR - UFHHASE
EREERHNBGERERBICE - IKEEK
BEBCRENRER  EERAELAEEY
AR Z RREBRITHEB I MBHET -

R EMBRERBEARARENE QA
(I AEE]) #HZ=2018F12A318 ILF
@k - MBAR (BIEAHBEEE)
TERADA R EEREE TR T -
REEEHIEA R EHWREF 2 2H8M
BEREEHR AR ERN  AREGHSE
BEWEREFTEREIMEEEBRLRR 4
71 (BB RAGTAEEXREIRER
HEES 2R ET) B IR REMBEFE
4 -

EARREERNEEMERRIRET 2 LR
BERSABOUENE - AEERFEES
BWRENRAENEERMENBIEE
KfER - B

(a) HBERBREHZEMEEREEAZA
WIZRHE

(b)y HMENLHRELZEN &

(c) ZAEBEZREENBERFRE-
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31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.
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2.1

Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Business combination
common control

involving entities under

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the combining entities or businesses
as if they had been combined from the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the control
of the controlling parties.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
recognised at the carrying values prior to the common control
combination.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from the earliest
date presented or since the date when combining entities
or businesses first came under the control of the controlling
parties, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date
of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses had
been combined at the previous reporting date or when they
first came under control of the controlling parties, whichever
is shorter.

2.1

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES
DISCLOSURES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

Transfers of Investment Property

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

2.2
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2.2

CHANGES

Notes to the Financial Statements

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 4 and Annual
Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant to
the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the
nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are

described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main areas:
the effects of vesting conditions on the measurement
of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction;
the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s tax
obligation associated with the share-based payment;
and accounting where a modification to the terms
and conditions of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled to
equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the
approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments
also applies to cash-settled share-based payments.
The amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net share
settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction when certain
conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction are modified,
with the result that it becomes an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction, the transaction
is accounted for as an equity-settled transaction
from the date of the modification. The amendments
have had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group as the Group does not have
any cash-settled share-based payment transactions
and has no share-based payment transactions with
net settlement features for withholding tax.

2.2

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018, bringing together all three aspects of the
accounting for financial instruments: classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments
against the applicable opening balances in equity at 1
January 2018. Therefore, the comparative information
was not restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of
adopting HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial
position, including the effect of replacing HKAS 39's
incurred credit loss calculations with HKFRS 9’s
expected credit losses (“ECLS”).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 g BEREBEZ2F (&)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b)  (continued) (b) (#&)
Classification and measurement (continued) PDIETE (&)
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under R2018F1A1H - REB B G £
HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 RIF39% 2 AR (B R IR BB BB 75
as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: 5 R Al SR O5E PT R 5 2 A BR 2T AR 0
™
HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 Measurement
REREHEN RERHBREREN
#3955t E Ho5itE
Category Amount  Reclassification ECL Other ~ Amount  Category
L] &8 ENE RER it 2 g3l
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
irig ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR ARMTR ARETR
Assets (]
Financial assets SHEE
Equity investments designated at fair A4 EFERERESEFIHA N/A - 40,045 - 1609 41654  FvoCK
values through other comprehensive B2 Wlkss v R & NER (equity)
income (RiE)
From: Available-for-sale investments 20 MEHESRRE | (i = 40,045 - - - |
Avallable-for-sale invesiments T EEREE AFS? 60,045 (60,045) - - - NATER
To: Equity investments designated at fair - & : A% Hit SEEED (i) - (40,045) - - -
values through other comprehensive i H\ﬁﬁﬂzﬁ%z
income RiEhE
To: Debt investment at fair valug through B4 : WAL EFEREES: | (i) 5 (20,000) 5 - -
other comprehensive income At 2EE B
Debt investment at fair value through AL E:FEREREH ALl N/A - 20000 (1878) - 1812 RVOCI
other comprehensive income ARG ERRE i (debt)
)
From: Available-for-sale investments Bh  IHHESRRE | (i) - 20,000 - - - |
Trade receivables U A% (i) L&R? 17472 5 5 - 742 AC
Due from fellow subsidiaries M{F]?MTE"‘*" A (i) L8R 4,958 - - - 4958 AC
Due from joint ventures NG (i) L8R 121,102 - - - 12702 AC
Due from non-controlling shareholders  FEl3E IHQHQ% B (i) L&R 212,652 - - - 212652 AC
Due from related companies ERBEELAFE (i) &R 564 - - - 54 AC
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 S BERBEE®F (&)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)  (continued) (b)y (%)
Classification and measurement (continued) DHEHEE ()
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under MR2018F1A1H - BEBFE S E
HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 BIZE395% v BREE HIR R & B ﬁﬁi‘%
as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: (continued) WMELRNESRIIRE 2 BB E RN
T (&)
HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 Measurement
BERETEL RERIERLEY
#3085t E H9itE

Category Amount  Reclassification ECL Other ~ Amount  Category
£l E1 ] EfE  REE ifp &8 £

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000
i3 ARBTT ARETT ARETn ARMTR ARETR
Assets (continued) BE(5)
Financial assets (continued) LREAE(E)
Financial assets included in SIABHZE ke REME L8R 4,646,712 = = - 4646712 AC
prepayments, deposits and Wi e mEE
other receivables
Loans to oint ventures ERAERAER L8R 948,397 (269,490) g - 68907 AC
- 269,490 - - 269490  FVPL
Loans to related companies EUEERAER L8R 370,000 = = - 30000 AC
Loans to non-controlling shareholders ~ EMIERERER L&R 41,377 = = - HI A
Restricted cash RRHRE L8R 1,155,555 - - - 115555  AC
Deposits, bank and cash balances i O Gk L&R 5,395,765 - - - 5305765  AC
12,981,199 - (1,878) 1,609 12,980,930
Other assets AthAE
Deferred tax assets ERRELE 554,852 - - - 554852 AC
554,852 - - YY)
Total a5 13,536,051 - (1,878) 1,609 13,535,782
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2.2

CHANGES

(b)

Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 EHBERBEZ®E (£)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(continued) (b) (%)
Classification and measurement (continued) DHEHEE ()
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under MR2018F1A1H - BEBFE S E
HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 BIE5305% v BRE B BB 1B & B M 15
as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: (continued) WMELRNESRIIRE 2 BB E RN
(4
HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 Measurement
REREHEN RERHBREEN
#3085t E H9itE
Category Amount Reclassification ECL Other ~ Amount  Category
Y] 2 EfE  RER it 1 £
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
i3 ARBTR ARBIR ARMTR ARMTR AR¥TR
Liabilities Bf
Financialliabilties SRAR
Trade payables ERESER AC 1537372 = = - 1537372 AC
Financial liabilties included in advanced ~ HIATEWEUA - FsHEHER AC 561,891 - S - 561891 AC
feceipts, accruals and other payables  EfEREHz2BAE
Interest-bearing bank and other HeRTREtES AC 1556756 5 5 - 155675  AC
borrowings
Loans from the ultimate holding company ~ R &ARRAZ S AC 5,240,113 = = - 520113 AC
Loans from a fellow subsidiary EfRZNEARE AC 2593722 - - - 2593722 AC
Loans from joint ventures ERfAER ﬂ%m AC 154,000 - - - 154000 AC
Due to the ltimate holding company ERSKERAE AC 2123 - - - 273 AC
Due to fellow subsidiaries ERFZNEA MIE AC 120,158 = = - 10158 AC
Due to joint ventures ERAEAFE AC 1856269 = = - 1856269 AC
Due to associates EfBERANE AC 10,000 e = - 10000 AC
Due to non-controlling shareholders e E 2R AC 100,030 = = - 100030 AC
Due to a related company EBELAFE AC 2,760 - - - 2760 AC
13,736,704 - - - 13735794
Other liabilties HtEE
Deferred tax liabilities ERERR 960,027 - - - 960,027
90027 - - - %00
Total 2% 14,695,821 - - - 14,695,821
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under
HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9
as at 1 January 2018 is as follows: (continued)

! FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

e AFS: Available-for-sale investments

&) L&R: Loans and receivables

& AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at
amortised cost

J FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Notes:

(i) The Group has elected the option to irrevocably

designate certain of its previous available-for-sale
equity investments as equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

(i) The gross carrying amounts of the trade
receivables, due from fellow subsidiaries, due
from joint ventures, due from non-controlling
shareholders and due from related companies
under the column “HKAS 39 measurement —
Amount” represent the amounts after adjustments
for the adoption of HKFRS 15 but before the
measurement of ECLs. Further details of the
adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15 are
included in note 2.2(c) to the financial statements.

(iii) As of 1 January 2018, the Group has assessed
its liquidity portfolio of debt investment which
had previously been classified as AFS debt
investment. The objective of the Group in
holding this liquidity portfolio is to earn interest
income and, at the same time, manage everyday
liquidity needs. The Group concluded that the
debt investment is managed within a business
model to collect contractual cash flows and
to sell the financial asset. Accordingly, the
Group has classified the investment as debt
investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
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2.2 CHANGES
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) (continued)
Impairment

The following table

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

Notes to the Financial Statements

reconciles the aggregate

opening impairment allowances under HKAS 39 to
the ECL allowances under HKFRS 9. Further details
are disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the financial

2.2

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

S BRRRECEE (&)

(b)  (#&)

TRIIREB G ERNEIR 2 1]
WEEEEERIE R AW RE LR
FORCEERERZYHKR - E—F
FHIERP BRI E22 R 23K EE -

statements.
Impairment ECL
allowances allowances
under under
HKAS 39 at HKFRS 9 at
31 December 1 January
2017 2018
R20175 20185
12A31H 1A1H
REBET REBHERE
#RI%395 2 Remeasurement RIS
REEE BHEE BERER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥ETR ARETR
Available-for-sale investments under BREBEHEAEINNR - 1,878 1,878
HKAS 39/debt investment at fair value AHHERE /RES
through other comprehensive income BRI E 05 2
under HKFRS 9 WRREst 2 AEEEHA
Hi2E s EEEE
Trade receivables U E SR 920 - 920
Financial assets included in prepayments, FIATERFUE « &4 REM 151,002 = 151,002
deposits and other receivables Bz eREE
151,922 1,878 153,800
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 =exHBRERBEZ®F (££)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)  (continued) (o) (%)
The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on reserves is iRE 2B WS RIS 95
as follows: H2RENT
RMB’000
AR TR
Fair value reserve under HKFRS 9 (available-for-sale BREANBRELNFESRZAAE
investment revaluation reserve under HKAS 39) B (B Ee s ERE39% Y
AP ERESHEHEE)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under 2017512 A1 AR EBEEE SR -
HKAS 39 F39% 2
Remeasurement of equity investments designated BN EAUNARENEEEEZ 1,609
at fair value through other comprehensive income BEF AR M2 EURES 2 B
previously measured at cost under HKAS 39 BE (AFRESHGE
AERIEINFIRK ARG E)
Recognition of expected credit losses for debt RIEBEBUBRELEFEIRHER (1,878)
investment at fair value through other AR ERTEAHEE T A M
comprehensive income under HKFRS 9 PHEWGR EEREEREER
Bx
Balance as at 1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9 2018F1 A1 B RBEFEM RS (269)

HERIE N 2 Kk
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2.2 CHANGES

Notes to the Financial Statements

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and
related interpretations and it applies, with limited
exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a five-step model
to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer.

The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue.
The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and
key judgements and estimates. The disclosures are
included in notes 3 and 5 to the financial statements.
As a result of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with respect
to revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts
at the date of initial application or only to contracts
that are not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not
completed as at 1 January 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of
HKFRS 15 was recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits as at 1 January
2018. Therefore, the comparative information was not
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS
11, HKAS 18 and related interpretations.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

22 EBXEEEC®E (£)

(c)

BEAVBHREERE1HEREBE
BREBSTERIERELSL
EBEHERE18HEUAURAER
o BRARZAII  BEFRIAHK
FTEAZ AW ABEEAZEL -
BB BHREERNE1SHEELT —18
REEN BUREXEEETFEA
B2 WA o RIBFEBI RS 2R
1555 WARERZ AR ERTE
B S AR i T R P M Al AR
ZRESHE-

BB WS R F155E 2 RAIE
HEBBRBZIEETIERERK
A ZEA WS ABZEMREEZ
BREER  ERBREIFERA - B
REFTZERE  SHMHEANEERA
BREAEGZEE  URT2HER
HEtZAE - BRERBEANREHNUE
WRMEIRS - NEEGERE LR
T s R 1557 0 B B I R i
2. 47 WARER 2 &R

REERBEERZBPRBERR
BB BRI FEA5E - IRIEE A
k0 RRERIR] LA E R RN VILE R 2
FIBER - KEARILBMARTRZ
AR - AEEERIEEZENEAR
2018F1 A1 MARTK 2 &R ©

RERESMISHREERE1SHE 2
I EWRA2018F1A1BRE
WA BBV - HL 0 HERE
B REY - WEEREESQHE
BlZE115% - A G ERFEISR K
HEARETIURS -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 S BERWBEZSE (£)

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) (continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 1 January 2018

as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

(c) (&)

AT &S SR N T B RS LR E
1558 1% + R2018F1 1B B iR K

EHBEAMXFEZE

Increase/
(decrease)
#whm, G )
Notes RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T R
Assets BE
Investments in joint ventures SRWNETE§= (), (ii), (iii) (489,011)
Investments in associates REEE R RIRE (i), (i), (iii) 3,793
Deferred tax assets EERIBEAE (v) 2,679
Properties held for sale FHEME (i) 535,768
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FE{FXIA - &4 & H b EKEER (i), (iii) 46,165
Prepaid tax EREE (v) 20,550
Total 4azE 119,944
Liabilities a&
Advanced receipts, accruals and TEWGRIE - EETIRIRTE KX (i), (i), (iv) 693,296
other payables H{hEATBR R
Tax payable FERTFRIE (v) (15,525)
Total 4azE 677,771
Equity fEm
Retained profits REB (v) (547,608)
Non-controlling interests TR AR R M 2 (v) (10,219)
Total i (557,827)
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(continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 31 December
2018 and for the year ended 31 December 2018 as a
result of the adoption of HKFRS 15. The adoption of
HKFRS 15 has had no impact on other comprehensive
income or on the Group’s operating, investing and
financing cash flows. The first column shows the
amounts recorded under HKFRS 15 and the second
column shows what the amounts would have been
had HKFRS 15 not been adopted:

Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

(c) (%)

AT #5 gh 540 & 8 B 1 3 5 2E A
F1555 1% M2018F12A31H K EH &
2018F12AIA L FEHHERERS
BEXFEZESE - HNBBVBR
HEAF1SFHEM D E WS AN E
B REMAREEBcRERE
WELE - F P ERBBEEENB
MR E1SREE B MES
DB RARRME B HiRE LS5
SR e

HZE2018F12A31BILFE 2124

ended 31 December 2018: Bk
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
EBRBHRSE BAEZESR #im,/
ERE155%  BEREER (H2)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iofz3 AR®TT AR®TR AR¥TR
Revenue WA (i), (i) 7,079,136 12,160,653 (5,081,517)
Cost of sales DN (i), (ii) 2,970,181 5,522,203 (2,552,022)
Gross profit EF 4,108,955 6,638,450 (2,529,495)
Profit before tax BREC AT A (v) 4,787,694 7,254,431 (2,466,737)
Tax IR 2,035,555 3,106,294 (1,070,739)
Profit for the year FX @A 2,752,139 4,148,137 (1,395,998)
Attributable to: AT AR
Owners of the Company AREBAA 2,252,622 3,605,138 (1,352,516)
Non-controlling interests e (v) 499,517 542,999 (43,482)
2,752,139 4,148,137 (1,395,998)
Earnings per share attributable to ~ AAR|EH AJE(S
owners of the Company FREF
- Basic (RMB) —BEX (AR®) 0.1419 0.2272 (0.0853)
- Diluted (RMB) - 8% (AR®) 0.1396 0.2234 (0.0838)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 gHBXREEZ®2F (&)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(c) (continued) (c) (&)
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 MR2018F12A31H 2R A B Ak
December 2018: *®

Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
EBRUEERS BEZEE #m,/
ZHIHE155%  MBHREEL (H2)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR®T R ARETF R ARETR

Assets BE
Investments in joint ventures REERRIRE (i), (ii), (iii) 7,803,183 8,265,190 (462,007)
Investments in associates REENRIRE (i), (i), (iii) 2,620,385 2,603,922 16,463
Deferred tax assets BREREEE (v) 965,358 957,810 7,548
Properties held for sale FHEME (i) 3,935,273 847,483 3,087,790
Prepayments, deposits and BNZUE - e REM (i), (iii) 5,148,182 5,078,933 69,249

other receivables R ERIR

Prepaid tax BR#E (v) 675,920 280,284 395,636
Total ek 3,114,679

Liabilities =L
Advanced receipts, accruals and  TEUHIE  FEERTRIRIER (i), (i), (iv) 20,025,204 14,250,390 5,774,814

other payables H e BR R

Tax payable [ERHHIA (v) 3,393,054 4,099,364 (706,310)
Total B 5,068,504

Equity E#
Other reserves Hib i (v) 66,372 85,274 (18,902)
Retained profits {REEF (v) 6,939,790 8,818,847 (1,879,057)
Non-controlling interests ERLl S T (v) 2,035,224 2,091,090 (55,866)
Total k] (1,953,825)
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2.2 CHANGES

Notes to the Financial Statements

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c)

(continued)

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018
and the reasons for the significant changes in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018 and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018
are described below:

(i)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control
of the asset is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the asset may be transferred over time or at a
point in time. Control of the asset is transferred
over time if the Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

- does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed
to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

22 EIBRREREEZEH (&)

(c)

(%&)

20181 H1H 2 # # 1+ & Kk2018
FI2AMAKAMBRAREAEE
2018F12A31A L FELAABHEE
LEXREHFEAFHNOT -

WA FER

WARBEZFIEERTES
FRHERR - BEIE TR R R —
REIRE—RHER R
BMBERFERREHNZA
2 o MASERELBIZT M
RTINS - BEZEHIHEAS
PR —HRER

- RPRBRELNE
BRI R

R3¢

- BRPREEHAERR
JB#:BI2 P AT RIE R
BRZEE K

- VHEAEHAKESR
HtBERKA®RZE
B AN E A0
MITEENRRFTE
SEERZBHES
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& RN R — R R
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A EEHIE . R ER -

Annual Report 2018 &3 143



Notes to the Financial Statements

M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) (continued)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation, by
reference to the contract costs incurred up to
the end of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, revenue
from the sale of properties is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of
the properties are passed to the purchasers
when (i) an irrevocable sale and purchase
contract has been entered into by both
the buyer and the seller; (ii) the seller has
received or obtained the right to receive
all the consideration of the sale; (iii) the
construction has been completed, and its
quality has been inspected and accepted by
the relevant government authorities; and (iv)
the ready-for-delivery conditions under the
sale and purchase contract have been fulfilled.

Under HKFRS 15, for properties that have no
alternative use to the Group due to contractual
reasons and when the Group has an
enforceable right to payment from customers
for performance completed to date, the Group
recognises revenue as the performance
obligation is satisfied over time in accordance
with the input method for measuring progress.
The excess of cumulative revenue recognised
in profit or loss over the cumulative billings
to purchasers of properties is recognised as
contract assets. The excess of cumulative
billings to purchasers of properties over the
cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss
is recognised as contract liabilities.
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(c) (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group has assessed that there is an
enforceable right to payment from the
customers for performance completed to
date for few properties. Thus, majority of
revenue from sale of properties will continue
to be recognised at a point in time, when the
purchasers obtain the physical possession of
the completed property and the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of
the consideration is probable.

Accounting for significant financing component
for sales of properties

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
presented sales proceeds received from
customers in connection with the Group’s
pre-sales of properties as sales deposits
received under advanced receipts, accruals
and other payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position. No interest was
accrued on the long-term advances received
under the previous accounting policy.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
recognised contract liabilities for the
interest on the sales proceeds received
from customers with a significant financing
component. The Group elected to apply the
practical expedient and did not recognise the
effects of a significant financing component
with a customer if the time period is one year
or less. In addition, reclassifications have been
made from sales deposits received to contract
liabilities for the outstanding balance of sales
proceeds from customers.

Cost of obtaining contracts

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, the
Group expenses off the sales commission
associated with obtaining agreement for
sale and purchase with property buyer.
Upon adoption of HKFRS 15, costs such as
stamp duty and sales commissions incurred
directly attributable to obtaining a contract, if
recoverable, are capitalised and recorded in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables.
Capitalised sales commissions are charged
to profit or loss when the revenue from the
related property sale is recognised and are
included as direct operating expenses at that
time.

(c) (%)

(i)

(iiif)

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) (continued)

(iv) Consideration received from customers in
advance

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
recognised consideration received from
customers in advance as sales deposits
received. Under HKFRS 15, the amount is
classified as contract liabilities which is
included in other payables and accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15,
the Group reclassified RMB13,793,282,000
from sales deposits received to contract
liabilities as at 1 January 2018 in relation to
the consideration received from customers in
advance as at 1 January 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, under HKFRS 15,
RMB19,126,077,000 was reclassified from
sales deposits received to contract liabilities
in relation to the consideration received
from customers in advance for the sale of
properties.

(v) Other adjustments

In addition to the adjustments described
above, other items of the primary financial
statements such as tax and non-controlling
interests were adjusted as necessary. Retained
profits were adjusted accordingly.

(d) Amendments to HKAS 40, clarify when an entity
should transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in
use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to
meet, the definition of investment property and there
is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in
management’s intentions for the use of a property
does not provide evidence of a change in use. The
amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 CHEMERMKAERZEEHBREE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al
The Group has not applied the following new and revised REEW BN AT BRERERAATEEME
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in HMARER T RSB BB MEE
these financial statements. Al o
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business? B TR A KR £ ok
3BT
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative EAEI TSR LA BE B EMIEESN
Compensation’ Eebibd ] okl
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between EABEREER BERBHRBL G5,
and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or Joint FI0R LB LA AENTZ R EE
Venture’ AR 285 HEREETE
(20115) Z &3]
HKFRS 16 Leases’ F BB TR IR A R HE
F165%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BB R AR R A4
FI7H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material? EESENE1% EXN: 0
and HKAS 8 REBGER
ELliA )
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or EEQHERFE19 . FEEET - FRAEE
Settlement’ &3]
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and EEQHERENRE Y RELNGSEE1 57
Joint Ventures' B3] REBE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ &5 (AR BRE R mie s T
REZE®)-
BEF235%
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, S015FEZ0017E2 BB RRE LR
2015-2017 Cycle HKAS 12 and HKAS 23! BEIEEI A F35% - BEMBRE
HRIE1R - BARR
RRE12HRREBG
SERIE23% 2 1EET
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 L R2019F 1 A18 sk 2 & Fia 2 FEHME
January 2019 EVd
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 R2020%F 1 A18 k2 & Fia 2 FE HME
January 2020 EVd
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 g R2021F1 A18 sk 2 & Fia 2 FE M
January 2021 AR
g No mandatory effective date yet determined but available g WARETERSIMEERBE - B AIEK
for adoption P
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA
in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will
be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise
assets and The standard
includes two elective recognition exemptions for lessees
— leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability)

liabilities for most leases.

and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless
the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant
and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The
lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest
on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments.
Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest
expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense
on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain
events, such as change in the lease term and change
in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will
continue to classify all leases using the same classification
principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases.
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2.3

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 (continued)

HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can
choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach. The Group will adopt
HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group plans to adopt
the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the
cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January
2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In addition, the
Group plans to apply the new requirements to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and measure the lease liability at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
The right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before
the date of initial application. The Group plans to use the
exemptions allowed by the standard on lease contracts
whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the date of
initial application. As disclosed in note 40(b)(i) to the financial
statements, at 31 December 2018, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in aggregate of approximately RMB1,208,600,000.
Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included
therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of HKFRS 16. Further analysis will be need to
determine the amount of new right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to,
incremental borrowing rate to be applied for different leases.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion
of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is applied and does
not include long-term interests that in substance form part
of the net investment in the associate or joint venture, to
which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including
the impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting
for such long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to
the net investment, which includes the long-term interests,
only in the context of recognising losses of an associate
or joint venture and impairment of the net investment in
the associate or joint venture. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments on 1 January 2019 and will assess its
business model for such long-term interests based on the
facts and circumstances that exist on 1 January 2019
using the transitional requirements in the amendments.
The Group also intends to apply the relief from restating
comparative information for prior periods upon adoption of
the amendments.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv)
how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

As associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decision of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates
or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or
joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, certain loans
to joint ventures, a debt investment and equity investments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

2.4
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties held for sale, properties under development,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in the prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family if that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity if any of the following conditions

applies:
() the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life as follows:

Leasehold The lease terms or 5 years,
improvements whichever is shorter
Office equipment, 3-5 years
furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles 4-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Properties under construction or development for further
use as investment properties are classified as investment
properties under construction. If the fair value cannot
be reliably determined, the investment properties under
construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair
value can be determined or construction is completed. The
Group has concluded that the fair value of its investment
properties under construction can be measured reliably,
and therefore, the Group’s investment properties under
construction are measured at fair value.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise. Any gains or losses
on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from inventories to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Property management contracts

Property management contracts are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 6 to 12 years.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or
loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost of properties under development
comprises cost of acquisition, land cost, construction costs,
development costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other
direct costs attributable to the development. The land cost
is recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease term.
Impairment is assessed by the directors based on prevailing
market prices, on an individual property basis.
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Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by apportionment
of total development cost, including capitalised borrowing
cost, attributable to the unsold units. Net realisable value
is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds,
or estimated by management based on the prevailing
market conditions, less all estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and selling expenses, on an individual property
basis.

Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
from 1 January 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows.

- The contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows: (continued)

(b) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income if both of the
following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling.

- The contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to the statement
of profit or loss.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows: (continued)

(c) Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement
of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and
available-for-sale financial investments, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

(a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less
any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
other income and gains in the statement of profit or
loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans
and in direct operating expenses for receivables.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
(b) Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are
non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted
equity investments. Equity investments classified
as available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at
fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this
category are those which are intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time and which may be sold
in response to needs for liquidity or in response to
changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income and gains, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the statement of
profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale
financial investments are reported as interest income
and dividend income, respectively and are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss as other income and
gains in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January
2018)” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (i) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (ii) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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Investments and other financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
(b) Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in
the near term are still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the
assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the
available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying
amount at the date of reclassification becomes its
new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss
on that asset that has been recognised in equity is
amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the
maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then
the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt investment is considered to have low credit
risk using all reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss
is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement
of profit or loss.

174 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £t E B £BEHRE A 7

ERMEERE (2018F1A1BAEAEE
B ERIEIMZHE) (&)

BEHR AR 2 BEE

RILEHER AR EMEENS - A&E
BASRENEERENBEAZEREE
SREREERBERNTEBERZEREE
FEREFERETR - WAKERER
EREEEF Az eRMEE (BEwERMEHE
B ABEEPRBTRGFERE  AIZEE
ERtA-HAARUEERREEZ 8
BEN THRFGZESREERERTHE
TRLAE o A AR R R (B R 1 I B o Bk A AR e BB L
BREEBRZEE T AEGRENMG
B o

EARER 2R EBRECERZEERTE
HEAEFTARKRAEZRE (TEBLRELEZR
REEER) BEWE ZEZEE - 5t R
RREREZRENEREEZRERFE
(AREREAE 2 BRMEK) H73]

ZAEZIKREES BB E BB EERMR
Do MEBRRBHERER - FEKRARRD
Rz EEEFREEL  BRAERESE
BRAUATARRRAEREZNEGFE - B8
R JE W AR R B IR AR B 2 AT B K Py
BEARMEREXCERTARE  AIFE
[ fa) AR B 3 1 — IS -

155 7 £ 14 RS 5 LS 9 o M R
BT BEENRRD - B BEE
BBIEEE SR 2 2 BT IR 2 R
18 o B EL (R MBI R A B+ OB i
ABHE -



Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for
sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However,
the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss
measured as the difference between the amortised cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that investment previously recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be
accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
The interest income is recorded as part of other income.
Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through
the statement of profit or loss if the subsequent increase in
fair value of the instruments can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the assets or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 January 2018 and policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, loans from the ultimate holding company, fellow
subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate, amounts due
to the ultimate holding company, fellow subsidiaries, joint
ventures, associates, non-controlling shareholders and
a related company, and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

(a) Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

178 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited £t E B £BEHRE A T

tHESE (H2018F1A1BEAEBHE
mEEREIEE 2B K K2018F181H
RIEAEBETERNEIR ZBR)

VI R R A E

TRABRVNBEEE D B ARAAER
ABEZeMEE BEXNEE - BHERX
EREBERER T RIEE RSP TAZAT
ETA-

ESRABVTIURAEE  WEEXR
MEEREMNER  MIIBREZEERZK
o

AEEZeRAGBEEEENES &ﬁ?@ﬁﬁ
R BNRKERAT  RARMEA
BRARBERRER J'EHE—ZH

B AEHBAR ‘é%ﬁ@? 6%%*”&7\
FEEM IR R BB A RIRIE - AN B ERTT
REMER -

BEiZaTE
SREEZEEFEIRRESBNAT

(a) ,TMHM

RIaTERE - MEERMERHE
RABBERNTOEANEHK AN E - B
FIRTEFBEAN > BEURBERT
AR AES R - BB ERILEER
B e REEMEERTBERBUE
R R = S S AR SRR

B TR E BN BAR 2 [T
EIRBARBEMNEEXI D2 E
RARAARETE - BRMNEEHEE
SEBERZIMBERS



Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

2.4
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

- when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

- when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

from the initial

- in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

investments in subsidiaries,
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to the
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.
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Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the asset may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
Control of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in

time when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation, by reference to the contract costs incurred up
to the end of reporting period as a percentage of total
estimated costs for each contract.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018) (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Sales of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised
at the point in time when the purchasers obtained
the physical possession of the completed property
and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

(b) Property management fee income, entrusted
management fee income and utility income are
recognised when the services are rendered.

Revenue from other sources

(a) operating lease rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.

(b) interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instruments or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January
2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) revenue from the sale of properties is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of the
properties are passed to the purchasers when (i)
an irrevocable sale and purchase contract has been
entered into by both the buyer and the seller; (ii) the
seller has received or obtained the right to receive all
the consideration of the sale; (iii) the construction has
been completed, and its quality has been inspected
and accepted by the relevant government authorities;
and (iv) the ready-for-delivery conditions under the
sale and purchase contract have been fulfilled;

(b) operating lease rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) property management fee income, entrusted
management fee income, utility income and consulting
services income are recognised when the services
are rendered; and

(d) interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial assets.
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Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.

Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all eligible employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries, allowances and other benefits
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for
the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute 18% to 30% of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. These
contributions are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Employee leave pay and compensation entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payment are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service payment as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of taking leave.

(c) Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using a binomial model,
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Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expenses, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimate vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(c) Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the awards are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employees are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

(d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong dollar
(*HK$"), while these financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the Company’s presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e.,
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

translation difference on the

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2.4

Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company, certain
subsidiaries and certain joint ventures are currencies other
than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into RMB at the average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserves. On disposal of an operation with
functional currency other than RMB, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular operation

is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and certain subsidiaries with
functional currencies other than RMB are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company and those
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Determining the timing of satisfaction of contracts related to
sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contract with customers
requires the Group to complete the development of property
before transferring the legal title of the relevant property to
customers. The Group also determined that the Group does
not have an enforceable right to payment from customers for
performance completed to date before the transfer of legal
title of the relevant property to customers. Consequently, the
Group concluded that the timing of transfer of properties is at
the point in time when the purchasers obtained the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value does not exist; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management
to determine the level of impairment, including the discount
rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.

Impairment of other receivables and loans receivable

The policy for the impairment of other receivables and loans
receivable of the Group is based on the forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its assets carried
at amortised cost and financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables including the Group’s historical records,
existing market conditions and forward looking estimates
at the end of reporting period. If the financial condition of
the Group’s other receivables and loans receivable was
deteriorated, resulting in an impairment of their abilities to
make payments, additional allowances may be required.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Land appreciation tax

Under the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of
Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
of the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the
transfer of real estate property in Mainland China effective
from 1 January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value,
being the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including amortisation of land use rights,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation and settlement of LAT
vary amongst Mainland China cities and the Group has not
finalised its LAT calculation and payments with various tax
authorities. Accordingly, significant judgement is required
in determining the amount of land appreciation and related
taxes. The ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises these
liabilities based on management’s best estimates. When
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the provisions for LAT in the period in which such
determination is made.

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased
out on operating leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Determining whether the acquisition of subsidiaries
constituted a business combination

Management determines whether the acquisition of
subsidiaries constituted acquisition of assets and liabilities
or business combination by assessing if there is business
acquired. The three elements of business are input, process
and output. Management exercises judgements to determine
if these elements were acquired in each acquisition. If
the acquired subsidiaries did not contain these elements,
management will account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
as acquisition of assets and liabilities.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of gooadwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. Further details are given in note 35(a) to the financial
statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active
market for similar lease terms and other contracts. In the
absence of such information, management has determined
the amounts within a range of reasonable fair value estimates.
In making its estimation, management considers information
from (i) current prices in an active market for properties of
different nature, conditions or locations, adjusted to reflect
those differences; (ii) recent prices of similar properties in
less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of transactions that
occurred at those prices; and (iii) discounted cash flow
projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows,
supported by the terms of any existing lease and other
contracts and (when possible) from external evidence such
as current market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of cash flows.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2018 by independent, professionally qualified
valuers, Shenzhen Touchstone Evaluation and Consultancy
Co., Ltd. and CBRE Inc., on an open market, existing use
basis.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in
note 13 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the investment properties held by the Group
are set out on pages 314 to 315 of the annual report.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments and debt investment

The unlisted equity investments and debt investment have
been valued based on a market-based valuation technique
as detailed in note 43 to the financial statements. The
valuation requires the Group to determine the comparable
public companies (peers) and select the price multiple. In
addition, the Group makes estimates about the discount for
illiquidity and size differences. The Group classifies the fair
value of these investments as Level 3. Further details are
included in note 21 to the financial statements.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Current taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant estimation and judgement were
required in determining the amount of the provision for tax
and the timing of payment of the related taxes. There were
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination was uncertain during the ordinary course of
business.

As detailed in the Company’s accounting policies, deferred
tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Where the final tax outcomes of these matters are different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, differences will
impact on the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
periods in which such determination is made.

Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation has
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Significant estimation is required
in determining the amount of certain obligations. Where the
final outcomes of these obligations are different from the
amounts that were initially recognised, adjustments will be
made according to the latest information available.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and costs of completion
for properties under development

Total budgeted costs for properties under development
comprise (i) prepaid land lease payments; (ii) building costs;
and (iii) any other direct costs attributable to the development
of the properties. In estimating the total budgeted costs
for properties under development, management makes
reference to information such as (i) current offers from
contractors and suppliers; (ii) recent offers agreed with
contractors and suppliers; and (iii) professional estimation
on construction and material costs.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the property development segment — development
and sale of residential and commercial properties;

(b) the property investment and management segment —
investment and management of business parks and
commercial properties;

(c) the micro-finance segment — provision of financial
services to property buyers and small businesses;
and

(d) the corporate segment — the Group’s corporate
management services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that bank interest income and finance costs are
excluded from such measurement.

Due to continuous growth of micro-financing business,
management of the Group has reassessed the Group’s
segment reporting and decided that for financial reporting
purposes, there is a new reportable operating segment as the
resources allocation, performance assessment and decision
making of the segment are assessed separately. The impacts
of the abovementioned change in the Group’s reportable
operating segments for the year ended 31 December 2017
is considered retrospectively and the Group’s operating
segment information is restated as if microfinance had been
reported as a separate segment in that year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment information is presented by way of the Group’s
primary segment reporting basis, by business segment. No
geographical segment information is presented as over 90%
(2017: over 90%) of the Group’s revenue is derived from
customers based in Mainland China, and over 90% (2017:
over 90%) of the Group’s assets are located in Mainland
China.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, certain
deposits, bank and cash balances, and prepaid tax as these
assets are managed on a group basis. Segment liabilities
exclude certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities, amounts due to the
ultimate holding company, non-controlling shareholders,
fellow subsidiaries and a related company, and certain loans
from a fellow subsidiary as these liabilities are managed on
a group basis.

During the current and prior years, there were no
intersegment transactions.

4,

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

AEBOBENZAEEETESPREE
E-¥BE DR - AR A% EEI0%
(20174 : #90%) 2 WA TR B B K
bez B P B RS EB% (20174 « #

90%) 2 B BRI BIARE - B M — 2
Z25iE D BEF -
DHEETEEREHRREE ETHER
RITRIREH ﬁ%%&i‘ﬁiﬁ%ﬁ@ RREEE
ﬂ?ﬁ%% c DERBETBEETH
’_&Ei\ﬁﬂ‘ﬁ- CERBR  RERER
F BN R AR« FFERERR - AA

WJ%’AT&E@L RIRE  ARETENR
ESi) N EARFAEDNREEEE
EIR o

RAFEREFER  ZFXBOBELEEL
TEAR S

Annual Report 2018 &3 201



Notes to the Financial Statements

MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. K& IEHR (

Year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31HLLFE
Property
investment
and
Property management Micro-
development NERER finance Corporate Total
NELR 3 NEE tEER B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETxn

Segment revenue: AHBBA

Sales to external customers BETHRAEE 6,184,335 507,260 387,541 - 7,079,136

Segment results: DEEE 4,261,913 631,112 149,296 (44,906) 4,997,415

Reconciliation %

Bank interest income FAFIEMA 40,055

Finance costs B (249,776)

Profit before tax BE AR 4,787,694

Segment assets: PHEE 34,958,839 13,183,193 2,085,938 36,463 50,264,433

Reconciliation %

Other unallocated assets HW AP EBEE 1,723,324

Total assets BEBS 51,987,757

Segment liabilities: AHEE: 28,793,323 951,239 22,809 23,377 29,790,748

Reconciliation %

Other unallocated liabilities ERARARE 8,326,624

Total liabilities BERE 38,117,372

Other segment information: At HER

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures ~ [EIEAZAFRE (1,061,723) (285,474) - - (1,347,197

Share of profits and losses of associates ERBE DR RE 5,805 - - - 5,805

Net (gain)/loss on disposal/deemed HE/ BREEHBRARZ (23,863) 22,824 - - (1,039)
disposal of subsidiaries (lss)/ BiE%E

Changes in fair values of investment RENE AnfES - (324,144) - - (324,144)
properties

Depreciation Vil 16,944 23,394 681 399 41,418

Amortisation £ = 8,228 - - 8,228

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of ERERTRE,/ (1,120) 3,548 112,590 185 115,203
receivables, net (RERE) 38

Impairment of goodwill arising on WENBRAMELEZ - 29,702 - - 29,702
acquisition of a subsidiary BERE

Impairment of properties under development  ZEFWERE 83,286 - - - 83,286

Capital expenditure* é“?iiﬁﬁs‘z 25,048 2,547,644 657 5,560 2,578,909

Investments in joint ventures RAERRIZIRE 6,338,226 1,464,957 - - 7,803,183

Investments in associates REENR 7 RE 2,620,385 - - - 2,620,385
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REDHER (2)

Year ended 31 December 2017 BZE2017F12A3181LFE
Property
investment
and
Property  management Micro-
development  ¥WERER finance Corporate Total
NELR 3 NEEH T5ER it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARRTR  ARMTT  ARETR  ARETR

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E51) (&5) (&51)
Segment revenue: FHBA
Sales to external customers HEFIREF 3,995,866 385,202 329,951 - 4,711,019
Segment results: DEEE 2,055,255 806,479 140,983 (41,936) 2,960,781
Reconciliation ik
Bank interest income FATH BN 32,836
Finance costs HHER (241,843)
Profit before tax KR AT 2,751,774
Segment assets: THEE 31,900,208 8,545,577 1,977,031 28,322 42,451,138
Reconciliation ik
Other unallocated assets EtAAREE 1,217,614
Total assets BERE 43,668,752
Segment liabilities: IBEE ! 21,722,321 542,789 1,621,527 19,599 23,906,236
Reconciliation #HE
Other unallocated liabilities EthAPE AR 6,714,888
Total liabilities BfEEE 30,621,124
Other segment information: HAHER
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures ~ [EIEAEDRIRE (996,166) (193,615) - - (1,189,781)
Share of profits and losses of associates EEBENRRE (297) - - - (2971)
Gain on disposal/deemed disposal of He /BREEHBARZ (53,458) - - - (53,458)
subsidiaries Wrzs
Changes in fair values of investment RENZE D EES = (545,840) S = (545,840)
properties
Depreciation FE 8,970 7,243 489 312 17,014
Amortisation B - 8,227 - - 8,227
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of FUEEAE /(RERE) - 3,060 (145) 93,605 = 96,520
receivables, net HE
Impairment of goodwill arising on acquisition  WEHBARMELZ - 4,889 - - 4,889
of a subsidiary BERE
Release of exchange fluctuation reserves HENBAGIZELES (6,966) - - - (6,966)
upon deregistration of subsidiaries FREmA
Capital expenditure* BREY" 10,529 756,910 1,605 2 769,046
Investments in joint ventures REBRRIZRE 5,045,601 826,892 = = 5,872,493
Investments in associates REERAZIRE 632,736 - = = 632,736
& Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * BEXET EERYE BERLZE - K
plant and equipment, investment properties and EVEUREREENZIEN (BIFFE
intangible assets including assets from the acquisitions WBUIEN B FITTEA Z HE) ©

of subsidiaries.
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA Ht AR W=
(a) Revenue (a) WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZDFAT -
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
(Restated)
(&%)
Revenue from contracts with customers FEEZFBEEHZWA
Sales of properties YIS E 6,184,335 3,995,866
Property management fee income from: MESHEBWAKRE :
— fellow subsidiaries — RAZREKHBAA 1,210 1,133
— third parties —%£=5 148,872 123,754
Utility income NREBFERABRA 16,569 14,433
Entrusted management fee income WERE R B AR 2 24,906 24,906
from a fellow subsidiary BETEBRA
Revenue from other sources H Rz WA
Gross rental income from: MW ABRERE
— fellow subsidiaries — RRAWB AT 8,504 7,025
— third parties —%=5 307,199 213,951
Interest income on loans receivable* FEMCE R 2 F B A 387,541 329,951
7,079,136 4,711,019
* Interest income of HK$329,951,000 for the year * RAEEF  BREEEZEE/)
ended 31 December 2017 was reclassified from BB A K BN F AR S
other income to revenue as micro-financing Z5 > — Bt F2017FE12H31
business was considered by management to be HIFEEZFBE A AR
an operating segment of the Group during the 329,951,000 B B 1 g A ZE 5
year. WA -
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5.

REVENUE,
(continued)

(a)

Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ Ett AR KE (&)

Revenue (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

(@) WA (&)
KEHEEPREEHZBA
(i) LUNGE

Segments
i
Property
investment
and
Property development
development NERE Total
NEZRE BE X
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T ARBT

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ2018F12A31ALLEE

Type of goods or services EmRREER

Sale of properties MEHE 6,184,335 - 6,184,335
Provision of property management services RENEEERE - 150,082 150,082
Utility income AREBERBHA = 16,569 16,569
Entrusted management fee income BENEES =N P - 24,906 24,906

from a fellow subsidiary BETEBHA

Total revenue from contracts with customers REEEFHANIMALE 6,184,335 191,557 6,375,892
Timing of revenue recognition A2 R

Goods transferred at a point in time ERHEE/EM 6,184,335 = 6,184,335
Services transferred over time RIS R = 191,557 191,557
Total revenue from contracts with customers REARFRANIMALEE 6,184,335 191,557 6,375,892

The following table shows the amounts of
revenue recognised in the current reporting

TRDBREERRES VAR
BEANYRECZKENRLT

period that were included in the contract BRZWALEE :
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period and recognised from performance

obligations satisfied:

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Revenue recognised that was included in BEERRERTNERAER
contract liabilities at the beginning of Z YA FERR
the reporting period:
— Sales of properties — MEHEE 4,345,962
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31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ Bt AR KR (&)
(continued)
(a) Revenue (continued) (a) WA (#&)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sales of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
the physical possession of the completed
property is obtained by the purchasers.

Property management fee income and
entrusted management fee incomes

The performance obligation is satisfied over
time as services are rendered and short-term
advances are normally required before
rendering the services. Management service
contracts are for periods of one year less, or
are billed based on the time incurred.

Unsatisfied performance obligations

For sales of properties, the Group recognises
revenue when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the purchaser. Depending
on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the asset may
transfer over time or at a point in time. The
Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer
and payment by the customer exceeds one
year, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed as
permitted by HKFRS15.

For property management fee income and
entrusted management fee income, the Group
recognises revenue in the amount that equals
to the right to invoice which corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the
Group’s performance to date, on a monthly
basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not to disclose the remaining
performance obligations for these type of
contracts.
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2018 £ 12 A 31 H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
(continued)

(b)

Other income and gains

An analysis of other income and gains is as follow:

GAINS 5. WA Htlk AR WS (&)

(b) EfBARKE

HpWA RSz AT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
(Restated)
(&7)
Bank interest income IRITHFBULA 40,055 32,836
Interest income on loans to related FEN BB R RIE 2 R B A 73,783 24,942
companies
Interest income on loans to joint ventures  EIRA L AT ERZ MBI 74,951 70,113
Interest income on loans to associates EUE S N ERZ A B WA - 18,828
Interest income on loans to third parties ERE=ZFERZFEWA 27,546 8,775
Interest income on loans to non-controlling Y FE# IR A% 58 & ¢ 2 F1l B U A 1,609 =
shareholders
Interest income from available-for-sale AR E S RIREF 2 WA - 55,288
financial investments
Release of exchange fluctuation reserves = 841 B\ 7] 7 & 5, B &)k i - 6,966
upon deregistration of subsidiaries (o] #
Consulting services income from: BRI RBKRAKRE :
— fellow subsidiaries —RRMBRAF 1,102 2,344
— joint ventures ==V 46,869 9,198
- an associate =N 2,594 =
— third parties —$= 116,506 60,029
Fitting out works income from: KETRRKRAKSE :
— fellow subsidiaries S CIE N =NE 49,790 6,913
— joint ventures — A& NA 7,401 S
— third parties —%=5 57,892 21,603
Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal HE SEREEMBARZ 1,039 53,458
of subsidiaries (Note 37) e B 58 (f17737)
Others HAh 87,110 54,699
588,247 425,992
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MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

6. FINANCE COSTS 6. HMKEAR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBEBERZONHET :
2018 2017
2018% 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
(Restated)
(&%)
Interest on borrowings BRF B
- bank borrowings —RITER 57,514 32,330
— loans from the ultimate holding company — BEERABER 63,260 203,173
— loans from fellow subsidiaries —RAEMBATER 136,186 93,409
— loans from joint ventures —BERRERK 2,914 1,680
— loans from an associate —BERRER 1,168 =
— loans from non-controlling shareholders — AR R E K - 1,418
- other borrowings and other payables — HMER R EMEMNIER 13,496 27,066
274,538 359,076
Other finance costs Hi % &R 7,630 2,899
Total finance costs incurred EEZUBERBRE 282,168 361,975
Less: Interest capitalised in B BEREFE
— investment properties (Note 13) —&EWME (K5713) (2,875) (16,931)
- properties under development (Note 15) —BRPME (HiF15) (29,517) (103,201)
249,776 241,843
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

7.  BRBADRA

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ RNEBERB A M LR GTA) THF
(crediting): =

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBFTT

Cost of properties sold MEEER K 2,633,233 2,604,232

Depreciation (Note 12) e (fit12) 42,115 23,641

Less: Amounts capitalised in property W BIEMEZRREBEBE 2 (697) (6,627)

development projects ERfbetE

41,418 17,014

Amortisation of intangible assets* (Note 19) | EESE (WiE19) 8,228 8,227

Outgoings (including repairs and maintenance) BRI EMERES 2 RAX 52,990 36,038
arising on rental-earning investment properties (BREEENRS)

Net (gains)/losses on disposal of items of HEME BEREEEE 2 (346) 107
property, plant and equipment (Yezk),/ B8535

Net gains on disposal/deemed disposal of HE / REHEHRBRARZ (1,039) (53,458)

subsidiaries (Note 37)

e 588 (H13237)

Changes in fair values of investment properties &M% N EEE) (f1:713) (324,144) (545,840)

(Note 13)

Amortisation of land use rights

Less: Amounts capitalised in property

development projects

b {58 R 2 5 236,255 154,467
o BEMEERIBEE 2 (236,255) (154,467)
=N et}
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. BRELBDEF (42)
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REEBRR AN M SR (GEA) T3
(crediting): (continued) 5 (#&)
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of trade B E SRR CRERR), (920) 315
receivables, net (Note 22) RIE - FEE (M1it22)
Impairment of financial assets included in FIAFERFIE » e REAMAREIR 116,123 96,205
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, ERzemEERE  FH
net (Note 23) (H13123)
Impairment of properties under development BRPYIZERE 83,286 -
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 2 E& 2 &K TREE 85,629 24,906

Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EBEwRFAZHAY (BFEESE

emoluments (Note 9)): e (A7729)) -
Wages and salaries T & N 400,024 341,471
Pension schemes contributions RIRET B 36,399 33,500
Less: Forfeited contributions W BRI K = (2)
Net pension schemes contributions RN EIERUSERE 36,399 33,498
Total employee benefit expense EERA A A% 436,423 374,969
Auditor’s remuneration BRI S 3,873 3,582
Foreign exchange differences, net N ZRE - JHER (5,813) 10,947
Release of exchange fluctuation reserves upon  E$EM B AR 2 E X EEFEE - (6,966)
deregistration of subsidiaries (Note 5) 1% (K7at5)
Impairment of goodwill arising on acquisition of — WEEME R A FTES 2 2 29,702 4,889
subsidiaries** (Note 35(a)) BB (K1:#35(a))
* The amortisation of intangible assets is included in “Direct ¥ BEREMBECHAGEBR R [H
operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of BREEHZ -
profit or loss.
53 The impairment of goodwill is included in “Administrative > BEBMECFAGFEBAm S [1THF

expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. X
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Notes to the Financial Statements

TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year (2017: Nil). Taxation on Mainland China profits was
calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdiction in which the
Group operates.

The provision for LAT has been estimated according to
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of progressive
rates of the appreciation value, with certain allowable
deductions.

The amount of tax charge in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

BiIR

MR AEERFALEEMEERRTE
Ao R EAE R BB NG H 2B E (2017
FE) PERKEENZHBERANFE
AR - RAKBEREEBHE
R ZRITHEE -

THURER < BB IRA B BUED FAR %
Prél 2 #2E e AT » DR ETIRISER
BEREETAHRZERR  RREEREZ
R E R

RiFABER ZHAHMT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

Current — Hong Kong BNER — BE - =
Current — Mainland China BNER — A B K RE
Charge for the year REFERZH 1,027,390 455,278
Underprovision in prior years BAFETEREE 13,774 488
LAT in Mainland China AR OKRE 2 3B (E T 1,301,818 432,376
Deferred (Note 33) BT (H17233) (307,427) 56,384

2,035,555 944,526
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdiction in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
to the tax charge at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation
of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the
effective tax rates, are as follows:

B\ (&)

BARA REKE DM EARAEREER
ERARBRRADERN ZEER R E 2 RIAX
B BIRERBRFEZHIBHZ HK -
AR ERBE (AEEMRE) BERBEZ
HEREIIMT

2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥TR ARBEFT

Profit before tax R 5 A i ) 4,787,694 2,751,774

Tax at the applicable statutory tax  {&iE R EERI R E 2 Fi1E 870,627 18.2 609,605 22.1
rates

Adjustments in respect of current ARRNBE RN 2 AT B 13,774 0.3 488 0.0
tax of previous periods

Profits and losses attributable to [ERAERRIAE (350,491) (7.3) (323,544) (11.8)
joint ventures

Profits and losses attributable to JEIGHEE N R A8 829 0.0 (508) 0.0
associates

Income not subject to tax BARB WA (1,824) 0.0 (17,250) (0.6)

Expenses not deductible for tax Ralfi 2 T 60,238 1.2 37,719 1.4

Utilisation of previously BRBEARERCHIEES (85) 0.0 (1,800) (0.1)
unrecognised tax losses

Tax losses for which no deferred RERRELERBEEY 35,605 0.7 37,729 1.4
tax asset was recognised RIEEE

LAT in Mainland China B ARz B ER 1,301,818 27.2 432,376 15.7

Withholding tax in Mainland China  F B A 2 BT EH 105,064 2.2 169,711 6.2

2,035,555 42.5 944,526 34.3

The share of tax charge attributable to joint ventures
amounting to RMB1,212,228,000 (2017: RMB1,045,838,000)
and the share of tax credit attributable to associates
amounting to RMB1,023,000 (2017: tax charge of
RMB54,060,000) are included in “Share of profits and
losses of joint ventures” and “Share of profits and losses of
associates”, respectively, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 9.
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

EENTEBEFHET 2HE

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=E=EMe
No remuneration has been paid by the Group to the RFEEREFERN  AEBEHERE
Directors as an inducement to join upon joining the EXNERMESIERMARER 2 #Z
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during B ERBEBME -
the current and prior years.
There was no arrangement under which a Director KEEREFERN  BMEEFRIET
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during AIZBEMEXFBENEERME
the current and prior years.
Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 HZE2018F12A31ALFERESE
December 2018, disclosed pursuant to the Listing ZHEBE EWmRA - BAREEG
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the %383(1)(a) * (b) * (c)R(NE - A K&
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the naEl (BRERESNSER) BRHIE28
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits WEROT
of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances

and benefits

in kind Discretionary
Fees i1 bonuses Total
we RENAE BiETEA o
RMB’00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Name of Directors BN ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ling Ke EREE 973 - 845 1,818
Mr. Huang Juncan HERTE 973 - 845 1,818
Mr. Xu Jiajun BREREEE 973 677 1,015 2,665
Mr. Wei Chuanjun BEELLE 973 429 947 2,349
3,892 1,106 3,652 8,650
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat/t 4 338 - - 338
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REBLT 338 - - 338
676 - - 676
Independent non-executive ~ BYEHTEE
Directors
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR 400 - - 400
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, BRELE 351 - - 351
Anthony
Mr. Hu Chunyuan WETRE 438 - - 438
1,189 - - 1,189
5,757 1,106 3,652 10,515
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

9. DIRECTORS’

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 9.
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
December 2017, disclosed pursuant to the Listing

Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),

(c) and (f) of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

EERTEREFMETI 2ME (&)

(a) E=ME (&)

HZE2017F12A31B L FERES
ZEeRE LR - FEQRESG
£5383(1)(a) * (b) ~ () Be(f)ik - A K&
nE (BEEEFEER) BHIE2E

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits HWERMOT
of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind Discretionary
Fees He 28 bonuses Total
ik REWH R WiEEA bk
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of Directors EEHR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ling Ke EREE 865 - 865 1,730
Mr. Huang Juncan HEETE 865 = 865 1,730
Mr. Xu Jiajun BRERE 865 628 1,028 2,521
Mr. Wei Chuanjun EEERL 865 377 961 2,203
3,460 1,005 3,719 8,184
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Loh Lian Huat Loh Lian Huat%t 4 314 - - 314
Ms. Zhang Feiyun REBLT 314 - - 314
628 - - 628
Independent non-executive  BYFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung TR 372 = = 372
Mr. Chiang Sheung Yee, EBRELLE 327 = = 327
Anthony
Mr. Hu Chunyuan HETLE 406 - - 406
1,105 - - 1,105
5,193 1,005 3,719 9,917
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b)

9.

Five highest paid employees

(b)

The five highest paid employees in the Group
for the year included two (2017: three) Directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments payable to the
remaining three (2017: two) non-director, highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

EERTEREFMETI 2ME (&)

TEREHFMAL

RAFER  AEERETZaHFMAL
BEME (2017 : ZH)EBF - H
B&BEEN EXDHT - AFHHB=F
(2017F : MB) Z=FMES (3
EE) 2T

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%ET T AREFT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e 2 REYRE 3,369 5,374
Discretionary bonuses [l AN 12,602 10,366
Employer’s contributions to pension schemes ERAR& TS 2 E FHH 301 185
16,272 15,925

The number of non-director, highest paid employees
whose emoluments fell within the following bands is

EeHMES GEESR) S AT
SHRIZ AR

as follows:
Number of employees
EBEAH

2018 2017
RMB AR¥T 20184 20174
4,000,001 to 4,500,000 4,000,001%4,500,000 1 -
4,500,001 to 5,000,000 4,500,001%5,000,000 1 -
5,000,001 to 5,500,000 5,000,001%5,500,000 = S
5,500,001 to 6,000,000 5,500,001%6,000,000 = =
6,000,001 to 6,500,000 6,000,001%6,500,000 = =
6,500,001 to 7,000,000 6,500,00127,000,000 = -
7,000,001 to 7,500,000 7,000,001%7,500,000 1 1
7,500,001 to 8,000,000 7,500,001%8,000,000 = =
8,000,001 to 8,500,000 8,000,001%8,500,000 = =
8,500,001 to 9,000,000 8,500,00129,000,000 - 1
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 10. AATEEAEGLERZER

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(a) Basic earnings per share (a)

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
is based on the profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 15,870,817,771 (2017:
15,813,616,233) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b)

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share is
based on the profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company. The weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used
in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

BREFEF

BREABFTIREAQNREE AR
EEERF - REENDBITTRRK
hn # F $915,870,817,7710% (2017
£ :15,813,616,2330%) {E5tE -

BREERR

FREERNDRBEARRRFEAR
EFEEEMFE - BIELEFEZE
BENETFOBRARFEFNDHITE
BR#EE (AU EERERAT
EF) UNRMABEEEEEBRRET
FEHRBRSEBEMBRRATRESR
TTE B TR -

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are BREAREFRF 2 HETER
based on:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Earnings B
Profit attributable to owners of the Company, ViN/NEIEE YN Ly
used in the basic earnings per share calculation (FBUIAEEEREREF)

2,252,622 1,643,529
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11.

Notes to the Financial Statements

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are
based on: (continued)

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

10. ALQFFEARGERER (

BREAREERN I GFEDER (&)

Number of shares

B &1
2018 2017
2018%F 20174
Shares i)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares NERDETERR METFHE  15,870,817,771 15,813,616,233
in issue during the year used in the (AU EERERER)

basic earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average number HEyE - TRaRNE
of ordinary shares: FHE
Share options e 268,114,334 162,372,173
16,138,932,105 15,975,988,406
DIVIDENDS 11 BE
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBEFTT
Proposed final dividend - RMB0.0275 FORARHRE — FREBR 436,680 396,543
(2017: RMBO0.025) per ordinary share AR#0.02757T

(20174 + AR¥0.0257T)

At the Board meeting held on 21 March 2019, the Board
resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.0275 per share for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The proposed final dividend is not reflected as dividend
payable in the consolidated financial statements until it is
approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

R2019F3A21ARTT s EFTER% L &
ECFRERHME Z=2018F12A318 £ F
ERZERBR BT/ AREO0.02757T - It #E
IEARHIR B R R A IS MR AR A FE
MIRE @ B BERARRBERITZRER
FRG LERRAAEE T AR -
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. % - BERRE

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
HENEEE WAZRME BRR%E e g
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AE®TR AEETTR AEETR AE®TR AEETR
At 31 December 2018: R2018%128318 -
At 31 December 2017 and R2017%12B318 R
1 January 2018 201851418
Cost R 84,188 18,664 11,520 16,121 130,493
Accumulated depreciation and impairment SEITERRE (42,133) (10,873) (6,225) (7890) (67,121)
Net carrying amount FEYE 42,055 7791 5,295 8,231 63,372
At 1 January 2018, net of accumulated R2018E151A 42,055 7791 5,295 8,231 63,372
depreciation and impairment NRERITEREE
Additions bp 57,851 6,534 2,787 4,145 71,317
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) WEMBAT (Ha35) 34,758 65 = 209 35,032
Disposals e - (82) (457) (48) (587)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HENBAF (HE37) = (160) (7 = (167)
Depreciation (Note 7) WE (l#7) (32,901) (3,893) (1,945) (3,376) (42,115)
Exchange realignment E R B 33 11 53 14 111
At 31 December 2018, net of accumulated R2018%E12A318 - 101,796 10,266 5,726 9,175 126,963
depreciation and impairment TRERNERGA
At 31 December 2018 20185125318
Cost A 164,841 24,947 13,636 19,954 223,378
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEMERNE (63,045) (14,681) (7910) (10,779) (96,415)
Net carrying amount BEFE 101,796 10,266 5,726 9,175 126,963
At 31 December 2017: R2017%128318 -
At 1 January 2017 01751818
Cost R 77,528 14,362 10,271 13,123 115,284
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZRNERAE (27,946) (7,990) (4,581) (4,602) (45,119)
Net carrying amount SEFE 49,582 6,372 5,690 8,521 70,165
At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated R2017%1R18 49,582 6,372 5,690 8,521 70,165
depreciation and impairment NBERFERHE
Additions b 10,225 4804 1,690 3,603 20,322
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) WEHBAR (22 = 2 86 40 147
Disposals & = 8) (147) (50) (205)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) LWENBLR (hds7) (2:413) (458) (218) (99) (3,248)
Depreciation (Note 7) FE (Wit7) (15,217) (2.919) (1,705) (3,740) (23,641)
Exchange realignment ERAE (62) (21) (41) (44) (168)
At 31 December 2017, net of accumulated R2017%12A318 - 42,085 7,791 5295 8,231 63,372
depreciation and impairment NB2ERERRE
At 31 December 2017 R2017£12A318
Cost A 84,188 18,664 11,520 16,121 130,493
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEMERNE (42,133) (10,873) (6,205) (7,890) (67,121)
Net carrying amount REZE 42,055 7,791 529 8,231 63,372
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. REWHE
2018 2017
20185 017E

Investment Investment

Completed properties Completed properties

investment under investment under
properties  construction Total properties construction Total
RIRENE EERENE B8 RIREME  TERRENE &%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Carrying amount at 1 January MA1RZEREE 3,630,211 2,736,598 6,366,809 2,874,193 2,226,486 5,100,679
Additions/improvements B/ hE 2,628 2,172,703 2,175,331 16,223 715,147 731,370
Transfer from properties held for sales ~ EBEEEE 332,102 - 332,102 - - -
Transfer between categories BrIEEy 310,367 (310,367) - 591,144 (591,144) =
Changes in fair values (Note 7) MEZES (Wi7) 255,560 68,584 324,144 159,731 386,109 545,840
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HENRBAR (H:757) = (369,229)  (369,229) - - -
Exchange realignment [ A% 9,857 - 9,857 (11,080) - (11,080)
Carrying amount at 31 December M2R31BZEEE 4,540,725 4,298,289 8,839,014 3,630,211 2,736,598 6,366,809
Additions to investment properties included interest expense REMEZERDREFNEEREENMEZ
of RMB2,875,000 (2017: RMB16,931,000) (Note 6) that was B X AR#28750005T (20174 © A
incurred and capitalised during the year. R#16,931,0007T) (#15#6) °
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31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

The Group’s investment properties consist of three (2017:
one) office properties, one (2017: one) business park, one
(2017: one) shopping center, two (2017: one) apartments
and seven (2017: seven) properties under construction. The
Directors have determined that the investment properties
consist of six (2017: five) classes of assets, i.e., office,
apartment, shopping centre, properties under construction
— office, property under construction — apartment and
properties under construction — shopping centre (2017: office,
apartment, shopping centre, properties under development —
office and properties under development — shopping centre),
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each
property. The Group’s investment properties were revalued
on 31 December 2018 by Shenzhen Touchstone Evaluation
and Consultancy Co., Ltd. and CBRE Inc, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at an aggregate amount
of RMB8,839,014,000 (2017: RMB6,366,809,000). Each
year, the Group’s chief executive officer decides to appoint
which external valuers to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
property managers have discussions with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results annually when
the valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

The completed investment properties were leased to third
parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 40(b)(ii) to the financial
statements.

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying value of RMB542,536,000 (2017:
RMB196,745,000) was pledged to secure other borrowings
granted to the Group.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group has obtained
certificates of land use rights for all of its investment
properties in Mainland China.

Further particulars of the Group’s major investment properties
are included on pages 314 to 315 of the annual report.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

13. REW% (&)
DPREERER

TREINAEBRENEZARBEHEEFR

5% -

Fair value measurement using

NREFEEA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ERTS EXTEER EXTABE
ZHE BAE BAE Total
(E-8) (B=H) (E=H) aE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBT R
At 31 December 2018 12018%12A318
Recurring fair value measurement for: BELEE
- Offices N - = 3,249,349 3,249,349
_ Apartments _pE - - 542,536 542,536
- Shopping centre —EYHRL - = 748,840 748,840
- Properties under construction - office -HEBYE - HNE - - 2,988,199 2,988,199
- Property under construction - apartment -HEEYE - 1B - - 81,330 81,330
- Properties under construction - shopping centre -EBNE - BYTD - - 1,228,760 1,228,760
- - 8,839,014 8,839,014
At 31 December 2017 R201712A318
Recurring fair value measurement for; BENAEME
_ Offices o - - 2733466 2733466
— Apartment . - - 196,745 196,745
- Shopping centre —EyhL - - 700,000 700,000
- Properties under construction - office -ERNE - BAE - - 1,806,000 1,806,000
- Properties under construction - shopping centre  —EE#% - BYHL - - 930,598 930,598
- - 6,366,809 6,366,809
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MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers

13. REW% (&)

RERNE-—BRE_GZENEAREFE
BB hREEBExEBEE =R (2017

into or out of Level 3 (2017: Nil). Fo|E) o

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within BRE=ZMARNBESHREEANZ AR EET
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: ¥R

Properties
Properties Property under
under under  construction
construction  construction - shopping
Shopping - office - apartment centre
Offices  Apartments centre ENE ERNE ERNE
HoE 0 B N -28 B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE¥TR  ARETR  ARETn  ARMTr  ARMTr  ARETR
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 Ro018F1A1R 2 BEE 2,733,466 196,745 700,000 1,806,000 - 930,598
Additions/improvements B/ hE 4,154 5,198 (6,724) 1,855,579 81,270 235,854
Transfer from properties held for sales BEFHENE - 332,102 - - - -
Transfer between categories BrlRes 310,367 - - (310,367) - -
Changes in fair values DAEZE 201,362 (1,366) 55,564 6,216 60 62,308
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF - - - (369,229) = -
Exchange realignment ERA% - 9,857 - - - -
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 R2018512A31A B 3,249,349 542,536 748,840 2,988,199 81,330 1,228,760
Carrying amount at 1 January 2017 ROOITE1R1A 2 BAE 2,690,024 183,969 - 1,011,600 - 1.214,886
Additions/improvements 5/ hE 5,653 10,570 - 463,698 - 251,449
Transfer between categories el - - 501,144 - - (591,144)
Changes in fair values MEZEY 37,589 13,286 108,856 330,702 - 55,407
Exchange realignment R = (11,080) S S S S
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 R017E12A31R 2 BRE 2,733,466 196,745 700,000 1,806,000 - 930,598
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MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13. REWX (&)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the TH R EREMEMERA TR ERE
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ZHMABERE
Classes of properties Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
ESE MR % EXTTBEBAE EEIMETHH
2018 2017
20185 217
Offices Income approach Reversionary rental value - Office (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 0.8-3.7 3867
g Yk RaMES - HAZ (BYARRER) (AR
Reversionary rental value - Commercial (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 70 50
BHMES - A% (BT HRREA) (AR¥T)
Reversionary rental value - Car park units (per unit and per day) (RMB) 1353 133
BENES - B (BRELRER) (ARET)
Vacancy rate 3.0%-10.0% 3.0%-6.0%
FEX
Yield rate 6.0%-7.5% 6.0%-7.5%
kS
Apartments Income approach Reversionary rental value - Apartment (per sa.ft. and per month) (USS) 2.0-2.3 19
B By BaMES - 25 (BYHREEA) (£7T)
Vacancy rate 5.0% 5.0%
PEX
Yield rate 5.0% 4.8%
Y%
Shopping centre Income approach Reversionary rental value - Commercial (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 5.6 18-4.8
Bl By BEMES - A% (BT HRRSA) (AR¥T)
Vacancy rate 4.0% 8.0%
8%
Yield rate 70% 7.0%
Gt
Properties under construction  Residual method Reversionary rental value (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 13-4.5 1.2-4.4
- office Mgk BEMES (BTAXRER) (ARER)
EENE -B0E Vacancy rate 3.0%-6.0% 5.0%-6.0%
FEX
Yield rate 6.0%:7.5% 7.0%-7.5%
ik
Development costs (RMB million) 85-1,293 209-1,369
REdA (AR%EET)
Construction period (years) 1.0-2.0 08-2.0
BRH (%)
Deducted sales profit rate 14%-25% 16%-26%
R HENER
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MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 13.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

REWME (&)
T R EREMENE R 2 HE AR E
EHAERE : (8)

(continued)
Classes of properties Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
ESE Mm% EXTTBEBAE EEIMETHY
2018 2017
20185 175
Properties under construction ~ Cost method Adjusted unit price (per sq.m.) (RMB) = 1,200-1,230
- office S BEEZEREE (BTAK) (\RER)
RNz -noE Development costs (RMB million) - 8-10
REiA (AR%EET)
Construction period (years) = 1
BRHE (%)
Deducted sales profit rate - 15%
A HENER
Property under construction  Residual method Reversionary rental value (per sq.m. and per day) (RMB) 6.5-8.0 -
- apartment ek BMES (B RRER) (AR®T)
fis =2/ SN Vacancy rate 4.0% -
TEX
Yield rate 70% =
e
Development costs (RMB million) 40 =
REiA (AR%EET)
Construction period (years) 15 =
ERE (£)
Deducted sales profit rate 10% =
R HENER
Property under construction  Residual method Reversionary rental value (per sg.m. and per day) (RMB) 4,053 -
- shopping centre A REMES (STHARER) (ARKT)
RN - BYRL Vacancy rate 4.0%6.0% _
2B%
Yield rate 6.0% S
g
Development costs (RMB million) 148-202 S
RERE (\REEET)
Construction period (years) 15-2.0 =
B ()
Deducted sales profit rate 1%-17% -
R HEREE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:
(continued)

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

REME (&)

THRFEREDERER 2FETERE
2RAERE (&)

Classes of properties Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
ESd MR % EXTTBEBAE EEIMETHY
2018 2017
20185 175
Property under Construction  Cost method Adjusted unit price (per sq.m.) (RMB) 12,700 =
- shopping centre Ak BRE/EREE (BTAK) (ARET)
EBNE - Byl Development costs (RMB million) 148 -
REA (AR%EET)
Construction period (years) 3 =
BHRE (£)
Deducted sales profit rate 6% =
i HERER
Properties under construction  Market comparison approach  Adjusted unit price (per sq.m.) (RMB) - 2,120-13,370

- shopping centre ELEE
R - Bosl

REBAEE (BTK) (ARET)

Under the income approach, the valuation takes into account
the net rental income of the properties derived from the
existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market with
due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases, which has been then capitalised to determine the
market value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

The residual method is based on the assumption that
the property is newly completed in accordance with the
development proposal in terms of property uses, respective
saleable areas and construction schedules to establish the
gross development value (“GDV”). The total development
costs including construction costs, professional fees,
infrastructure costs, management costs, financial costs
and developer’s profit are estimated and deducted from
the established GDV. The resultant residual figure is then
adjusted back to the valuation date to arrive at the market
value of the property interest concerned. The income
approach has been used in estimating the GDV.

R ex - FFATEBYEIRAELD M
ERzMERSBRNFER/ IRBEBAMS
TRIESZHESRAFE  WEEAZY
EZHEEINEEESRA - AEAMNNEE
HERABREE ZENMERETERLIA
BEHEMGEE -

RRZRBRVFECRBEERTROEZY
Rz BSVERGYRZAIHERERE
RBHRIFEEEK - AEIFHEERE ([F
BERE]D  EUER EHIRTE 2%
KABERERRIRE HXEE KRR
wE - EEER WBEBERRRERNE -
Bt BEERPREFER - Mt EHZY
XezminE - RBEEAETDRAREEER

g o
>
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

13.

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

A significant increase/(decrease) in the reversionary rental
value and GDV would in isolation result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the vacancy
rate, yield rate, development costs, construction period
and deducted sales profit rate in isolation would result in
a significant (decrease)/increase in the fair value of the
investment properties. Generally, a change in the assumption
made for the reversionary rental value is accomplished by a
directionally similar change in the yield rate and an opposite
change in the vacancy rate.

The market comparison approach is adopted by making
reference to comparable market transactions in the
assessment of the fair value of a property interest. The
approach rests on the wide acceptance of the market
transactions as the best indicator and pre-supposes that
evidence of relevant transactions in the market place can
be extrapolated to similar properties, subject to allowances
for variable factors, including the transaction date, location,
traffic condition, environmental factors,
atmosphere and size of land, etc. Moreover, the incurred

commercial

costs are also considered in the valuation.

The cost method is a method to measure the replacement
cost or reconstruction cost and depreciation of a property
at the time of value, and to deduct the depreciation of the
replacement cost or reconstruction cost to obtain the value
or price of the property.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The properties held for sale of the Group are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s properties held for sale
with a carrying value of RMB303,918,000 was pledged to
secure an other borrowing granted to the Group.
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MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BREPYE
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFIT
Land use rights (Note) T ARE (MaE) 9,763,511 10,882,220
Development costs R A 2,646,560 2,680,044
Net carrying amount at the end R REFERZREFE 12,410,071 13,562,264

of the financial year

Note: The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments for parcels of land in the PRC.

Additions to properties under development during the
year included interest expense of RMB29,517,000 (2017:
RMB103,201,000) (Note 6) that was incurred and capitalised
during the year.

At 31 December 2018, the Group has obtained certificates
of land use rights for all of its properties under development
in Mainland China (2017: application for certificates of land
use rights of certain properties under development situated
in Mainland China with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB3,609,938,000 was still in progress).

Wret : FREBRLIEFES B T
B RR NG LRl E

REEHEPMEZEIOEERNEEND
AR ZFBHZ A ARK29,517,0007T
(20174 : AR#103,201,0007T) (41:16) -

M2018F12A31H * NE B AL B K FBE
ZERTPYEHERS I HERFE(2017: &
FRRPEREZERPYEZ T HERAE
HEDERET  HEEBEREAARYE
3,609,938,0007T) °
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31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

16. PREPAYMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF A LAND 1
USE RIGHT
The balance represented the prepayment paid for acquisition

of a land use right for a parcel of land in Mainland China at
public land auction.

=

W s £ 3t 65 P A 2 AT SRR

BRERAHLIHMAES EBEMRPEX
BEMbIR 2 T30 ARSI 2 BN & -

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REERFRZKRE
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Share of net assets EIEEEFE 7,729,417 5,798,727
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEL PR 48,766 48,766

B

Loan to a joint venture (Note)

7,778,183 5,847,493

WEE e ER (Hat) 25,000 25,000

7,803,183 5,872,493

Note: The loan to a joint venture is unsecured and not repayable
within one year. In the opinion of the directors, the loans
are unlikely to be repaid in the foreseeable future and are
considered as part of the Group's net investments in joint
ventures.

The Group’s other loans to/from and balances with joint

ventures are disclosed in notes 31 and 32 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17.

Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are as
follows:

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

Percentage of
Adlt
Place of registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal

Name of joint ventures and business Registered share capital interest power sharing activities

RELNRER ERREENE EMEAZEE  FiEER FE  AESER IEER

Beijing Jinshui Real Estate Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 50 50 50 Property development
Company Limited” (*Jinshui’) =YD AR 50,000,000 in Mainland China

IReKEHERERRAR [2K]) RAEAENEER

Shenzhen City Longcheng Guangchang PRC/Mainland China RMB 10,000,000 33 33 33 Property development
Real Estate Development Company =YD AR 10,000,000 in Mainland China
Limited"* (“Longcheng Guangchang”) RPEAENEER

MITEIES R EREARAT
([EE5))

Guangzhou Guangdian Property PRC/Mainland China RMB360,000,000 74 74 74 Property development
Development Group Shares Co., Lid.*  $8 /REAE AR #360,000,0007C and investment and
([Guangdian]) investment holding in

ENEERHEREEERNERAR Mainland China
([BE]) e

NERRARE
AR

*

For identification purposes only
The above investments are indirectly held by the Company.

Jinshui, Longcheng Guangchang and Guangdian and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Guangdian Group”), which are
considered material joint ventures of the Group, are engaged
in property development and investment in Mainland China
and are accounted for using the equity method.

* EHHF

LIRERRRRIFFEERE °

AEERREK - BRESREEEEKNE
RE (G EERE]) RAKEZERS
BRF ZERERARTEREALEY
EERIIREER - AEBERBEDEHE
EITRE -
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17.

The summarised financial information in respect of Jinshui,
Longcheng Guangchang and Guangdian Group adjusted for

REELQRZRE (&)

DK EREESREEEEEAEESTHK
RAETHBRZVBENGE  UAREPE

any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the WMRREBEZHERENOT :
carrying amounts in the financial statements, is as follows:
Jinshui
/N
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBEFTT
Cash and cash equivalents RekBLEHEEE 1,099,178 770,929
Other current assets Hivmeh & e 2,910,208 1,955,758
Current assets MEEE 4,009,386 2,726,687
Non-current assets FEMBNEE 63 79
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEEENBESERREM = =
other payables ERERzEmAaE
Other current liabilities HivmehaE (2,466,286) (1,581,148)
Current liabilities mEBAER (2,466,286)  (1,581,148)
Net assets BEFE 1,543,163 1,145,618
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest BAREEELREE AR
in the joint venture: R HER
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE B 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture, — et APgE 2 A& E &L 771,581 572,809
excluding goodwill HGENTEEFE
Elimination of unrealised profits with IS LN R AREREF (967) (1,292)
the joint venture
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 770,614 571,517
Revenue I A 1,888,225 4,796,826
Interest income F B A 2,127 6,727
Depreciation e = (90)
Tax N (267,511) (928,238)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AFEE G R EHELEGE WSE5E 495,875 1,060,880
Dividend received B AR E - 170,335
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Notes to the Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17.

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

REEQRZRE (&)
Longcheng Guangchang

R ES
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFTT
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEIER 34,015 204,724
Other current assets HEMRBEE 6,510,715 5,995,159
Current assets MEVEE 6,544,730 6,199,883
Non-current assets ERBEE 131 692
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEIERMNE SRR R EA (999,500) (203,900)
other payables ENERzcRBE
Other current liabilities HivmehaE (4,322,915)  (4,514,866)
Current liabilities BB E (5,322,415)  (4,718,766)
Non-current liabilities ETBBE = (701,800)
Net assets BERE 1,222,446 780,009
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest A B ELNEGEARER
in the joint venture: HAR
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE 2 BB 33% 33%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture, et APgE 2 A& E (L 403,407 257,403
excluding goodwill BENRIEESRE
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 403,407 257,403
Revenue I A 4,357,302 2,734,352
Interest income F 2 A 4,227 2,894
Depreciation e - _
Tax I8 (728,083) (648,027)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AREEGF R 2 LA WS E5E 1,067,415 782,693
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17.

&g

REZRE (&)

Guangdian Group

BEEEE
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSEEIEE 3,677,499 4,220,873
Other current assets HEMRBEE 24,944,519 26,785,766
Current assets MBNEE 28,622,018 31,006,639
Non-current assets IEMBEE 3,688,199 3,179,788
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and TEEERNESERR (140,000)  (6,848,150)
other payables HtEMERZ A E
Other current liabilities EMnsaE (22,441,963) (17,636,400)
Current liabilities MENEE (22,581,963) (24,484 ,556)
Non-current liabilities EmBAE (7,869,410)  (7,802,305)
Net assets BEFE 1,858,844 1,899,566
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR AR R M = (247,708) 24,968
Net assets attributable to owners of FERNEEEEIFEAEAZ 1,611,136 1,924,534
Guangdian Group BETHE
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest HAEBEEEGE QR
in the joint venture R
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REE 2 BRI 74% 74%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture, Tt ARGE 7 AN &= E (L 1,192,241 1,424,155
excluding goodwill SENRAETE
Elimination of unrealised profit with the joint HIHMEE N AR IR T (19,383) (19,821)
venture
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 1,172,858 1,404,334
Revenue I A 6,466,795 2,849,840
Interest income FEUWA 13,277 5,190
Depreciation e (5,385) (1,741)
Tax MIA (462,673) (138,014)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ZANFEHF| N2 HELGA W E5 167,404 67,319
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Notes to the Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

17. REERAZRE (&)
TREAAEEENTBEAEE AR ZH

information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not BERBE
individually material:
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Share of the joint ventures’ profits and EiEE&ERRANEERE 638,878 349,142
losses for the year
Share of the joint ventures’ other comprehensive fE{E& & AT AEE 86,022 (99,659)
income/(loss) for the year Emrmika(EE)
Share of the joint ventures’ total comprehensive  JE{EA L AT AEE 724,900 249,483
income for the year FHEREREE
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REERGERBIREZ 5,456,304 3,639,239
investments in the joint ventures BRI E AT
HREEETAEARIZEEBEAEER

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share
of losses of certain joint ventures because of the share of
losses of these joint ventures exceeded the Group’s interests
in these joint ventures and the Group has no obligation
to take up further losses. The amounts of the Group’s
unrecognised share of losses of these joint ventures for the
current year and, cumulatively were RMB120,898,000 and
RMB175,244,000 respectively (2017: RMB49,662,000 and
RMB54,346,000 respectively).

ZERERAZIRE - MAEE INER G
BE—PZER RHASERIEHERER
EZEEERRZER - NEBAFRERT
FERELRZSEAERAEEINAAR
#120,898,0007T & A R #175,244,0007T
(20174 : o Bl & A R#49,662,0007T & A
R#54,346,0007T) °
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEQATZ®’E
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

Share of net assets ELEERE 2,032,307 44,658

Loan to an associate (Note) U ER &N R B R (B AE) 588,078 588,078

2,620,385 632,736

Note: The loan to an associate is unsecured, non-interest- Bt : JEREFE NGB R A - 2.8 RE

bearing and not repayable within one year. In the opinion AR —FREE - EFRBZEATA

of the directors, the loan is unlikely to be repaid in the ] BETE A] 78 52,2 K M [B] - B Ut #7545 7%
foreseeable future and is considered as part of the FEFRBE NG REFE 5 -

Group’s net investments in associates.

The Group’s other loans from an associate and balances with HMAEE 2 B2 QR ERREEE R
associates are disclosed in notes 31 and 32 to the financial A) 2 48R 5 B AN B 75 3R 3R I 5131 K 32%
statements, respectively. B -
The Group did not have any associate that was individually M2018F12A31H - A& E W &R B E KX
material at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil). ZEEEAT] (20176 &) o
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TREMAEBGANTBEKREE AT 2
information of the Group’s associates that are not individually BEREE
material:
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTF T ARETT

Share of the associates’ profits and losses JEMREG & R RANFE R (5,805) 2,971
for the year

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive JE(REEE R RIAEE (5,805) 2,971
income for the year 2HEREREE

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REEBRBENRREZ 2,620,385 632,736
investments in associates SREERR

234 Gemdale Properties and Investment Corporation Limited € it B &£ E AR A 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. EFEE
Property management
contracts
NEETEEN
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated amortisation FA 1A 1B - 1K B RE#E Y 48,076 38,950
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) WHEM B AR (B77235) - 17,353
Amortisation during the year (Note 7) N (MaE7) (8,228) (8,227)
At 31 December ®12H31H 39,848 48,076
At 31 December ®12A31H
Cost (D% 58,402 58,402
Accumulated amortisation BT (18,554) (10,326)
Net carrying amount REFE 39,848 48,076

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 20. AtHE£miEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Unlisted equity investments (Note a) ELETARERE (Hfita) - 40,045
Unlisted debt investment (Note b) FELEMERRE (Hitb) - 20,000
- 60,045

Non-current portion JEBNERER (D - (60,045)

Current portion FIEERAE) = -

Notes: st -

(a) At 31 December 2017, the Group’s unlisted equity (a) R20174F 12318 » 7K & [B A5 H (8 42
investments with an aggregate carrying amount of BIA KR 140,045,0007T 2 FF_F TR 1#E 1%
RMBA40,045,000 was stated at cost less impairment. B TGI% K A B A5 Bt 18 T 21k e

(b) At 31 December 2017, the Group’s unlisted debt (b))  R2017F12A31H » KEF KB ENA
investment with a carrying amount of RMBZ20,000,000 F#20,000,0007T.2 3 _F T ERRETS
was stated at cost less impairment. FZK A (G HIBR R (8 [T 5l AR o

At as 31 December 2017, certain unlisted equity investments MR2017412A318 - HEF I EmRERE

with a carrying amount of RMB40,045,000 were stated at IR E 1B A R #40,045,0007T 73 1% 5K 2 R, Bk

cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair BENE  AREGBRAREGMTHEEAE
value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the Z AMEZERBEQRABERENSEHE
opinion that their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The 2 AEBUAITERNSHRNLEZSEIEL

Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future. MIRHERE -
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MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THOUGH 21. UAARETEEEZE:T AHMEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

WECEMEE
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETTT

Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income
— Unlisted equity investments, at fair value

Debt investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income

DB BEHEZERE
FEAEMEE WS 2 RIERE
— FFLEMERERE - BAARE 143,742 -

UAREtEREZEHT AHM
EHWE 2 EERE

— Unlisted debt investment, at fair value —JELETEERE BARE 18,814 -

162,556 S

Non-current portion FEBNEREL (7 (162,556) -

Current portion IR = -

The above equity investments were irrecoverably designated AR AR BR R Ll IR AE S A R RS

at fair value through other comprehensive income as the B MZERETAHEMEERADAE
Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature. ATEEHEB I A MR ERE -
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MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

TRADE RECEIVABLES W E 5 R
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Trade receivables BUE HRR 18,061 18,392
Impairment A = (920)
18,061 17,472

Trade receivables represent rental and property management
fee receivables. Rental and property management fee
receivables are billed in advance and are payable by
tenants/residents upon receipts of billings within an average
credit term of one month.

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant
credit terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the reporting
date, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

RUEZRFERREASREERE - &
WHRERMEERBTELBEHERE  H
B/ EPRIRIIRERIN - THEESRR
—fE&A -

EEFRBAT  AERETERETFRHE
EH - AEEE RO Z B RGRIR RS BRIS
ZHRIREFEREEERR - BHIFIARER
EREEL TSR o BRI RERAE
B REBESEFTSRBRETRER » A
SEVERAEERTZEERR - AREYL &
SERYE ZRFERFTEEMNERRIE
MERERTA BUBESRABIFMER
B 2 T o

MBBRRERRZEBEE SRR (AERA
HIRE) RE R R ZREDITMOT

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFTT

Within 1 month —@BZA 16,641 15,867
1 to 3 months —z=={dA 116 158
Over 3 months =@AE 1,304 1,447
18,061 17,472
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22,

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

FEW & 2 BR X (

PR 505 S BN [ RS 2 B S
mF -

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TR ARETTT

At 1 January ®1A1H 920 605

(Reversal of impairment losses)/ CR{EBKERE) (920) 315
impairment losses, net (Note 7) BEEXK - F8E (KaE7)

At 31 December ®12H31H - 920

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written
off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

The financial impact of ECL for trade receivables under

HKFRS 9 is insignificant for the year ended 31 December
2018.
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Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables, which was measured based on incurred credit
losses under HKAS 39, as at 31 December 2017 was
a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
RMB920,000 with a carrying amount before provision of
RMB920,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 related to customers that were in financial
difficulties or were in default in interest and/or principal
payments and the receivables are not expected to be
recovered.

As at 31 December 2017, the aging analysis of the trade
receivables that were not individually nor collectively

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

B ZE2017F12831B Lt EERBEEES
sHERISE395E TR 2 RE

BIEEBEHERIE395 KD BRLEEE
KBEMAE 2 Fii20179F12831H E UK
BOERBAEREBERERBEINRAEAA
R #920,0007t 2 @RI E L BRBEZ B E
S IRFFTTER 2R ER#E AR 920,0007T °

M2017412A318 - @7 & 3R FE 2 E
B 5 8RR R E T R B 5 R 2 s H R R B
/SRR ZEE  ZSEKRRTER
ENE

R2017F 128318 - BIEE B EAFH
SO AR AR A E B S8 H IR RE 2 FEUR

considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows: BORRZEER AT
RMB’000
ARBEFTT
Neither past due nor impaired KRB R AR B RE 15,555
Less than 1 month past due BEIL R —EA 558
1 to 3 months past due mE—= =18 A =
More than 3 months past due mEA= AL L 1,359
17,472

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company were of the opinion that no
provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary
in respect of these balances as there had not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances were
still considered fully recoverable.

AP RREREZEBRET S RBEZ TR
BP  ZEEPORYERRLCHE -

EHE R A RE R RARE AR
FHEBRBISRBIES - BEBEE
B EERAE ANCHEZTEEARD
A B AR AT ERKE - B
BT S G LB E0R M R BT BB LR
R -
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23. PREPAYMENTS,
RECEIVABLES

DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23.

BANRE - RERAMEYIRR

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T

Deposits and other receivables Ze R EMERERR 1,363,045 2,670,725

Less: impairment allowance OB (10,657) (6,678)

Deposits and other receivables, net Re MEMmEIERTR - JF5E 1,352,388 2,664,047

Loans receivable (Note a) R E R (Hfita) 2,320,493 2,102,363

Less: impairment allowance B BB (256,492) (144,324)

Loans receivable, net FEWER - FEE 2,064,001 1,958,039

Prepayments FEfHFIE 843,711 1,166,558

Prepaid other taxes and surcharges (Note b) AN EMF RS NE (B itb) 737,780 372,862

Cost of obtaining contracts WS & RMEE 2 KA 63,483 -

Others Hith 86,819 24,625

5,148,182 6,186,131

Non-current portion FERNERER 1D (1,869,398) (2,046,634)

Current portion BVERER 17 3,278,784 4,139,497

Notes: Htet -

(a) The amounts represent loans made to customers of (a) TR TAEE | EREREESE
the Group’s micro-financing business. Included in the B o B EIER T AR A2 B A A]
balance were bridging loans of RMB44,960,000 (2017: REFAEEEZXHNE L A (2017
RMB484,680,000) which were granted to customers F RN ZHBEARE - AEEFHE
for buying properties developed by a subsidiary of the NA BETEENBRARE TEEZE
Company and certain fellow subsidiaries of the Group RE]) TERYEZ EFRBEEMA
(2017: a subsidiary of the Company, an associate, certain £ #44,960,0005T (2017 : A K B
fellow subsidiaries and certain related companies of the 484,680,000T) °
Group).

(b) The amounts mainly represent value-added tax, other (b) THETEENEERAYE NI 5 E

taxes and surcharges prepaid for the sales deposits
received from the pre-sale of properties in the PRC.
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Other receivables and loans receivable

Except for the following receivables, other receivables are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayment on demand.

(i) At 31 December 2018, an other receivables amounting
to RMB357,688,000 (2017: RMB852,688,000) are
unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.35% (2017: 4.35%)
and repayment on demand.

(i) At 31 December 2018, an other receivable of
RMB117,474,000 is unsecured, interest-bearing a
8% and repayment on demand (2017: Nil).

—

(iii) At 31 December 2018, an other receivable of
RMB369,251,000 is unsecured, interest-bearing a
8% and repayable within one year (2017: Nil).

—

(iv) At 31 December 2017, an other receivable amounting
to RMB150,000,000 was secured by the equity share
of a PRC property development company. The
receivable was interest-bearing at 120% of the RMB
lending rate offered by the People’s Bank of China
per annum and repayable within one year. The other
receivable was received during the year.

All loans receivable are interest-bearing at rates ranging
from 8.4% to 24.0% (2017: from 4.32% to 28.8%) per annum
with repayment terms from 1 month to 5 years (2017: from
4 days to 5 years). Certain loans receivable amounting to
RMB1,842,889,000 (2017: RMB781,490,000) are secured
by the other properties of the borrowers or their affiliates,
or rent receivable of their other properties (2017: by the
other properties of the borrowers or their affiliates, or rent
receivable of their other properties), while the remaining
loans receivable are unsecured.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

L fth i U R K B2 FE W B R

BTz FEMORFRSN - B b EUBR SR T B IR
o B RIREREERE

(i) M2018% 128318 » E Ml A
R #357,688,0007T (20174 : AR
#852,688,0007C) JH &K I - F B
B F F E4.35% (20174F : 4.35%)
MAR BRI EE -

(ii) M2018% 128318 » Uk A
R¥117,474,0007 Ty E I IH - FI 8
BENESwN R IZ BREEE (2017
F ) e

(iiiy  P2018%F12A31H « E b E U A
R #369,251,0007T /5 - F 8
BEN K8 Rz B KK EIE (2017
Fom)o

(iv)  M2017F12A318 » EERZRA
R #150,000,0007C FHBI A — R ¥ %
BERAT ZRBEEERR - ZEMEIR
RABIRPBAARRITAREE A
K EF20% T E RBR—FRERE -
ZE A FE WK E A AN Uk [E] -

FTBRKRERFEBFFERS 4%E24.0%
(20174 : H4.32%%28.8%) M & 7 Hi |
—EAZEREFE (2017F : HWKERF) -
BrE T EKE R AR1,842,889,0007T
(20174 : AR¥781,490,0007T) HEZA
REBRBzHMYWEREMYE L EKES
{EIK IR (20174 « RfERASKE B 2 HAh
VISR ¥ BT S BRI I -
W E BTy o
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2018 12 A 31 H

23. PREPAYMENTS,
RECEIVABLES (continued)

DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23.

Other receivables and loans receivable (continued)

The movements in provisions for impairment of other
receivables and loans receivable are as follows:

ANME - REREMEWIERR (&)

Hitt B R R ERER (&)

Hih U R R R W E R 2 REREZ S
™

(a)  Other receivables (a) H b UL BR 3K
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
At 1 January »1H1H 6,678 4,640
Impairment losses recognised (Note 7) BRI EEE (AL7) 5,534 4,854
Impairment losses reversed (Note 7) BB EREE (A7) (1,579) (2,145)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B BT B8 1 ) = 161
Disposal of subsidiaries i E BT A Al (28) (793)
Exchange realignment [E A8 52 (39)
At 31 December W12A31H 10,657 6,678

(b)  Loans receivable (b) ERER

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
At 1 January ®W1A1H 144,324 51,248
Impairment losses recognised (Note 7) BRERBEEE (Mit7) 112,168 93,496
Amount written off as uncollectible s A e & 58 = (420)
At 31 December ©®12H31H 256,492 144,324

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date.
Where no comparable companies with credit ratings can be
identified, expected credit losses are estimated by applying
a loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss
record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. As at 31 December 2018, the loss
rate of other receivables applied was 1% and the loss rates
of loans receivable applied were ranging from 4% to 100%.

Except for certain other receivables and loans receivable
which are impaired, none of the above assets is impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.
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24.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RESTRICTED CASH, DEPOSITS, BANK AND 24.

CASH BALANCES

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

ZRERE - TR BRORBESER

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%ET T ARBT T

Cash and bank balances (Note a) Re RiRITREER (Mita) 4,033,135 6,237,149
Time deposits (Note a) EBER (Hita) 67,687 314,171
4,100,822 6,551,320

Less: Restricted cash (Note b) W XIREIES (HiEb) (862,902)  (1,155,555)
3,237,920 5,395,765

Notes:

(a) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and one year
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective time deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

(b) At 31 December 2018, the amount mainly represents
proceeds received from sale of properties in the PRC
amounting to RMBB860,894,000 which are confined to
the usage of construction work. At 31 December 2017,
the amount mainly represented guarantee deposits
placed with designated bank accounts amounting to
approximately RMB61,844,000 for construction projects
undertaken by certain property development companies
of the Group and proceeds received from sale of
properties in the PRC amounting to RMB1,093,649,000
which are confined to the usage of construction work.

At the end of the reporting period, deposits, bank and
cash balances of the Group denominated in RMB, HKS$,
United States dollars (“US$”) and Euro amounted to
RMB3,825,106,000, RMB38,646,000, RMB237,067,000
and RMBS3,000, respectively (2017: RMB, HK$, US$ and
Euro amounted to RMB6,153,498,000, RMB226,906,000,
RMB170,912,000 and RMB4,000, respectively). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

#at -

(a)  RITAEBIRIRTTEAFANEZZBF
K o THFXFHHTE B —
RE—FIE BFPAEEEL
HeFEME @ WK E 7N
FEB o BRITA R TR AT B HEIE 4T
AR AIEEBRIFZRIT -

(b) 20184 12H31H  #Z 2 ELX EAH
BPEREFREZT LB AYE
HE R85k A #860,894,000T » I
2017F12H31H  Z£BEEHKE
BEFYEERNFGEZLETEMFEA
ZIREFEEHIN EB61,844,0007T R FHis
SREFREZT R LZEAYEHE
Hri83 A B8 1,093,649,0007T °

RWERR ZEEBZARE - B X
T (ET] EBTHFER RITEBE 4
8% 9 B AR #3,825106,000T © A R
38,646,0007T * A R #237,067,0007T & A
R #3,0007T (20176 : AR® - B X
T K& Bt H Rl & A R #6,153,498,0007T
AER#226,906,0007T + ARE170,912,000
TR ARE4,0005T) - AR TEEE R AR
FREMER ; A - RIEF B AKREINEE R
1EHIFI4ELE - SIEREEERBRTE  A%EE
RABETEITIINEEB ZRTT - BAR
B SRR A EMEE o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

25. ISSUED CAPITAL 25. BRITRA
(a) Authorised and issued capital (a) ZEEREBITIRE
Details of the changes in the Company’s authorised RRBVEERBBEITRAZ NFEE 1A
and issued capital between the beginning and the REBHIIWT :
end of the year are set out below:
2018 2017
2018%F 0178
Equivalent to Equivalent to
Number of RMB’000 Number of RMB'000
shares HK$'000 EES shares HK$'000 BER
RHEE BT ARETT BOELE BT ARETT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each  EBRERBEH0. 107
Authorised: R
At 1 January and 31 December MA1BR12R31E 40,000,000,000 4,000,000 40,000,000,000 4,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRAR:
At 1 January MA1R 15,861,723,827 1,586,172 1,438,153 15,793,467,827 1,579,347 1,432,193
Issue of new shares on exercise TEBRERETL 12,990,000 1,299 1,058 68,256,000 6,825 5,960
of share options (i) R
At 31 December #M2A31A 15,874,713,827 1,587471 1,439,211 15,861,723,827 1,586,172 1,438,153

(i) During the year, the subscription rights attaching
to 3,490,000 and 9,500,000 share options were
exercised at an exercise price of HK$0.55 and
HK$0.44 per share respectively and resulting in
the issue of a total of 12,990,000 new shares of
the Company at a nominal value of HK$0.10 each
for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HK$6,099,500 (equivalent to RMB4,968,000). The
proceeds from these exercise of share options
would be applied for general working capital of
the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

25. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 25. BRITHRA (&)
(b)  Share option schemes (b) EBRESTE
A summary of the share option schemes of the RARERESEMESNERPE
Company are set out in the section headed “Share FewnE [ERETE] —fR- M
Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of the annual RERESHE R2016F 5B - At
report. No share-based compensation expenses were RE BRI SRR R B AR
recognised by the Group arising from options vested FEEZROME A X (20174 ¢
during the year (2017: Nil) as all share options were ) o

vested in 2016.

(i) Movements (i) g
Movements in the number of share options FRBAITEBRECEHE &
outstanding and their related weighted E 2 EEMNETHTEEZ
average exercise prices during the year are BEnT
as follows:
2018 2017
20184 20175
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price exercise price
per share per share
SR MAE Number of SR Number of
F9171EE share THTEE share
HK$ options HK$ options
B BREHE o BRERR
At 1 January ®1A18 0.6078 958,886,000 0.6014  1,057,053,000
Exercised Gt 0.4696  (12,990,000) 04521 (68,256,000)
Lapsed S = = 0.7390 (29,911,000)
At 31 December M2A31H 0.6097 945,896,000 0.6078 958,886,000
At the end of the reporting period, out of the 945,896,00017 (20174 :
945,896,000 (2017: 958,886,000) outstanding 958,886,00017) i K17 <
options, all share options (2017: 958,886,000) BRESR  RBREHKRAE
were exercisable. WARTTE 2 ARSI 1T

(20174F : 958,886,00017 ) °
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

25. ISSUED CAPITAL (continued) 25. ERITREX (&)
(b)  Share option schemes (continued) (b) EBREE (&)
(i)  Exercise prices (i)  1TEE
The exercise prices and exercise periods of PR A R e R AT B IR
the share options outstanding as at the end of ZITEBERITHEHNT ¢
the reporting period are as follows:
2018 2017
20185 20175
Exercise price Number of Exercise price Number of
158 share 1R share
Date of grant Exercise period HK$ options HK$ options
Riti B TEH B BREZE B BREEA
07/01/2013 07/01/2014 - 06/01/2023 0.550 134,730,000 0.550 138,220,000
20/05/2013 20/05/2014 - 19/05/2023 0.792 413,866,000 0.792 413,866,000
29/12/2014 29/12/2015 - 28/12/2024 0.440 397,300,000 0.440 406,800,000
945,896,000 958,886,000
(iii) All share options granted were vested and (iif) FIBREZBRECREH
exercisable in full in 2017 in accordance with EARNBHEIEEZ R
the vesting period set out in their respective HR2017F 2 HEBRA T
offer letters. PATTEE -
26. RESERVES 26. f#fe

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 121
to 122 of the annual report.

The merger reserves of the Group represent the differences
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital
of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor pursuant
to the business combination taking place on 29 October
2013.
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27.

28.

Notes to the Financial Statements

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the reporting
date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

27. BENERERXK
ENESERXR (UERAHA/E) RREA

B ZBRES DTN T
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBFTT

Within 1 month —BmAZA
1 to 3 months —=={@A
Over 3 months =@AME

837,211 1,237,830
657,199 76,524
516,544 223,018

2,010,954 1,637,372

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within an average term of one month.

ADVANCED RECEIPTS, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES

ENESERAEEABERTH—MEAR

28. FAWFE - B REREARHEMBEMSK

=h
TA

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBET T

Contract liabilities (Note) ERARE (i) 19,126,077 =
Sales deposits received BUHE RS - 13,937,016
Advanced rental receipts AW S A 38,323 37,771
Deferred income (Note 41(a)(i)) REWA (HTaE41(a)(i) 7,097 10,251
Rental and other deposits received BEERETES 140,841 103,717
Accrued expenses EETIRE F 196,486 190,651
Other payables HAth FERT AR 516,380 357,922

20,025,204 14,637,328

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

Hip AR Ty EER - 28 REREEER
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MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

28. ADVANCED RECEIPTS, ACCRUALS AND OTHER  28.

PAYABLES (continued)

Note:

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1
January 2018 are as follows:

RAWRE - Bt RRARHtEM R

Ve

(&)
Wizt

R2018F 12H31H R20184F1H1H.2 & A A
EFIERT

31 December 1 January
2018 2018

20184 20184
12A31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Short-term advances received from customers WELZ F > 58 BBTE N 4IE

— Sale of properties —MEHE

19,126,077 13,793,282

Total contract liabilities ARaERsE

19,126,077 13,793,282

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver properties. The increase in contract liabilities in
2018 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the pre-sale of
properties during the year.
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As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided
guarantees to certain banks in respect of mortgages
granted by banks relating to the mortgage loans
arranged for purchasers of the Group’s properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulting purchasers to
the banks and the Group is entitled but not limited
to take over the legal titles and possession of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee period
starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and ends upon issuance of the real estate
ownership certificates. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group’s outstanding guarantees amounted to
RMB1,626,646,000 (2017: RMB3,148,594,000).

The Directors consider that the fair value of the
guarantees is not significant and in case of defaulting
payments, the net realisable value of the related
properties will be sufficient to cover the outstanding
mortgage principals, the accrued interest and penalty.
Therefore, no provision has been made in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: Nil) for these guarantees.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
a maximum guarantee of US$70,950,000 (equivalent
to RMB486,944,000) (2017: US$70,950,000
(equivalent to RMB463,601,000)) to a group of
financial institutions for a facility granted to a joint
venture of the Group. As at 31 December 2018,
the facility guaranteed by the Group to the joint
venture was utilised to the extent of approximately
RMB486,944,000 (2017: RMB463,601,000).

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

R2018F 128318 © BB ITIREIE
BERTAEEMECZER - A5H
MZEE TIRTRERER - RIBER
G BEREERBXRIZIBHIE @ K
EEBEEEARITEEZSEHEXNER
ZAEBERBASEREMNF B RS
o MAEBBEETRERAEEEH
MEZEEMEEREEERE - K
SECRERUARABRHEBLEER
HREBRBRELEMEFSES AL -
R2018F12A31H » A% E 1\ & 4
B ZER A AR 1,626,646,000
70 (20174 © A R #3,148,594,000
JT) °

BEERRERZAANELETEKR - I
BWHERERERFIBER - B@EME
Z AR EE R AR R EERE
A EANFERIR Bt HE
2018F12A31H L FEW ERZE
BERARV B HREANTIRER (2017
Fm|E)o

RBREHR - HEeREBR
tEETFTAEE -—REEQT -
AREFERZATHREBRESES
Z{R %8 5 % 770,950,000 (M F R
A R #486,944,0007T) (20174 :
3% 70,950,000 (48 & W A R &
463,601,0007T) © M2018F 12 A
31 AASBEERMEMR T Z
AERNAZHEECHAOARE
486,944,0007T (20174 : A R ¥
463,601,0007T) °

I
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MR MR

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

30.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. MEH{TREMER
BORROWINGS
2018 2017
20185 0175
Effective Effective Maturity
annual interest Maturity annual interest ~ (Financial year)
rate (%)  (Financial year) RMB000 rate (%) 5 RMB'000
ERERIZ() HHEHREE) AEETT  EBEFE%) (BBRFE) ARETT
Current ik
Bank borrowings BITER
- Unsecured (Note &) -8R (Wida) 3.03-5.22 2019 1,138,519 310~4.33 2018 1,085,600
Current portion of long term bank RESTER
borrowing ki)
- Unsecured (Note a) - BER (Wia) 4.43 2019 169,521 = = =
Current portion of long term REEHET
other borrowings R
- Secured (Note b) - BHR (Wit 4,025 2019 2,141 4025 2018 1957
1,310,181 1,087,557
Non-current E i)
Bank borrowings RITER
- Unsecured (Note a) -8R (Fida) 371 2020 429,338 334 2019 161,395
Other borrowings HpEH
- Secured (Note b) - HHR (W) 4,025 -4.222 2020-2025 320,993 3.37-4.02 2021-2024 307,804
750,331 469,199
2,060,512 1,556,756
Notes: Biat -

(a) A fellow subsidiary of the Company has guaranteed
certain of the Group’s bank borrowings up
RMB 169,521,000 as at the end of the reporting period
(2017: RMB326,710,000).

to

(b) The other borrowings are secured by the Group’s
investment properties with an aggregate carrying value
of RMB542,536,000 at the end of the reporting period
(2017: an investment property and a property held
for sale with carrying values of RMB196,745,000 and
RMB303,918,000, respectively).
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30.

Notes to the Financial Statements

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30.

BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are repayable
as follows:

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

MERTREMER (&)

FEEEMBRITREMERINT ¢

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T ARBET T

Within one year or on demand R—FE AT EREEE 1,310,181 1,087,557

In the second year RE_FR 435,292 163,434

In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZFZ2FRFRN - 119,407 115,632
BIEEREMF

Over five years HEMR 195,632 190,133

2,060,512 1,556,756

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings at the reporting date were denominated in the
following currencies:

RBEHB - MERTEREMERZEREE
BRIATERLK

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARBET T

HK$ Pk
Uss ET

1,567,857 758,890
492,655 797,866

2,060,512 1,556,756

100% (2017: 100%) of interest-bearing bank borrowings and
65% (2017: 65%) of interest-bearing other borrowings of the
Group are at floating rate basis. The remaining 35% (2017:
35%) of interest-bearing other borrowings is at fixed rate of
4.025% (2017: 4.025%) per annum.

100% (20174 : 100%) K ERITE R &
65% (20174 : 65%) M B A M E R TIIRF
B R B o 82 T35% (20174 : 35%) ft
BHEHME K IIEEE F F E4.025% (2017
fF:4.025%) 58 °
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M RR M

31 December 2018
2018 12 A 31 H

31. LOANS TO/(FROM) RELATED PARTIES 31. FBW (ER) BESER
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Loans to joint ventures (Note a) FEWELARER (Hita) 1,084,622 948,397
Loans to related companies (Note b) e B AR E R (Batb) 2,261,200 370,000
Loans to non-controlling shareholders (Note ¢) R FEIERR IR E R (HTatc) 57,155 41,377
3,402,977 1,359,774
Loans from the ultimate holding company (Note d) FEfISKIZE/RATIE R (Hf:2d) (948,641)  (5,240,113)
Loans from fellow subsidiaries (Note e) ENREMBARER (fite) (2,736,938) (2,593,722)
Loans from joint ventures (Note f) B E&ERRER (M) (23,175) (154,000)
Loans from an associate (Note g) B E RRER (Hitg) (292,040) =
(4,000,794)  (7,987,835)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The balances are denominated in RMB and US$
amounting to RMB873,296,000 and RMB211,326,000
(2017: RMB747,202,000 and RMB201,195,000),
respectively. The balances denominated in RMB are
unsecured, interest-bearing at rates ranging from 4.35%
to 12% (2017: 4.35% to 12%) per annum and repayable
within one year (2017: within one year). The balance
denominated in US$ is unsecured, interest-bearing at
11% (2017: 11%) per annum and repayable within one
year (2017: within one year). The carrying amounts of the
balances approximate to their fair values.

The related companies are subsidiaries of a substantial
shareholder of one of the non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company. The balances are unsecured,
interest-bearing at the RMB lending rate offered by the
People’s Bank of China (“PBOC lending rate”) (2017:
PBOC lending rate) and repayable within one year (2017:
one year). The balances are denominated in RMB. The
carrying amounts of the balances approximate to their
fair values.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31. LOANS TO/(FROM) RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

(g)

The balances are denominated in RMB and US$
amounting to RMB28,000,000 and RMB29, 155,000 (2017:
RMB20,000,000 and RMB21,377,000), respectively. The
balances are unsecured and repayable within one year.
The balance denominated in RMB is interest-bearing
at the PBOC lending rate (2017: the RMB deposit rate
offered by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC deposit
rate”)), and the balances denominated in US$ are
interest-bearing at 4.5% (2017: 4%) per annum. The
carrying amounts of the balances approximate to their
fair values.

The balances are unsecured, interest-bearing at the PBOC
lending rate (2017: PBOC lending rate) and repayable
within one year. The balances are denominated in RMB.
The carrying amounts of the balances approximate to
their fair values.

The balances are denominated in HK$ and US$ amounting
to RMB2,604,478,000 and RMB132,460,000 (2017:
RMB2,593,722,000 and Nil), respectively. The balances
denominated in HK$ are unsecured, interest-bearing at
5.06% (2017: 4.31%) per annum and repayable within
two years (2017: within two years), and the balances
denominated in US$ are unsecured, interest-bearing at
3.0% per annum and repayable within one year.

The balances are unsecured, interest-bearing at the
PBOC deposit rate and the PBOC lending rate (2017:
PBOC deposit rate), and repayable on demand. The
balances are denominated in RMB. The carrying amounts
of the balances approximate to their fair values.

The balances are unsecured, interest-bearing at the
PBOC lending rate and repayable within one year. The
balances are denominated in RMB. The carrying amounts
of the balances approximate to their fair values.

31. W (BN BEFENR(

MR RR MR

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

Wit - (%)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(7

(9)

ZERBIEARBERE T LK
7 Bl A A F #28,000,0007T X A K #
29,156,0007T (20174 : A £ #20,000,000
TR A K #21,377,0005T) ° % & 4
BRABEMBER AR —FREE A
RIETIRZ BT EIZA TR FIE
(20179 : #EIARRTAREZ5F
E([ATTFE#FIE])) 5 E - migErT
FARZ 4R FILE B FIE4.5% (2017
F:4%) ZHREEHEE D 7 EE

4+

E o

ZEERTER - FIEEBATER
FIE (2017F - ATTEXFE) FE L
BR—FREE - ZSEHBIEARET
FR - AR E LR 2 7 (B A -

ZEGHEEBEERETLEK 75
A A K #2604,478,0007T & A K #
132,460,000 (20174 : 2 5l A& A
B #2,593,722,0007T F ##) o % & ¥
FLRR MR BB - FIE BEFIFE
5.06% (20174 : 4.31%) R 7B R f# F
A (20174 - ERA) 1BE - MEET
FLRR SRR - FIE BEFIFE
3.0%RAR—FRXEE -

ZERBB LRI FIERATTESLF
ERATTENFIFE (2017F - ATT/FHL
FIE) Gt ER LB ER - ZEHH
BARKGR  BHREESEELAE
1E

RERBBTELRI - FERBATEN
FIFEAERAR —FAEE - ZERH
BARKGER  BHAREEREELAE
15
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PR e

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

32.

DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED PARTIES 32. W (M) BESX
The amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, fEN (FERD) BB R RETVERR 28R
non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. The carrying Hzxiﬂﬂ,ai% ZEKBRAERE QAR
amounts of these balances approximate to their fair values. BRE
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of REEMKR  BEEH 2 E&REREERZRUAT
the balances with related parties were denominated in the BHEGER -
following currencies.
2018 2017
20185 0175
Denominated in Denominated in
TRE%A TEEEA
HKS RMB Uss Total HK$ RMB US$ Total
il AR¥ e g i ARE X g

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Due from the ultimate holding company  EM&EERAFZUE - 21,072 - 21,072 = = = =
Due from fellow subsidiaries WEWH?WEA Tm\ = 8,493 - 8,493 - 4,897 61 4958
Due from joint ventures EURAELAT 125 756,491 556,805 1,313,421 3,659 114,909 9,134 127,702
Due from associates [N 144 145518 - 145662 S = S =
Due from non-controlling shareholders Eﬂ&liﬂ;ﬁxﬁx% ] - 191,507 55,983 247490 - 186,371 26281 212,652
Dug from related companies EUBELTHE 3,006 - 3,006 - 564 - 564
Due to the ultimate holding company ERFEARAANE - (71,051) - (71,051) S (2.723) = (2723)
Due to fellow subsidiaries ERRZHED WH (62443)  (39018)  (2549) (104010)  (9905)  (T1600)  (38,653) (120,158)
Due to joint ventures ERAERAFY - (4,010559) - (4,010559) - (1,856,269) - (1,856,269)
Due to associates FEBEARTN - (1,195,574) - (1,195,574) - (10,000) - (10,000)
Due to non-controlling shareholders JW?H?H&HX% - (130342)  (73,015)  (203,357) - (30516)  (69.514)  (100,030)
Due 1o a related company ERBEATR - (1,818) - (1,818) = (2,760) - (2760)
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33.

DEFERRED TAX

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 15 ¥R R B =

33.

The movements of deferred tax liabilities during the year are

IEFER 1R
EEHBRERFAZESHOT

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

as follows:

Fair value

Depreciation  adjustments

allowance  arising from

in excess acquisition of

of related  subsidiaries

Revaluation  depreciation  WHEMEA=  Withholding
of properties REZBE E4£2AR  income taxes Total
Bitx ARER EEE RifEH A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBT R
At 1 January 2018 Ro018%51418 838,227 50,701 12,018 110,158 1,011,104
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REHEANG /GIA) 2 71,507 18,898 (2,056) 7,020 95,459
statement of profit or loss (Note ) BRI (H:8)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEWBAR (Ht37) (22,722) - - (22,722)
Exchange realignment ERHZ 1,322 295 - - 1,617
At 31 December 2018 120185124314 888,424 69,894 9,962 17178 1,085,458
At 1 January 2017 #2017%1A18 704,895 42,723 9,737 21,196 778,551
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the REBRERANE /(GIA) 2 135,606 7,978 (2,057) 88,962 230,489
statement of profit or loss (Note 8) BIERUE (Hrit8)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) WEHBAR (Hit5) = - 4,338 - 4338
Exchange realignment e (2.274) - - - (2.274)
At 31 December 2017 20176128318 838,227 50,701 12,018 110,158 1,011,104
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33. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 33. IEEBIE (&)
The movements of deferred tax assets during the year are BB IEEERFR 2 ZEHT
as follows:
Tax losses Provision Provision
and others  for receivables for LAT
BHEER R it Total
REft HEERE TR ER ok
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARSI ARBTT ARETT
At 1 January 2018 H2018%1A1A 159,060 31,498 415,371 605,929
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 15 RINERMRREED 2,679 = = 2,679
A7
At 1 January 2018 (restated) #2018 1R 1R (E51) 161,739 31,498 415,371 608,608
Deferred tax credited to the statement of RERRNAZELRE 127,549 32,355 242,982 402,886
profit or loss (Note 8) (Hi8)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) WEMBAR (4#35) 2,579 - - 2,579
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HENBAR (i237) (4,769) = = (4,769)
Exchange realignment B AR 1,027 1,027
At 31 December 2018 12018127318 288,125 63,853 658,353 1,010,331
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1A 88,938 10,519 340,124 439,581
Deferred tax credited to the statement of RNESRNETAZEILHE 77,919 20,939 75,247 174,105
profit or loss (Note 8) (#1:28)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) BB AR (4i36) - 40 = 40
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) HEWBRR (M237) (7,797) - - (7,797)
At 31 December 2017 12017127318 159,060 31,498 415,371 605,929
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33.

Notes to the Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

33. E#EBE (£2)

ETEERAEEERABRGEEPBHRREK
EHRHEEREE - U TAREEIRERIA
HRBIEMBRE2HRT 29

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the REBIBIRAKRERZ 965,358 554,852
consolidated statement of financial position BEERIAE EFEE

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REE T BARNKRIERZ (1,040,485) (960,027)
consolidated statement of financial position EEHIBEEFE

(75,127) (405,175)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax
losses of RMB549,916,000 (2017: RMB426,744,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose, and tax
losses of RMB110,241,000 (2017: RMB115,540,000) and
RMB1,205,944,000 (2017: RMB725,318,000) which will expire
within twenty years and five years, respectively, for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses of
RMB752,639,000 (2017: RMB597,899,000) have not been
recognised as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

RBEHR AFBEZ2HEBEBBAR
#549,916,0007 (20175 : AR
426,744,0007T)  AIER AR EZREELE
BRZARBRERBER  MBEIEER
A R #110,241,0007C (20176 : A R ¥
115,540,0007T) K A R #1,205,944,0007T
(20174 :« AR #725,318,0007T) B2 Bl
R+ FARRATERNAEEZSELER
ZATIBRERBET o REBEL Y KE
REIBEEE B A RE752,639,0007T (2017
. ARM597,899,0007T) * thhHRZE
MEBARIEEIELZE  BERATAAIES
EERERTEF AR EZEHIEEE - iR
EEARZER BB BREREE ZBELTEHRE
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Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%
or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on certain of the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the Directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates in Mainland China for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised was RMB213,151,000
at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB175,991,000)

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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BIEFRBEEMERE - RABEXEXT 2
INEERECERMIIRIRE RS IR 2R EAER
10% B W FEHFL o It 3R E ;20081 H1H
A - I E B R2007F12A31H%E 2 &
oo P BIARREEINIRREE 2 RIEERE
FETHEBATBHE - B ERREZIBMB
Ko AKEME - BARKXRE5%H10% e
Eit - NEBBEERNPBIRENL 2%
ZHBATR2008FE1 A1HEEL 2 BFIAT
Dk 2B BB TR o

M2018F12A31H » REB G ERFE K
ERZZHBRAR - A& Q8 KEEE QA
BHRXBBHHEzETABL BN ABRER
TEHNHEARECHE - EERE ZS5H
BAor AR AR RBERRRARER
kB BARELRNZ#E T K- K2018
F12A318 - R BE REKZ 2K B R
A AERERBERBIZCREMEEXZ
RAERELEHEABE 2 EREEZBBFA
A R #213,151,0007C (20174 : A R #&
175,991,0007¢) °

AR DK E T EBR R A ERAEHR

2248
=



34.

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 34. BEAFERBRREZZIZEKHE
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS NS
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Supreme Asia FBEREEERBRRAETZ2AEENRB A
Investments Limited (“SAl”) and its subsidiary, Shanghai AlSupreme Asia Investments Limited
Zhongjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., that have (ISAl]) REME R (L8 MHEEMmER
material non-controlling interests are set out below: BEHRAR) FBERHINOT
SAl and its subsidiary
SAIR EHM &A=
2018 2017
20184 20174
Percentage of equity interest held by JEPERR AR R RS A 2 S 43.26% 43.26%
non-controlling interests Bt
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBEFTT
Accumulated balances of non-controlling R RSN ERAZ 1,199,334 1,153,386
interests at the reporting date RETHERR
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling DR T IERAR R RS 2 456,081 94,865
interests REE
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34.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 34. BEEAFERBREZZIEZENS

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) RE (&)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial T E AR U BERBEHINT - A
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed AR EE @ W KRR E AR 2 $H

are before any inter-company eliminations:

SAIl and its subsidiary

SAIRHHE QT
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Current assets MBEE 9,017,947 7,318,657
Non-current assets IEREEE 441,520 295,978
Current liabilities MENEE (6,746,766)  (5,003,711)
Revenue and other income WA K E At YA 3,358,764 1,106,022
Total expenses B4R (2,359,427) (987,417)
Profit for the year NF E R 999,337 118,605
Total comprehensive income for the year RNEZEUKZEEZE 1,010,898 107,412
Net cash from operating activities REXEBMSEHReREFH 2,939,160 1,473,674
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities WEEK (FifE),/ Fisie (4,152,470) 1,359,983
MEFEE
Net cash used in financing activities %Eﬁ%ﬁkﬁfrﬁﬁ%/miégﬁ (902,027) (738,456)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net INESTEREE) 2 o & (558 3,861 (5,370)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeMREEEBERZ (2,111,476) 2,089,831
cash equivalents CRA),/ 5
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35.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The Group acquired one company and its five related
companies in Mainland China in the current year for the
expansion of property leasing business and a company
in Mainland China in the prior year for the expansion of
property management business. Details of the acquisitions
are as follows:

Two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company entered into
several sale and purchase agreements in June 2018 with
twelve independent third parties to acquire a 100% interests
in the shares of FIITFHFIZE ZHEAR A E] (Shenzhen Shi
Women Touzi Investment Development Limited*) and its five
related companies (collectively “Women Touzi Group”) at
an aggregate cash consideration of RMB66,056,000. The
acquisition was completed in July 2018. Women Touzi Group
is engaged in property leasing in Mainland China.

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
sale and purchase agreement and a supplementary sale and
purchase agreement in August 2016 and in December 2016
respectively with two independent third parties to acquire
a 90% interest in the shares of F/BE&GMEEIEER A
(Shanghai Yungi Property Management Limited*) (“Yungi”)
at an aggregate cash consideration of RMB11,857,000.
The acquisition was completed in January 2017. Yungi is
engaged in property management in Mainland China.

For identification purposes only

35.

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

EHa
AEBERERMEFREXBENAFRE K
URPBEAREZ AT REARKBERF - A
RRBERMEEEEBR EFEBE-RUR
REIRE 2 RA] - WEBFERIINT

MR2018F6 7 * KRB ZWMAEZEMEB A A
B+ —ZBUE AN RNEIETEEW
HNRBRITRMEEEEBRAF
MERAMBERR (B RMEEEER])
1D 2100% % HERELBEAEARE
66,056,0007T © A B U i 1K2018F7AH 7
o KPR ESEERPRARERNYEYER

KRR zZ—M2ENBARIEMRNZBILE
=7 5 Bl H2016F8 A &2016F 128 % 77
—MEBEEMEER—HEEMTmHE - UK
BLEEEADEERER2AUTESHD
D 290%Em  HERBLEAARYK
11,857,0007T ° B B8 W 88 12017614 T
X o AR PRBARERNEEMETIEET -

g ERHE

Annual Report 2018 &3 261



Notes to the Financial Statements

PR e

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

35.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the

35. EHKEHt (&)

acquired companies as at the dates of acquisitions are as NAREWT -

follows:

REER  REBARZARAIEERAE

Fair value recognised
on acquisition

RNBREIZAAE
2018 2017
20184 20174
Women

Touzi Group Yunqi

BMREEE =%

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Property, plant and machinery ME - BREREE 35,032 147

Deferred tax assets REFIAEE 2,579 =

Property management contracts MEBBAL - 17,353

Trade receivables FEWE 5 R = 1,396

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR ~ e RE AR 8,824 3,711

Bank balances IRIT458 5,089 7,869

Trade payables FENE SER (4,379) (1,437)

Other payables E A AR K (533) (16,959)

Loans from a shareholder ERE K (10,258) =

Deferred tax liabilities R IB A E = (4,338)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value AI#RFEEZARE 36,354 7,742

Non-controlling interests FEIE AR AR 2 = (774)

36,354 6,968

Goodwill on acquisition (Note (a)) W BE & (ff2%(a)) 29,702 4,889

Total consideration wRE 66,056 11,857
Satisfied by: AR

Cash B& 61,056 1,472

Other payables H A AR 5,000 10,385

66,056 11,857
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31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 35. EBEHt (&)
The fair values and gross contractual amounts of deposits BMREEBE 2 ZE R HEAMEREZR®
and other receivables of Women Touzi Group as at the date WEHBH 2 ARBERAINLEARAARYK
of acquisition amounted to RMB6,627,000. No receivables 6,627,0007T © A% FE U BR TR B MR A R (] o
are expected to be uncollectible.
The fair value and gross contractual amount of trade =RZEBESIEFNEBERR s ARER
receivables of Yungi as at the date of acquisition amounted AIH 4R B AR MA1,396,0000T - =& 2 E
to RMB1,396,000. The fair value and gross contractual fth FEUCR AW R B 2 A B RET R 4258
amount of other receivables of Yungi as at the date of B AR M3,693,0007T o 1 48 FE U B 3X 78 A7
acquisition amounted to RMB3,693,000. No receivables were oA E -
expected to be uncollectible.
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions WENBARZREREDTWT ¢
of subsidiaries is as follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
Women
Touzi Group Yungi
BMREEE =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Cash consideration ReNRE (61,056) (1,472)
Bank balances acquired Wb 2 SRITAE R 5,089 7,869
Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash REBEEBZRERER (55,967) 6,397

equivalents included in cash flows from
investing activities

RAEMREFEEBZ
),/ mMAFER

Since the acquisition, Women Touzi Group contributed
RMB24,268,000 to the Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 December 2018 and loss of RMB2,773,000 to the Group’s
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2018.
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue and the consolidated profit of the Group
for the year would have been RMB7,093,408,000 and
RMB2,752,466,000, respectively.

BlEZ KMARESEALASEHE
2018F12A3TA L FE 2 WA T RARE
24,268,0007T + T ¥ 74~ & B & £201845F12
ABBLEFEZHERMAIEEBEBAR
#2,773,0007C ° W& R ANFHEIT - &
EEMAFEZWRARGAERAD B ABARE
7,093,408,0007T & A R %2 752,466,000
0
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Since the acquisition, Yungi contributed RMB43,117,000 to
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2017
and loss of RMB7,992,000 to the Group’s consolidated profit
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Had the combination
taken place at the beginning of the prior year, the revenue
and the consolidated profit of the Group for the prior year
would have been no material change as the completion of
the combination was close to the beginning of the prior year.

(a) Goodwill on acquisition

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to
be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill
acquired through business combination is allocated
to the property investment and management
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for impairment
testing. The carrying amount of the CGU included
goodwill of RMB64,678,000 (2017: included
goodwill of RMB4,889,000 and intangible assets
of RMB14,461,000) as at 31 December 2018. The
recoverable amount of the CGU of RMB32,528,000
(2017: RMB14,745,000) has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering
a six-year period approved by management. The
Directors have consequently determined to recognise
an impairment loss on goodwill directly related to
the property investment and management business
amounting to RMB29,702,000 (2017: RMB4,889,000).
No other significant write-down of other intangible
assets of the property investment and management
business of the Group is considered necessary.

The discount rate applied to the cash flow projection
is 12.25% (2017: 12.25%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the property investment
and management business until beyond the six-year
period (2017: six-year period) is 2% (2017: 1%). This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and the average long-term growth rate for
the relevant industry.
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e ¢ EEE A ARK32528000
7T (20174 : 14,745,0007T) - &
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35.

36.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
(a) Goodwill on acquisition (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the property investment and management CGU for
31 December 2018 and 2017. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross
margins is the average gross margins achieved in the
year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the CGU.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on
market development of the property investment and
management industry and the discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION
OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 8 February 2018, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company acquired a 100% equity interest in /&% FAR
¥ AP A7A) (Shanghai Anyang Muye Company Limited*)
(“Anyang”), from three independent third parties, at an
aggregate cash consideration of RMB37,049,000. Anyang is
engaged in property development in Mainland China.

On 3 July 2018, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired a 100% equity interest in H/BARIBEER A
(Shanghai Heshu Development Company Limited*) (“Heshu”),
from an independent third party, at a cash consideration of
RMB147,968,000. Heshu is engaged in property development
in Mainland China.

35.

36.

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

EBast (&)
(a) WEHE (&)

# F20184F 201712 A31A M ¥
RENEBRZRcESBEMNFERER
SFERARRIESE  EEEBREHER
eRnERAETHERENR 2 ZE
FERRAOT

HEEF - BETHZBEDRER
HEEA—FNERZ TR R
B EREMBERA KBNS
RfEHiE -

MEE—ERZBERERBAIRAR
BRIE S E A B 2 K R

HYEREREBTEMBGERZE
2R R AL IR X HUE BN E R AROR
—3 o

EBRBEHEBARKBEE

R2018F2A8H » ARz —HME2EWSB
NAIAR SR E R ARK37,049,0007T
—RBUFE=AKRBLESRFREBRAF
([Z#]) Z2100%4m - ZFERPBRKER
WEYEHRE -

R2018F7A3H * KRBz —HME2EWEBR
AIABR &R EARK147,968,000 Tt — %
BUFE=ZFWHELEEEEEERERAR ([4
) 2100%Ez - AR R EAEAKSE
VIEBRER
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36.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION
OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

On 6 February 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company acquired a 100% equity interest in F/&&E/SEZS
AR 27 (Shanghai Zhitao Motor Components Company
Limited*) (“Zhitao”), from two independent third parties, at an
aggregate cash consideration of RMB194,454,000. Zhitao is
engaged in property development in Mainland China.

On 28 July 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired a 100% equity interest in ¥ ¥ (L&) ETHR AT
(Yuxin Shanghai Electronic Company Limited*) (“Yuxin”),
from an independent third party, at a cash consideration of
RMB81,926,000. Yuxin is engaged in property development
in Mainland China.

On 24 August 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company acquired a 100% equity interest in /&FIEF
MR ABMRAE (Shanghai Lier Modern Material Company
Limited*) (“Lier”), from an independent third party, at a cash
consideration of RMB86,575,000. Lier is engaged in property
development in Mainland China.

The above transactions were accounted for as purchase
of assets and liabilities rather than business combinations
because the acquired subsidiaries have not carried out
any significant business transactions prior to the dates of
acquisitions. The net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
from the acquisitions has been reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows as part of the cash flow movement
of the individual assets and liabilities acquired.

For identification purposes only
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ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION 36. ZEBWEMBATWBEE (&)
OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The net assets acquired in the above acquisitions are as LA EEE 2 T EEFEDT ¢
follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
Anyang Heshu Zhitao Yuxin Lier
2 & S Wi FIER

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TRT ARETR ARETR AR%¥T:R

Investment properties BEME 251,129 - 189,663 82,846 61,518
Deferred tax assets ELRIBEE - - = - 40
Property under development LRETYE - 764,271 = = =
Prepayments, deposits and TBRFIE - Ze Rk 67,136 1,012 = = 6,663
other receivables Ho A FE B ER R
Bank balances RITHEH 7,196 8 6,008 - 18,833
Loans from shareholders ERRRER (72,465) - - - -
Interest-bearing bank borrowing Kt 8#RITE (7,000) - - - -
Other payables HiEMERR (208,947) (617,323) (1,217) (920) (479)
Net assets BERE 37,049 147,968 194,454 81,926 86,575
Satisfied by: SHRA
Cash e 22,250 147,968 194,454 81,926 80,483
Other payables H A R 14,799 - = = 6,092

37,049 147,968 194,454 81,926 86,575

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions WHENB AT RS RESTWOT -
of subsidiaries is as follows:

2018 2017

20184 20174
Anyang Heshu Zhitao Yuxin Lier
7 &8 L Wi AL

RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARETRE

Cash consideration HeRE (22,250) (147,968) (194,454) (81,926) (80,483)

Bank balances acquired Wb 2 SR TSR 7,196 8 6,008 = 18,833

Net outflow of cash and ReRkBESEE (15,054) (147,960) (188,446)  (81,926)  (61,650)
cash equivalents HB L FRE
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During the year, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary, ZM&&%
MERZEBMR AR (Zhengzhou Jinheheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.*) (“Jinheheng”), to an independent
third party, for a cash consideration of RMB26,000,000. The
disposal was completed in February 2018.

The Group entered into a co-operative agreement with
two independent third parties during the year. Pursuant
to the agreement, one of the independent third parties
agreed to participate in capital increase of a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Apex River Limited (“Apex
River”), and the other independent third party agreed to
participate in the capital injection in a subsidiary of Apex
River, RMEFEHEREZEHBR AR (Xuzhou Weixin Real
Estate Development Co. Ltd*) (“Xuzhou Weixin"). Apex
River and Xuzhou Weixin (together “Apex River Group”)
are engaged in property development in Mainland China.
All parties agreed to exercise joint control over Apex River
Group after the transaction. The transaction was accounted
for as a deemed disposal of subsidiaries and the Group has
lost control over Apex River Group after the completion of
registration of the changes with the relevant government
authorities in April 2018.

The Group disposed of its entire equity interest in a
wholly-owned subsidiary, FEEEIETHEER QT
(Shanghai Zhitao Motor Components Company Limited*)
(“Zhitao”), to a joint venture of the Group for a cash
consideration of RMB213,348,000 during the year. The Group
has lost control over Zhitao after the completion of disposal in
June 2018. The equity interest in Zhitao acquired by the joint
venture of the Group was accounted for as an investment in
a joint venture of the Group.

The Group disposed of its 51% equity interest in a non-wholly
owned subsidiary, FAR¥EMERZEBR QA (Xi'an Shuokun
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*) (“Shuokun”), to
an independent third party for a cash consideration of
RMB538,280,000 during the year. The Group has lost control
over Shuokun after the completion of disposal in June 2018.
The remaining equity interest in Shuokun was accounted for
as an investment in an associate.
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37.

Notes to the Financial Statements

DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The Group entered into a co-operative agreement with four
independent third parties during the year. Pursuant to the
agreement, Two of the independent third parties agreed
to participate in the capital increase of a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group MREELECEERZANERAT
(Nanjing Jigingfeng Corporation Management Consultation
Limited) (“Jigingfeng”). The Group holds 2% equity interest
in Jigingfeng and has lost control over Jigingfeng after
the completion of the capital increase of Jigingfeng. One
of the independent third parties agreed to participate in
the capital increase in another wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, Fainmark Limited (“Fainmark”). The Group
holds 51% equity interest in Fainmark and the two parties
agreed to exercise joint control over Fainmark after the
completion of the capital increase of Fainmark. The another
independent third party agreed to acquire 25% equity
interest in RINEEFHERZEAERAF (Xuzhou Weirun
Real Estate Development Co. Ltd*) (“Xuzhou Weirun”) from
Fainmark where Fainmark and Jigingfeng hold 75% and 25%
equity interest in Xuzhou Weirun respectively. Fainmark,
Jigingfeng and Xuzhou Weirun (together “Fainmark Group”)
are engaged in property development in Mainland China. The
transaction was completed in October and was accounted for
as a deemed disposal of subsidiaries. The equity interests in
Fainmark and Jigingfeng were accounted for as investments
in joint ventures.

In prior year, the Group entered into a co-operative
agreement with two independent third parties, pursuant to
which all parties agreed to participate in capital injection
in a subsidiary of the Company, F&&ZEEHERZEER
‘A7) (Shanghai Xinwei Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.*)
(“Xinwei”). The Group held 60% equity interest in Xinwei
and had lost control over Xinwei after the completion of the
capital injection in prior year. The transaction was accounted
for as a deemed disposal of a subsidiary and the 60% equity
interest of Xinwei was accounted for as an investment in an
associate.

37.
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37.

DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The Group disposed of its entire equity interest in a
RYBEHRER B RRER DA
(Shenzhen Gelin Yuncai Education and Technology Company
Limited*) (“Yuncai”), to a joint venture of the Group and an
independent third party, for an aggregate consideration
of RMB2,000,000 in prior year. After the disposal, the joint
venture and the independent third party held 90% and 10%
equity interests of Yuncai respectively. The 90% equity
interest in Yuncai acquired by the joint venture of the Group
was accounted for as an investment in a joint venture after
the disposal of the equity interest in Yuncai in August 2017.

wholly-owned subsidiary

The Group entered into a co-operative agreement with an
independent third party in prior year, pursuant to which
the independent third party agreed to participate in capital
injection in a subsidiary of the Company, RIJIZEHKARE
BHREHERARZAF (Shenzhen Meiwei Jieersi English
Education and Technology Company Limited*) (“Jieersi”).
Both parties agreed to exercise joint control over Jieersi.
The transaction was accounted for as a deemed disposal
of a subsidiary and the Group has lost control over Jieersi
after the completion of the capital injection of Jieersi in
August 2017.

Due to the plan to change from property sale to property
investment of the development direction of a PRC property
held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of a subsidiary of the
Company, E&{E8eE R 15 BRHAR A F (Shanghai Xinneng
Duer Information Technology Company Limited*) (“Xinneng”),
the Group entered into a co-operative agreement with a
non-controlling shareholder of Xinneng during prior year.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group and the non-controlling
shareholder agreed to exercise joint control over Xinneng.
It was accounted for as a deemed disposal of subsidiaries
and the Group has lost control over Xinneng and its
subsidiary (together “Xinneng Group”) after the completion
of registration of the change with the municipal government
in October 2017.

*

For identification purposes only

37.
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DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF 37. HERGREHLEMEBLAR (£)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Details of the net assets disposed of are as follows: FINEEEFRE2FBOT
2018 2017
20185 017
Apex River Fainmark Xinneng
Jinheheng Group Zhitao  Shuokun Group Xinwei Yuncai Jieersi Group
$8%  £ELH Fit wH RESE &0 e TBR fFHEE
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB0OO  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETr ARBTR ARET: ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETR
Property, plant and equipment % BERERE - )| 2 82 2 - - 2,954 294
Investment property RENE - - 369229 - - - - - -
Deferred tax assets EiEHEEE 7 - - 2,931 342 1090 101 1,75 4851
Properties under development EReng - 245296 - 1,170389 1,121,921 1,784,511 - - 255,646
Due from a shareholder RlRRE - - - - - 10,000 = = =
Prepayments, deposits and other BAZE - ReRAMEK 150000 10,922 18919 6,244 2,358 22,980 317 1820 7,650
recelvables B3
Prepaid tax BN - - - - - 20292 = = =
Bank balances i 374 1,043 9,766 1,023 w8 90972 1,236 833 18,600
Trade and bills payables EREAEHRER = = 6  (12,93) = (779) - (309) (308)
Advance receipts, accruals and R EREERE  (80,260) (263) (19263 (1262 (2245) (192472)  (2810)  (5003) (4709
other payables MR
Loans from the ultimate holding company ~ ER SZERATER - - - (151,05 - - - - -
Loan from an intermediate holding ENPEERARER - - - - - - - - (101,900)
company
Due to intermediate holding companies  FERTHEIERAFZE - - - - - - - (833) (2,305)
Due to immediate holding companies ENERERAGFE - (258102)  (116,267) - (1,211,567) - - - -
Due to a fellow subsidlary ENFAZNEARNE - - - - 0 = = = =
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JERERR R R VR (25,183) - - . - - _ _ _
Deferred tax liabilties EHERR - - (1) - - = = - -
Net agsets EESE 44,918 (1073) 259,172 1,015419 (54,840 4,348 1698 1217 177,769
Non-controlling interests SERFRER (21,560) - - (18149) - - - - (26,669)
23358 (1073) 259172 997275  (54840) 4348 1698 1217 151,104
Release of exchange reserve B FRER - - - - 59,590 - - - -
23,358 (1073) 259172 997,275 4,750 4348 1698 1217 151,104
Fair value investments retained upon WHE /BREERSS - - - (479412) (4,838)  (56,144) - (2.79)  (171,062)
disposalfdeemed disposal to investments A7 /B A TIRAR
in joint venturesfassociates FREZREALE
Stamp duties iR - - - 269 - - - - -
Unrealised (loss)lgain on disposal RERZIE (B8)/ & - - (2912 = = = 177 = =
Gaini(loss) on disposalideemed disposal (& / BEILHENELA 2,642 1073 (2912 20,148 8 3179 125 1579 19,958
of subsidiaries &/ (B
Total consideration(capital contrioution 2R E /(4E4 AT 26,000 - 23348 538,280 - (20,000) 2,000 = =
o an associate) BRARA)
Satisfied by: SOLER
Cash e 26,000 - 98,348 538,280 - (20,000) 2,000 - -
Other receivables E RS - - 115,000 - - = = = =
26,000 - 213,348 538,280 - (20,000) 2,000 - -
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37. DISPOSAL AND DEEMED DISPOSAL OF 37.

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal and deemed disposal
of subsidiaries is as follows:

HERBREHENBLR (&

HERERHENBARZEE RS EE
HHZRA/ORH) FEAFMT

2018 2017
0185 0175
Apex River Fainmark Xinneng
Jinheheng Group Zhitao  Shuokun Group Xinwei Yuncai Jieersi Group
$47  BERA bt 4 RERE 0 = NEE AR
RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMB000
AR¥TR ARETn ARETn ARBTR ARETz ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETR
Cash consideration/(capital contribution  E2H(E /(4B AT 26,000 - 98348 538,280 - (200000 2000 = =
to an associate) RABN)
Bank balances disposed of ME RS 674) (1,043  (9766)  (1,023) (34328 (90972  (1,236) (833)  (18,600)
Net inflowj(outfiow) of cash and cash (& /RE L ENBELR 2562  (1,043) 68582 537,257 (34328 (110972 764 (833  (18,600)

equivalents in respect of the disposall 2 B4 RBAZEER
deemed disposal of subsidiaries ZRA/ (i) # 8

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38.

CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

In prior year, the Group entered into a loan facility
arrangement of US$30,830,000 (equivalent to
RMB201,449,000) with a financial institution for
financing an acquisition of a property.
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38. #SAREREBRMWE (&)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RETHEEZAEEH
activities
Loans from Loans from Due to the
Bankand the ultimate Loans anon- ultimate Due to non-
other holding  fromfellow  controlling holding Due to fellow  controlling
borrowings company  subsidiaries  shareholder company  subsidiaries shareholders
Bk EARRZR ESRZKE EfE2R EASLAER EREZNE B 2R
At &R AAER DRAEH REEH NARE NARE BRRFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTR AR%TT AR%TT ARETR ARETT ARETT
At 31 December 2018 #2018%12A31A
At 1 January 2018 R201851A1R 1,556,756 5,240,113 2,593,722 - 2,723 120,158 100,030
Changes from financing BEREREY 21515 (4,140,420) 18,169 - 47,256 (75,921) 91,437
cash flow 28
Increase in borrowing costs & {EZA AR (821) . . - . _ N
Interest accrued BRASER - - - - - 50,675 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEHBA) 7,000 = - . . N _
(Note 36) (H36)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAE - (151,052) - - - - (25,183)
(Note 37) (Hits7)
Transfer from due from the ~ EBERSEIER - - - - 21,072 - -
ultimate holding company R a8
Transfer from due from BEEKAZHE - - - - - 5479 -
fellow subsidiaries NAElE
Transfer from due from non- & B EUIER R - - - - - - 34,838
controlling shareholders REHE
Exchange realignment EHAE 76,062 - 125,047 - - 3,619 2,235
At 31 December 2018 201812318 2,060,512 948,641 2,736,938 - 71,051 104,010 203,357
At 31 December 2017 R2017612A318
At 1 January 2017 #2017E1R18 730,352 7,272,123 2,108,573 53,010 73,328 57,476 75,400
Changes from financing ~~ BABLHEY 672576 (2,032,010) 623,084 (53,010) (70,578) 50,497 (137,789)
cash flow 29
New bank and other TERTREMER 201,449 - - - - - -
borrowings (Nofe 38(a))  (#i238(a))
Increase in borrowing costs & & FAAR (1,301) - - - - - -
Interest accrued BRTSER - - - - = 9,896 =
Transfer to due from the BHERSRER = = = = (27) - -
ultimate holding company ~ AFFE
Transfer from due from BHENAZHE - - - - - 2290 -
fellow subsidiaries NAFE
Transfer from due from non-  EEEKFEARKER - - - - = = 166,705
controlling shareholders g
Exchange realignment EHAZ (46,320) - (138,135) - - 0 (4,286)
At 31 December 2017 W2017%12A318 1,556,756 5,240,113 2,593,722 - 2,723 120,158 100,030
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39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 39.

At 31 December 2018, investment properties of the Group
with an aggregate carrying value of RMB542,536,000 (2017:
an investment property and a property held for sale of
the Group with carrying values of RMB196,745,000 and
RMB303,918,000, respectively) were pledged to secure other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 30(b)).

EERH

MN2018F12A31H  "EBZIREWER
T B 4 %8 A R #542,536,0007T (20174 :
BREMERGHEMEREES B AARKE
196,745,0007t &2 A R #303,918,0005T) 2
THER  NERARAEERE 2 EMER
(B1a£30(b)) -

A

(a) Capital commitments (a)

40. COMMITMENTS 40.

The Group had commitments for capital expenditure

BXRAEE

RBEYR - NEBE 2 EARFRSAE

at the end of the reporting period as follows: U
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBEFIT
Contracted, but not provided for BEL - ERER
— Properties under development —EEPYE 3,444,381 1,581,542
— Investment properties —REYHE 1,059,532 282,086
— Capital contributions payable to joint —REERRIZEREA 92,017 188,010
ventures
4,595,930 2,051,638
In addition, the Group’s share of the joint ventures’ Lo - REBEEMGE EARMENRE
own capital commitments, which are not included in A EPNRBIEZEREERNT ¢
the above, is as follows:
2018 2017
20185 20174F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Contracted, but not provided for BEA - BREE
— Properties under development — BRI 7,272,956 8,123,021
— Investment properties —REWE 715,156 611,441
7,988,112 8,734,462
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COMMITMENTS (continued)

(i) As lessee

Notes to the Financial Statements
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40. A&iE (&)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHNRE
(i) =Y
The Group leases certain properties under REERBEEHEOLHERA
operating lease arrangements. Leases for ETWE - VEHERKER
properties are negotiated for terms ranging B—FE2+NF (20175 -
from one year to nineteen years (2017: six ANEAZETE) TEFE -
months to ten years).
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total M2018%F12A31H * A& B
future minimum lease payments under RIET A AR A E A M AR
non-cancellable operating leases falling due RRZAT 2 AR S k485
as follows: LU
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBEFT
Within one year —FR 123,865 58,424
In the second to fifth years, E_ZERFNRN 414,302 159,492
inclusive (BEEEME)
Over five years FRFER 670,433 147,038
1,208,600 364,954
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40. COMMITMENTS (continued) 40. A&iE (&)
(b) Operating lease commitments (continued) (b) REBELORE (&)
(i) As lessor (i)  EREHEA
The Group leases its investment properties AEERBLERNLHAD
(Note 13) and certain leased properties under BRI EME (Hit13) &
operating lease arrangements, with leases ETHEWE  HERRs—
negotiated for terms ranging from one to EZTEFEIE(2017F : —
twenty years (2017: one to twenty years). The EZTFEAE)  c HAOKKRD
terms of the leases generally also require the —REFMEFPEBNREE R
tenants to pay security deposits and provide REBARTERMISRREMIE
for periodic rent adjustments according to the HHESHEE -
then prevailing market conditions.
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total 2018 12A31H * A& H
future minimum lease receivables under RIREE AR PR 37 2 T A EH
non-cancellable leases with its tenants falling MEZRRFEEKRES B
due as follows: ZEEERAT
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBETTT
Within one year —FE R 263,130 228,989
In the second to fifth years, FE_EERFR 472,610 346,269
inclusive (RREEREMF)
Over five years RF& 73,385 104,750
809,125 680,008
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41.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At the end of the reporting period, the ultimate holding RRE
company of the Company was Gemdale Corporation, a 58
company established in the PRC.

(a) Related party transactions (a)

M. BEITRS

Other than the transactions disclosed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the following is a summary
of the significant related party transactions carried out
in the normal course of the Group’s business during

the year:

BEIRS
BUBHRERAREZZHIN

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

RER

AEERAEEBTETIEKRRME
TRBZMEMT

(Income)/Expenses

CINVS T
2018 2017
20184 2017%
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mzt ARETR AREFT
Compensation income from a non-controlling WERIE AR AR SR A R A (i) (3,154) (1,958)
shareholder
Entrusted management fee from a fellow subsidiary ~ WHRZMBARELHEE (i) (24,906) (24,906)
Services fee paid to the ultimate holding company SR FRAIER A R RIS B (i) 72,175 62,327
Property management fee paid to fellow subsidiaries {4 FRRHB AR Y% (iv) 16,359 11,348
Rk
Management services fee paid to fellow subsidiaries {1 FRZK B LB ERE (v) 42,941 41,571
RBE
Project fees paid to a fellow subsidiary SHTRFMRBATIRES (vi) 18,149 12,748
Design fees paid to a fellow subsidiary XN TRRMB R B (vif) 2,936 -
Rent and property management fee paid to YIRNTFRZMBREEERM  (vi) 2,133 5918
a fellow subsidiary XERE
Interest paid on loans from the ultimate holding ERNRERERARERIHE (k) 148,809 277,628
company
Interest paid on loans from fellow subsidiaries ERNRARMBARERZFE () 136,186 93,409
X
Interest paid on loans from joint ventures EHEERRERZFSZE () 2,914 1,680
Interest paid on loans from an associate EABERAERFISTE (i) 1,168 =
Interest paid on loans from non-controlling ENIFERBRRERZFES (i) - 1,418
shareholders i
Interest income on loans to related companies EREERARIERZFERA () (73,783) (24,942)
Interest income on loans to joint ventures BUEEARETZFBHMA () (96,816) (97,603)
Interest income on loans to associates FEUBERRERZFISRA (i) = (38,211)
Interest income on loans to non-controlling JEUGEE R RER ZF S (xvii) (1,609) -
shareholders WA
Consulting services income from fellow subsidiaries  UEUR R B A 7R RS (xvii) (1,102) (2,344)
WA
Consulting services income from joint ventures WA &1 BB RIS I (xix) (45,394) (48,042)
Consulting services income from an associate Y EREgS  A R BB RS AR A M A (xx) (2,594) =
Rent and property management fee from fellow WBRZRBARBEEME  (wi) (9,714) (8,158)
subsidiaries ERE
Entrusted project management fee from a fellow YHRAZMBEARERERE (i) = (561)
subsidiary B
Income of fitting out works from fellow subsidiaries ~ WHRZMBAREEITRE  (xi) (49,790) (6,913)
Income of fitting out works from joint ventures WA S ARIREIRER (xXxiv) (7,401) -
127,507 054,409
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41.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

In 2005, compensation income of RMB37.11
million was received for a property development
project as a result of the breach of warranty
given by the seller of the project to the Group
under the sale and purchase agreement. Such
compensation income was recorded as deferred
income and released to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss based on the lease
period of the land use rights of the project or
sales recognition progress of the project. The
transaction was disclosed as a related party
transaction because the seller was the immediate
holding company of the Company until the
change of control of the Company in September
2012. The then immediate holding company
remained as a shareholder of a subsidiary of the
Company at the end of the reporting period.

During the year, an amount of RMB3, 154,000
(2017: RMB1,958,000) was released from
deferred income (Note 28) and recorded as
compensation the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

income in

During the year, a subsidiary of the Company
received an entrusted management fee of
RMB24,906,000 (or RMB26,400,000, included
value added tax (“VAT”)) (2017: RMB24,906,000
(or RMB26,400,000, included VAT) from a
fellow subsidiary of the Company pursuant to
an entrusted operation agreement whereby the
fellow subsidiary agreed to engage the Company
(or its subsidiary(ies) to manage the operations
of a property located in the PRC. The fee was
determined based on the relevant operating costs
plus 20% margin.

41.
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(a) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

During the year, the Group paid a service fee of
RMB72,175,000 (or RMB75,089,000, included
VAT) (2017: RMB62,327,000 (or RMB64,869,000,
included VAT)) to the ultimate holding company of
the Company pursuant to a property development
and technical services agreement whereby the
ultimate holding company agreed to provide
property development and technical services
to the Company and its subsidiaries in relation
to certain property projects of the Group. The
fee was determined based on a rate of 0.6% of
the contracted sales of the Group’s properties
receiving such services catered by the ultimate
holding company.

During the year, two subsidiaries of the
Company paid an aggregate amount of
property management fee of RMB16,359,000
(or RMB17,298,000, included VAT) (2017:
RMB11,348,000 (or RMB12,022,000, included
VAT)) to two fellow subsidiaries of the Company
pursuant to property management service
agreements under a framework agreement
whereby the subsidiaries agreed to engage the
fellow subsidiaries to provide certain property
management services relating to their investment
properties in the PRC. The property management
fee was determined based on the relevant costs
incurred for providing the services plus 10%
margins on the relevant costs plus tax.

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the
Company paid an aggregate amount of
management services fee of RMB42,941,000
(or RMB45,121,000, included VAT) (2017:
RMB41,5671,000 (or RMB43,441,000, included
VAT)) to certain fellow subsidiaries of the
Company pursuant to the management services
agreements under a framework agreement
whereby the subsidiaries agreed to engage
the fellow subsidiaries to provide certain
management services to the subsidiaries during
the development stage of the subsidiaries’
property projects. The management services fee
was determined based on the relevant costs
incurred for providing the services plus 10%
margin on the relevant costs plus tax.

B 15 ¥R R B =
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(a) BAEFXRB (&)
Wiz - ()

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

REFEER KR GYE
R R TR K 1 A AR L
AR AR IR 2 Al TR B
A B #72175,0007T (2 A
K #75,089,0007C © 2 #H &
E B 2)(2017F: A K
#62,327,0007C (8t A K
64,869,000T B € & 1E E
2)) 0 B AR FREIER
REAE AL AR ENE LD
BIIEMR YRR E MR -
Z BT E EE SRR
REJEHBRIEBREZ Y EZ &
AIIEEREZ0.6%51 5 -

RAFZERA KL ABKHNE
REJREIELGZE T CYXEE
T2 R 7 15 58 2] K 2 7] R 5% A X
WERGISYEEEBHE
A R #16,359,000T (2t A £
17,298,000 © E B 1%
M £) (20174 : 11,348,000
(ZEAEH12022,0007T 2 €
SHEFE)) BFH - ZEH
BRAREZZEREZNE
RE]FEE TR AFE 2 REYFE
RHRETYEEERYE - W&
EEBLIEMRRETEEZ
BIRC K _FE10%5F B R 5 1 F
BitE -

REFEA XREl&HTFH
BRAIRBEEEGEZETZE
B HERA DA E TR
ENBERAS T EEREE
48 BE A FE #542,941,0005T (3
A B #45,121,0007C © E &
SEEHL)(2017F : AR
#41,671,000T (24 A R %
43,441,0000T - E BH S EH
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BEZAZEREZNE L FAE
ERRYEIEHZ FHEHALE
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) M. BEEIRES (&)
(a) Related party transactions (continued) (a) BEFIXB (&)

Notes: (continued) Htet - (&)

(vi)  During the year, certain subsidiaries of the i) REFEEA - KRaETH
Company paid an aggregate amount of project BLAREERBZE T2 &
fees of RMB18,149,000 (or RMB19,253,000, YRR A AN
included VAT) (2017: RMB12,748,000 (or KEXWE L AL THEE
RMB13,078,000, included VAT)) to a fellow 48 BF A K #18,149,0005T (2
subsidiary of the Company pursuant to several A B #19,253000T + E &
system installation agreements under a framework EEEWZ)(2017F A K
agreement whereby certain subsidiaries agreed #12,748,0007T (8t A K ¥
to engage the fellow subsidiary to provide certain 13,078,0007r + E € & # &
intelligent system project services for those Hz)) B EHETHE LA
subsidiaries. The project fees were determined [FlEZ (F3Z ] Z B & 2 7 A1 1%
based on the relevant costs incurred by the fellow ERHRETEZERATER
subsidiary for providing the services plus 1.25% % IHEEBZZFZNE LA
margin on the relevant costs plus tax. FLIE IR 75 AT EE 4 .2 1 K A

FIF1.25% RE NP ETE -

(vii)  During the year, two subsidiaries of the Company (vii)  RAEAFERA - KREHZFHE
paid an aggregate amount of design fees of 2 ] BE R 7 2R AT IR 75 1 % 171 A
RMB2,936,000 (or RMB3,113,000, included YTt JCES V- PN S
VAT) (2017: Nil) to a fellow subsidiary of the it B 4B BB A R 2,936,000
Company pursuant to two design services (A R#3,113,000T * B &
agreements whereby the subsidiaries agreed to EEEHZ)(2017F - &) -
engage the fellow subsidiary to provide certain Bt - ZEN B LA AEEF
design services in relation to the subsidiaries’ AGES ) AN 3 a4
property projects. The design fees payable by the FTARTE o Z EH1E L4 5] A% AT
subsidiaries to the fellow subsidiary were aligned B LR Z TR ETE
with the market rate. 5B

(viii)  During the year, a subsidiary of the Company (as (viii)  RAEFEA - KR EHE 2 a]

tenant) paid rent and property management fee
of RMB2,133,000 (or RMB2,242,000, included
VAT) (2017: RMB5,918,000 (or RMB6,220,000,
included VAT)) to a fellow subsidiary of the
Company (as landlord) pursuant to a tenancy
agreement in respect of the leasing of certain
premises in Beijing, the PRC for a term of 36
months. The rent and property management fee
payable by the tenant to the landlord under the
tenancy agreement was aligned with the market
rental rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the
Company paid loan interest of RMB 148,809,000
(2017: RMB277,628,000) to the ultimate holding
company of the Company pursuant to framework
loan agreements with the ultimate holding
company whereby the ultimate holding company
agreed to grant RMB loan facilities to those
subsidiaries for their project development at
interest rates ranging from 4.53% to 4.81% (2017:
4.46% to 4.53%) per annum. Further details of
the loans are set out in note 31(d) to the financial
statements.

During the year, the Group paid loan interest of
HK 158,975,000 and US$256,000 (equivalent to
RMB 136,186,000 in total) (2017: HK106,949,000
and US$130,000 (equivalent to RMB93,409,000 in
total)) to two fellow subsidiaries (2017: two fellow
subsidiaries) of the Company pursuant to loan
agreements with the fellow subsidiaries whereby
the fellow subsidiaries agreed to grant HK$ and
US$ (2017: HK$ and US$) loan facilities to the
Group at interest rates ranging from 3% to 5.06%
(2017: 3% to 4.31%) per annum. Further details of
the loans are set out in note 31(e) to the financial
statements.

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company paid loan interest of RMB2,914,000
(2017: RMB1,680,000) to certain joint ventures of
the Group at an interest rate of 0.35% to 4.35%
(2017: 0.35%) per annum. Further details of the
loans are set out in note 31(f) to the financial
statements.

B 15 ¥R R B =
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M. BEFRS (&)
(a) BEFXRB (£)
Bis - (48)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

RAEFERA KR EETHE
R A B A MEZL 175 7] K 2 &)
RARIER L a] Z11EFFLEA
K #148,809,0007T (20174 -

A R #277,628,0007T) + R 1%
EAXMEZRFZE - mAAERL A
[EZ 3 S 1B 2 Al 18 FA K
BEABE RGN E A
ZIHE R FFEH453%
F4.81% (20174 : 4.46% %
4.53%) ° HEIE 28— 25
IBE# R FEREZN231(d) °

RAEFEZERA  KEBIZEN G
i A A X A S (20174 -
EINTEY N NSRS
= F B #158,975,000T K
2E JT256,000 (48 & 11 & R A
K #136,186,0007T) (2017
E ¥ #106,949,000T R
£ J0130,000 (#8215 & R A
£ #93,409,0007T)) - 1R #
BEXtHsE ZEREZNBE AL
FlRE A EEBRZTFHETRE
T (2017: FrRZET) B#
@& F F E H3%E5.06%
(20174 : 3%F4.31%) - 5
BH2iE&E—2FBERYFER
FHtaE31(e) °

RAFEERAN ARA—FK2
EfBLAmEERETE
BRAXNENFEARE
2,914,0007T (2017 : A E
#1,680,000T) © F F E £
0.35%%4.35% (2017 :
0.35%) - HEIE N2 #E— 7%
BB R B IRAE31(F)
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) M. BEEXRZ (&)
(a) Related party transactions (continued) (a) BEARE (&)

Notes: (continued) Htet - (&)

(xii)  During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of xi) REAFEEA XRE—FHZ
the Company paid loan interest of RMB1,168,000 &N B 2 A ) A EE— K
(2017: Nil) to an associate of the Group at an ERNAZHEAFEARE
interest rate of 4.35% (2017: Nil) per annum. 1,168,0005T (2017% : #%) - 4
Further details of the loans are set out in note FI R 54.35% (20174 « ##) »
31(g) to the financial statements. BEE . #— 257 EHREY

BHENE31(g) °

(xiii) In prior year, certain subsidiaries of the Company i) REFE AR a]lETFHER
paid loan interest of RMB1,418,000 to their B 12 B 5K 155 5 el B PR AR AR R
non-controlling shareholders pursuant to loan FTEHMFEARKET,418000
agreements with the non-controlling shareholders L e IRIBE A % - FEFERAR
whereby the non-controlling shareholders agreed R A EmZEN B R A7 A
to grant RMB loan facilities to the subsidiaries for REEHBEARAEEL ¥
their project development at interest rates ranging B FFELA.46%F10% °
from 4.46% to 10% per annum..

(xiv)  During the year, a non-wholly-owned subsidiaries xiv) ZFEEA ARA—FKHEE

of the Company received loan interest of
RMB73,783,000 (2017: RMB24,942,000) from
two (2017: two) subsidiaries of its substantial
shareholder as a result of loans with principal
amounts ranging from RMB340 million to
RMB1,921 million (2017: RMB50 million to
RMB480 million) granted to the subsidiaries of
the substantial shareholder pursuant to the loan
agreements. The loans were arranged for a term
from 10 months to 1 year (2017: 1 to 2 years)
from the dates of drawdown at an interest rate of
4.35% (2017 interest rates ranging from 4.35% to
4.75%) per annum. Further details of the loans are
set out in note 31(b) to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

Related party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(xv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(xviii)

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the
Company received interest of RMB73,855,000
and US$3,465,000 (equivalent to RMB96,816,000
in total) (2017: RMB76,176,000 and US$3,181,000
(equivalent to RMB97,603,000 in total)) on loans
to certain joint ventures of the Group for their
project development at interest rates ranging from
4.35% to 12% (2017: 4.9% to 12%) per annum.
Further details of the loans are disclosed in note
31(a) to the financial statements.

In prior year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company received interest of RMB38,211,000 on
loans to certain associates of the Group for their
project development at interest rates ranging from
4.35% to 10% per annum.

During the year, certain subsidiaries of the
Company received interest of RMB471,000 and
US$172,000 (equivalent to RMB 1,609,000 in total)
(2017: Nil) on loans to their certain non-controlling
shareholders at interest rates ranging from 0.35%
to 4.5% (2017: Nil) per annum. Further details
of the loans are disclosed in note 31(c) to the
financial statements.

During the year, two (2017: one) wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company received
consulting service fees of RMB1,102,000 (2017:
RMB2,344,000) from three (2017: two) fellow
subsidiaries of the Group for providing consulting
services on their project developments. The
consulting service fees receivable from the fellow
subsidiaries were aligned with the market rate.

B 15 ¥R R B =
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(a) BEFXRB (£)
Bist : (4)
(xv) REEER  KEBEFHE

(xvi)

(xVii)

(xViii)
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4.35%%12% (20174 : 4.9%
F12%) - EHEN & — 25
BB R #HZN231(a)

REFE  KEH—F2EM
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14 B F 8 A K #471,000T
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F ;) FFIEIF0.35%F
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BtaE31(c) °
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) M. BEEXRZ (&)
(a) Related party transactions (continued) (a) BEFIXB (&)

Notes: (continued) Htet - (&)

(xix)  During the year, six (2017: six) subsidiaries of (xix) REXFERH KNEEFHANK
the Company received consulting service fees of (20176 : N5) B 2\ ]34
RMB15,765,000 and US$4,471,000 (equivalent FNFK (20174 : +5) A &
to RMB45,394,000 in total) (2017: RMB3,107,000 N AJFEHRIE BFEZARE M
and US$6,671,000 (equivalent to RMBA48,042,000 e B AR 75 B A R #5615, 765,000
in total)) from eight (2017 seven) joint ventures T R ZET4,471,000 (48 #1H=
of the Group for providing consulting services RA F #45,394,0007T) (2017
on their project developments. The consulting F: AR#3,107,0007T K ZE T
service fees receivable from the joint ventures 6,671,000 (#2016 E RN B
were aligned with the market rate. 48,042,0007T)) - KB Z EF &

ERNAZ ARG ETE TS
B o

(xx)  During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of xx) RAEEA XEEF-—FE2E
the Company received consulting service fees WEREIGAE T — KRB E LA
of RMB2,594,000 from an associate of the FE M IE B % R 77 5 AR 7% i 4R
Group for providing consulting services on its REEA E#2594,0007T ° #
project development. The consulting service fees RZHERFZEAREETS
receivable from the associate were aligned with BT E (2017F - #E) °
the market rate. (2017: Nil).

(xxi)  During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of (xxi) RAEEA XARA—FHEE

the Company (as landlord) received rent and
property management fee of RMB9,714,000
(or RMB10,212,000, included VAT) (2017:
RMBS8, 158,000 (or RMB8,577,000, included VAT))
from certain fellow subsidiaries of the Company
(as tenants) pursuant to tenancy agreements
under a framework agreement in respect of the
leasing of certain premises in Shenzhen, the PRC.
The rent and property management fees payable
by the tenants to the landlord under the tenancy
agreements were aligned with the market rate.
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(a) Related party transactions (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(xxii)

(xxiii)

(xxiv)

In prior year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as trustee) received an entrusted
project management fee of RMB561,000 (or
RMB595,000, included VAT)) from a fellow
subsidiary of the Company (as principal)
pursuant to an entrusted property management
agreement whereby the fellow subsidiary agreed
to engage the wholly-owned subsidiary to provide
certain project management services to the
pre-launch stage of its project in Wuhan, the
PRC. The entrusted project management fee
was determined based on the projected costs
for operating and managing the project plus
equivalent to 15-20% margin on the relevant costs.

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company received an entrusted fee of fitting
out works of RMB49,790,000 (or RMB52,317,000,
included VAT) (2017: RMB6,913,000 (or
RMB7,190,000, included VAT)) from certain
fellow subsidiaries of the Company pursuant
to engagement agreements under a framework
agreement whereby the fellow subsidiaries agreed
to engage the subsidiary to provide certain fitting
out works to certain property projects developed
by the fellow subsidiaries. The entrusted fee of
fitting out works was determined based on the
relevant cost incurred for providing the services
of such projects plus about 7% to 15% margin on
the relevant costs.

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company received fees of fitting out works of
RMB7,401,000 (or RMB7,576,000, included VAT)
(2017: Nil) from certain joint ventures of the Group
for the fitting out works provided by the subsidiary
to certain property projects developed by the
joint ventures. The fees of fitting out works were
determined based on the relevant cost incurred
for providing the services of such projects plus
about 7% to 15% margin on the relevant costs.

ltems (i) to (x), (xviii) and (xxi) to (xxiii) of the above
transactions are connected transactions as defined
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(b) Other transactions with related parties

(i)

(if)

(iii)

In prior year, the Group disposed of its partial
equity interests in six non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries to three wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the ultimate holding company of the
Company for an aggregate consideration of
US$5,016,000 (equivalent to RMB33,531,000)
in cash. After the disposals, the Group
continued to have control over those six
subsidiaries.

A fellow subsidiary of the Company provided
guarantees to certain bank loans of the
Group of an amount up to RMB169,521,000
at the end of the reporting period (2017:
RMB326,710,000). Further details of the
guarantees are set out in note 30(a) to the
financial statements.

The Group has guaranteed a facility
granted to a joint venture amounting to
US$70,950,000 (equivalent to RMB486,944,000)
(2017: US$70,950,000 (equivalent to
RMB463,601,000)) as at the end of the
reporting period, as further detailed in note
29(b) to the financial statements.

(c) Commitments with related parties

(i)

At the end of the reporting period, there
subsisted certain lease agreements between
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as landlord) and certain fellow subsidiaries
of the Company (as tenants). The amount of
rent and property management fee received
from the fellow subsidiaries for the current
year was included in note 41(a) to the
financial statements. The Group expects the
total rent and property management fee to
be received from the fellow subsidiaries in
the year ending 31 December 2019 to be
approximately RMB11,354,000 (2017: year
ending 31 December 2018 to be approximately
RMB3,578,000).
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(b) DREESZZHEHMRS

(i)

(i)

(iii)

REFE  REEURSER
18 25 7£5,016,000 (#Z N A
R#33,531,0007T) &K
F2EMBAR S DIRET
RARRBRER NG =ZRE
EWBAR - HER - ANEE
MEES KB AR HEA L
Bl -

RAHER - AREIR R
BARIBRAEEETRITE
HIREER ERAARK
169,521,0007T (20174 : A
R #326,710,0007T) * #% &
BRZE—DHBENTE®
K MI5E30(a) °

RBEHR - AEBR—FRE
BERRER BRI AEE
JC70,950,000 (FHER AR
486,944,0007T) (20174 :
%7T70,950,000 (FHERAR
#463,601,0007T)) Z &R
E— S IBER IS RERM T
29(b) e

(c) EHERERZERE

(i)

RAREPRR - ARF—K
TEMBLE (fEAEHBEA)
BARARIZAETRREKBR
Al EREBA) GEET
MEEWZ® - AFEWENZ
ZRAMBARZAEL LY
XEBRBCHIRNPHREK
fisEdt1(a) - AEBBHAEHE
2019128318 I+ F E &
WZERAMBARZHS
MMEEEBANBARE
11,354,000 (20174F + &
Z2018F12A31H ILFE K
# A ANR#3,578,0007T) °



(c)

(d)

(e)

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

Commitments with related parties (continued) (c) EHBEFZ&IE (&)

(ii) In prior year, a wholly-owned subsidiary (i) REFE ARF—R2EM
of the Company (as tenant) entered into a BAR (fEREMEA) BARQ
lease agreement with a fellow subsidiary of Alz—RRAZRMBRF (fER
the Company (as landlord) for a term of 36 HHEA) T — 15 AH361E A
months. The lease agreement was terminated ZHEWE - ZMEERZERER
in the current year. The amount of rent and RERKIE XFEXZNT
property management fee paid to the fellow ZRZRMBARZHE RYE
subsidiary for the current year was included EREDHII R B REM T
in note 41(a) to the financial statements. At 41(a) e REFHRERKR - K
the end of the previous reporting period, the EFEHE E2018F 12731
Group expected the total rent and property ALFERNZRZRANB AR
management fee to be paid to the fellow ZHERYMEEBRBERORA
subsidiary in the year ending 31 December K #5,918,0007T °
2018 to be approximately RMB5,918,000.

Outstanding balances with related parties (d) SEBESZERERER

(i) Details of the Group’s loans to/(from) related (i) AEERFEHRZEYR
parties at the end of the reporting period are (B EREBERFBER
included in note 31 to the financial statements. W& M3 -

(i) Details of the Group’s amounts due from/(to) (i) AEBRIFEHRZER,
related parties at the end of the reporting (FEf) BBEA RBEHFBIEHRN
period are included in note 32 to the financial BT R MIFE32 ©
statements.

Remuneration of key management personnel of (e) FAEBXEEEABZHM

the Group

2017

20174

RMB’000

ARBEFTT

Short term employee benefits EEEEREA 15,925

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 9 to the financial statements.

ERESHE & —PHBRRYT
WKMo
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. RERESZEMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EHMeMITARBERRZREANT

instruments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets SRMEE

2018 2017
2018% A17%
Financial assets at fair
Financial value through other

assetsat  comprehensive income Available-

amortised ARAERBEERBHA Loans for-sale

cost Rp2Eki 2 eREE and financial

i3 £ Debt Equity receivables  investments
BAHEZ  investments investments Total R ARLE Total
tHEE fEERE RERE a5 RUER SHRE 2%

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBIO0O
ARRTR ARETZ  ARBTR  ARETz  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR

Equity investments designated at fair value b2 B3 8 B E &R E: - - 143,742 143,742 5 5 -
through other comprehensive income ML 2E NG 2 RERE

Debt investments at fair value through PAREERESEHA - 18,814 - 18,814 = S S
other comprehensive income Hth2Ele 2 EERE

Available-for-sale financial assets LS BIRE - - - - 60,045 60,045

Trade receivables EUESED 18,061 - - 18,061 17472 S 17472

Financial assets included in prepayments,  FIABRZUR - & REM 3,503,209 - - 3503209 4pd6712 - 4646712
deposits and other receivables U S HEE

Loans to joint ventures EUARLTER 1,084,622 - - 1,004622 948,397 = 948,397

Loans to related companies EUBELIER 2,261,200 - - 2,261,200 370,000 = 370,000

Loans to non-controlling shareholders ﬁ’éqﬁzitmﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ 57,155 - - 57,155 41317 = 41377

Due from the ultimate holding company ~ BUMEEERA 21,072 - - 21,072 - - -

Due from fellow subsidiaries ERRZHER ﬂn Z 8,493 - - 8,493 4,958 - 4,958

Due from joint ventures fl é%’ﬂmlﬁ 1,313,421 - - 131342 127,702 = 127,702

Due from associates NG 145,662 - - 145,662 = =

Due from non-controlling shareholders %%Fﬁﬂxﬁx% A 247,490 - - 247,490 212,652 S 212,652

Due from related companies ENEEAR B 3,006 - - 3,006 564 = 564

Restricted cash ZRHRE 862,902 - - 862902 1,155,555 - 115555

Deposits, bank and cash balances B BOkEES 3,237,920 - - 327920 52395765 - 5395765

12,764,213 18,814 143,742 12,926,769 12,921,154 60,045 12,981,199
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/43 )

V=

Financial liabilities cHEesE
2018 2017
20184 20174
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
REBSHRATTE REBHKATE
ZEmEE ZemasE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBEFTT
Trade payables FERTE SRR 2,010,954 1,537,372
Financial liabilities included in advanced B ATEUWGRIA ~ EEHEIRTE ) 741,031 561,891

receipts, accruals and other payables HitvENBRR 2 emAasE

Loans from the ultimate holding company JES A= AR B SR 948,641 5,240,113
Loans from fellow subsidiaries ERRMB AR ER 2,736,938 2,593,722
Loans from joint ventures B AERRIER 23,175 154,000
Loans from an associate FEfEEE AR ER 292,040 =
Due to the ultimate holding company T AR A R IR 71,051 2,723
Due to fellow subsidiaries ANIEE ) PG 104,010 120,158
Due to joint ventures JEfS & E RRIFIA 4,010,559 1,856,269
Due to associates JFEATHEE & A RIFRIA 1,195,574 10,000
Due to non-controlling shareholders BT FE15 AR AR SRR IE 203,357 100,030
Due to a related company FETERE R RIZRIA 1,818 2,760
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings BB ERAT R E b E K 2,060,512 1,656,756
14,399,660 13,735,794
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to their fair values, are as follows:

TMITREARERAAEERER

|

BREEAEEEAAERERLIZSMIA
Gh AEFHMEBMTAZERERLRAR
WA an R

2018 2017

20184 20174
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amounts values amounts values
IRTEE AR REE DA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R

ARBTT ARETRE ARETR

Financial assets cREE

Non-current portion of financial PIATERFIE - £ 1,129,033
assets included in prepayments, RHEMEKREER 2
deposits and other receivables TRIEEIERNEIEN D

1,128,672 1,097,964 1,087,460

Equity investments designated NRAnEsE8 A 143,742 143,742 - -
at fair value through other HEERT AHAM
comprehensive income EHKE RERE
Debt investment at fair value NRAnEFEAA 18,814 18,814 = -
through other comprehensive BETAEMEE
income a2 ERERE
1,291,589 1,291,228 1,097,964 1,087,460
Financial liabilities ctHas
Interest-bearing bank and other B BER 1T R HAh 2,060,512 1,981,084 1,556,756 1,498,243
borrowings B%
Non-current portion of loans from  FEfT[R XK E A A 2,604,478 2,389,473 2,593,722 2,397,116
fellow subsidiaries BERIERER SR
4,664,990 4,370,557 4,150,478 3,890,359

Management has assessed that the fair values of deposits,
bank and cash balances, restricted cash, loans to joint
ventures, loans to related companies, loans to non-controlling
shareholders, trade receivables, the current portion of
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities
included in advanced receipts, accruals and other payables,
current portion of loans from a fellow subsidiary, loans
from the ultimate holding company, joint ventures and an
associate, balances with group companies, non-controlling
shareholders, joint ventures, associates and related
companies approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.
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The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim
and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of unlisted equity investments as at 31
December 2018 are based on price quotation from the
respective fund manager or estimates based on enterprise
value to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EV/EBITDA”) multiple for similar companies
adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances of the
investments or asset-based approach. In the opinion of
the directors, its application results in a measurement that
is more representative of fair value of the unlisted equity
investments since no dividend is received from those unlisted
equity investments in the current year.

The fair value of unlisted debt investment as at 31 December
2018 have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and non-current
portion of loans from a fellow subsidiary have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s non-performance
risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31
December 2018 was assessed to be insignificant.

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

REBAMBRERE ZMBHAFIEERTE
TRTARAAREEFEZHEMER - ¥
KIEERAMBRE®RE - AEEHRER
MR T AEE S MEE M
BEMRAZEIEGAE - MKRHAEEMN
RtEGHGE ERZEENEFMAZ
THRFRYBRETRGEEIERMER
TR ©

TRMEERRBZAABNEMR TN
&7 AR (MIERRFHNBREE) Rt
BEFERIARSZEHE -

ARE[RERAITERBRRAT

M2018F12A31B 2 LR ERE AR
BAEEE S CEREAEMIRIEIT LR
AR EEELEFE - BB - FTERBHA
2B ([%EE, EBITDA]) 2 &85 - &
ZEREARBEEERBIRARGAER Y
HERRBEEREFTAETHE - EER
B ARAFEILEIZLIE T RER
BWREBIRE  ERAZSHESAERZSIE
FRERERHREARREZARE -

R2018F12A31BA 2k L MEEEKERAR
BEFNAREHEBEUTA (BFEER - EEE
G KRR ER) 2 FIRBIRIBA R RIBE R

FIATERNRIE - e REMERERZ S
BEINBIMD - WERITREMBERUK
ERR RN E R R ERIERNE D TR AR
EREUTER (BEKR - EERKR RE %
FRED) 2 FIRBEINIBRTARKIE SR - A%KH
M2018F 12831 2 W BiR1T R H M E R
KReEBITRRWAHATERK -
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale financial
investments measured at cost as at 31 December 2017 were
not disclosed because they could not be reliably measured
as the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
could not be reasonably assessed and used in estimating
fair values.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the

valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
analysis as at 31 December 2018:

Significant

Valuation technique unobservable input

TRIARMARERAIAE

48

S

M2017F12A318 - ARFFELMAIHEE
SR Er EHBENS BT 2R
AETEMAREERAE oI Bk S
WEEHAAE  AATEREENAE -

MR2018F12A31H ' @M T AFFHZEKX
FABRGAEBEERTESMAOT ¢

Sensitivity of
Range/value fair value to the input

AT EATUBREBAE €8/ #E QMMEHBAEZERE
Equity instruments designated Enterprise value Risk free rate 2.530% 1% increase (decrease) in
at fair value through other allocation method R risk free rate would
comprehensive income PEBENRE result in decrease (increase)
- Unlisted equity investments in fair value by RMB1,841,000
RARBHEBREDBTHA (RMB1,333,000)
Hit2EWRE 2 RIETA ERERYEEEM OBD) 1%1585
—FLMBERE RARBERD (Ehn)
AR1,841,0007
(AR#1,333,0007)
Debt instrument at fair value Discounted cash flow  Discount rate 2.020%-5.207% 1% increase (decrease) in
through other comprehensive method BR% discount rate would result
income REnaBE in decrease (increase) in

- Unlisted debt investment
BROAEFEREEHHA

HinzEKm EETA

- FELmERRE
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. 2@ IAEAABRAAEZRERS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (#&)

Fair value hierarchy ARESREE

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AEEGFAUTERAEBEEERBEESHT

disclosing the fair values of financial instruments: B2 RRME -

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices F—H: RAFEEXBERNEEMSZ
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets WE CRERAER) HEZDRE
or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation FH: REERAFEZAAE EFR
techniques for which the lowest level input that HARBEFERAEERATEIR
is significant to the fair value measurement is RGBS AEDEEXEE AT
observable, either directly or indirectly BREUR

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation F=H: BREERETEZANE ER
techniques for which the lowest level input that HARBEFEAEEAFEIR
is significant to the fair value measurement is KRB AETI T A SR AE

unobservable
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. 2RI AQAABRAAEBESHRER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DARBESEREE (&)
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIFINAEBEEHITAZARBENESER
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: 25 -
Fair value measurement using
DABHERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
TR BEATEE EATUEE
ZHE WAE BWAR Total
(#-4) E=) (E=4) 8y
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT
At 31 December 2018 12018512A31R
Assets measured at fair value: LAREEIEZEE
Equity investments designed at fair value through DA B EAEEHTHA - = 143,742 143,742
other comprehensive income Atz EYE RERE
Debt investment at fair value through other AR B EHEEHA - - 18,814 18,814
comprehensive income A2 ENH 2 BERE
- - 162,556 162,556
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: RBIEREZEE -
Non-current portion of financial assets included SIABRHE « REREM - = 1,128,672 1,128,672
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables ERER SREEFDHDH
- - 1,128,672 1,128,672
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: AREEREZEE -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings WERTREMER - = 1,981,084 1,981,084
Non-current portion of loans from a fellow subsidiary ~ [E R ZMBA R S5 IEALH - - 2,389,473 2,389,473
- - 4,370,557 4,370,557
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. @RI A AEBERLAAEBESRES
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) (4&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DARBESEREE (&)
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement THREJAEFEERIAZ ARBENESER
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: (continued) g (B)
Fair value measurement using
RREFERR
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RS BAUEE  BATHHE
LBE ENE) PNE! Total
(1) (E=8) (B=H) &%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 31 December 2017 ®2017512A31A
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: LRERRFEZEE
Non-current portion of financial assets included SINBRFE - BeREMER - - 1,087,460 1,087,460

in prepayments, deposits and other receivables Bz e RAEKNADN

S = 1,087,460 1,087,460

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: AR BIEREZERE -

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings MERTREMER = = 1,493,243 1,493,243

Non-current portion of loans from a fellow subsidiary  FE R ZMBA R S IEA SR - = 2,397,116 2,397,116
- - 3,890,359 3,890,359

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair MR2017412A318 » REBE W EEMER

value as at 31 December 2017. AEFEZEREE -

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at M2018F12A31H » REE W EEMIZERQ

fair value as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil). REFEZEHARK (2017F - &) -
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The movements in fair value measurement of assets
measured at fair value within Level 3 during the year are

TMIREAARERAAREEFRER

/45 )
(A5 /

BARBHE AERESRI AAEBHE
RAGERZ BT

as follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFT
Equity and debt investments at fair value UAREBEFEEESH AHM
through other comprehensive income/unlisted 2HEWHEZREREERE
available-for-sale financial investments FEMAHEESRRE
At 1 January ®W1A1H 60,045 1,300,000
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 RN ARG LRI 2 (269) -
7
At 1 January (restated) ®W1A18 (F5) 59,776 1,300,000
Purchases BE 92,112 -
Disposal k= = (1,300,000)
Changes in fair value NREE 8,983 =
Exchange realignment P H A% 1,685 =
At 31 December M12H31H 162,556 -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2017: Nil).

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44.

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, loans to/(from)
related parties and cash and short term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall
be undertaken.
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44.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s policies for managing each of
these risks are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and most of
the transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB. The Group had certain deposits and bank balances,
advanced receipts, accruals and other payables, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency to which they
relate.

On 31 December 2018, assuming that RMB depreciated
by 5% (2017: 7%) against HK$ and USS$, respectively, and
all other factors remained unchanged, then the profit after
tax of the Group would have decreased by RMB19,849,000
and increased by RMB5,162,000 (2017: increased by
RMB3,876,000 and RMB3,661,000), respectively.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and
other borrowings, loans from the ultimate holding company,
joint ventures and associates, and loans to non-controlling
shareholders and related companies with floating interest
rates. The interest rates and terms of repayment of the
Group’s borrowings are disclosed in notes 30 and 31 to
the financial statements. The Group’s policy is to obtain the
most favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.
Management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

44.
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EEREEREREE (&)

REASBEERITAZTIZRAKRAINER
e MEER EERREREBEZAR
FEBEREEZEBRER ZBEREMMT

SME LB

AEBTIZRNPEREANLEER - KEfo
X5 BENRABERARKRE AKEF
ETHERRRITAESS  BUFR - BFHER
BEREMEMER  ARMBRTEREME
RN E M AN 2 B¥ TR

HK2018F12A31H - BBEARBHEEE K
XD PIEZES% (20174 : 7%) - M H 4th
ERD@EFITE - AIAREE 2 BREERTF
15 5 BSR4 A R #19,849,0007T & 1 i1 A
R #5,162,0007T (20174 : # i A R ¥
3,876,000t 2 AR #3,661,0007T) °

FMRER

AEBMESTSNEESEAREIEEEN
AEBFRZRILEMER - BNREKE
AR BERRRBERRER  ARE
WIRERBRRBEARER - AREEXK
Z R AR B B 7 AR P RE30 )R 31 A B
B ARBEZEBRDREERFRREEN
K- BREREEEMNERR HETER

EREPER N EER o

Annual Report 2018 &3 297



Notes to the Financial Statements

PR e

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44.

AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit after tax
(through the impact of floating rate on bank and other
borrowings, loans from the ultimate holding company,
joint ventures and associates, and loans to non-controlling
shareholders and related companies) and the Group’s equity.

MEEREEBERERBEEK (&)

MEmEk (&)

TRIREREEMBERTRZERT - &
EEBBEEN GEARTREMER - B
NBREERAT  EATARBEATNE
3 DA M R AR R R R B R ) B KR
F2TERE) U RAEEESYAE T
RSB B 2 BRI DI -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit after tax

basis points and equity*
RRB1 12 % F
22 kiERZ
EHA (THE)  EWORd)*
RMB’000
AR®ET T

31 December 2018 2018%12H31H
Hong Kong dollar B 200 (26,024)
Renminbi AR 200 20,358
United States dollar ETT 200 (7,726)
Hong Kong dollar B (200) 18,871
Renminbi AR (200) (20,672)
United States dollar ETT (200) 7,537
31 December 2017 2017%12H31H
Hong Kong dollar g 200 (12,195)
Renminbi AR 200 (5,710)
United States dollar e 200 (6,355)
Hong Kong dollar B (200) 3,898
Renminbi AR (200) 4,292
United States dollar ETT (200) 7,432
* Excluding retained profits * T EFERE w7
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. HEEREEBERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk FERR
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third REBEERMZBEREBRIZE=ZFTRE
and related parties. Except for the sales of properties, for EHETES  AEBEBRETERHEEER
which no credit is given to the customers, it is the Group’s BTHEBEERTP  MBMERREERK
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms EBECEP HARBAEEREREN
are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, o EWBRRERTIRISEELEEEE - B
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and AEETH ZZRRBITTERX o
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December R2018F12H31H &= & RIEF 47 EZ A
2018 k&
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TREJERARBEERRZERELEER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, EREERR  ZEERREEREAHE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other B (BRIESHEMIFTERASKA N ARG
information is available without undue cost or effort, and A8 B) - AR 2018512 A31H L & 4
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2018. The PBRzoE 2 e ATHEEREMBER
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial o
assets.
12-month
ECLs
+=@A Lifetime ECLs
HEE KEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
PER— PR= TB= DDA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥TR AR%TR AR%TRT AR%¥TR
Debt investments at fair value through AR A B EBEE 20,000 - - - 20,000
other comprehensive income FAEMmEEKE
EERE
Trade receivables EUE FIRT - - = 18,061 18,061
Financial assets included in SINBAFE - Rek
prepayments, deposits and HihERERF 2
other receivables SRBE
- Normal* - 3,098,770 - - - 3,098,770
- Doubtful® — Al Re - 533,460 138,128 - 671,588
Loans to joint ventures WAL NRIEDT 1,084,622 - - - 1,084,622
Loans to related companies EUEENRER 2,261,200 - - - 2,261,200
Loans to non-controlling shareholders  JENT3E2 Ak A 58 & 3¢ 57,155 - - - 57,155
Due from the ultimate holding TS T UNGIE R 21,072 - - - 21,072
company
Due from fellow subsidiaries A GEE N ENGE S 8,493 - - - 8,493
Due from joint ventures & & REHIE 1,313,421 - - - 1,313,421
Due from associates A= YNTE O 145,662 - - - 145,662
Due from non-controlling shareholders  fEURSEIZ AL 8 2008 247,490 - - - 247,490
Due from related companies BB E L RIFR 3,006 = = = 3,006
Restricted cash XEHRE 862,902 - - - 862,902
Deposits, bank and cash balances GE - BIRReEH 3,237,920 - - - 3,237,920
12,361,713 533,460 138,128 18,061 13,051,362
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44.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December
2018 (Continued)

* The credit quality of the financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are
considered as “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets have significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets are considered as “doubtful”.

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise deposits and other receivables, available-for-sale
financial investments, loans to joint ventures, loans to
related companies, loans to non-controlling shareholders,
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, amounts due from joint
ventures, amounts due from non-controlling shareholders,
amounts due from related companies, restricted cash, and
deposits, bank and cash balances, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third and related parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk within the Group as the Group’s trade receivables are
widely dispersed in different sectors.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables are disclosed in notes 22 and 23 to the
financial statements.

44.
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44.

Notes to the Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans
from related parties and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The Group will consistently maintain a prudent
financing policy and ensure that it maintains sufficient cash
and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements. Through
maintaining a reasonable proportion in its asset and liability
structure, the Group is able to meet its ongoing financial
needs. At 31 December 2018, 45% (2017: 68%) of the
Group’s debts, which comprise loans from related parties,
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (2017: loans
from related parties, and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings), would mature in less than one year from the
reporting date based on the carrying values of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.

44.

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

EEREEREREE (&)

RBE SRR

AEBBBBERAPESHI TR ERE
THERER FRAILAEZEESHMIARS
BMEE (PIMEKRE SR 2BMANUK
REXBZBFARERE -

REEZEEZAEBRFERBAEFER UK
MERITREMER  #FESNFEHHA
BEHECETE  AEESEEESER
ZEERE  UHRREHFETMZRERE
BEE BURRRSESEK - BB
EEMRAELEEZABEL - KEBEREHR
BERFBYBH R - BREMBHREARE
BEREEE " M2018412A318 A& H
45% (20174 : 68%) < BEH (B EREES
B SRITREMER (2017F « BiF
M@ ERENSIRTREMER)) BRE
HEER—FREIE -
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. HXRKMEZEBEERBUER (4
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRE (&)
The maturity profiles of the Group’s financial liabilities as at RMEHR - RBEFTHRMIRARD T
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual rEEeRBEZD ﬂﬁ BERIT
undiscounted payments, are as follows:
3 to less than
Less than 12 months
On demand 3 months =fiAZ 1to5years Over5 years Total
REX  OR=ER SRR -25f ik o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
At 31 December 2018 #2018%12531A
Trade payables ENESER 2,010,954 - - - - 2,010,954
Financial liabilities included in advanced I ATBYZUE - fE:HE 579,779 24,028 92,673 41,723 2,828 741,031
receipts, accruals and other payables  REREMENERZ
ERHERE
Loans from the ultimate holding company Fgﬁajiﬂ%“ﬂﬁ”"]@*” - 11,407 983,307 - - 994,714
Loans from fellow subsidiaries ENRZIBAT - 33,940 222,006 2,706,574 - 2,962,520
Loans from joint ventures Wéﬁé\%ﬂﬂﬁﬂ - 23,013 179 - - 23,192
Loans from an associate }fgﬁﬂﬁf%ﬂﬂ‘ﬁﬁ - 3,205 300,879 = = 304,084
Due to the ultimate holding company R RABRAR 71,051 - - - - 71,051
Due to fellow subsidiaries [ENRZIERT 104,010 - - - - 104,010
Due to joint ventures ENAELRFY 4,010,559 - - - - 4,010,559
Due to an associate JERTBEE A R)ZE 1,195,574 - - - - 1,195,574
Due to non-controlling shareholders SRR R 203,357 - - - - 203,357
Due to a related company ENBEARNE 1,818 = = = = 1,818
Interest-bearing bank and other MESTREMER 802,364 21,992 545,639 585,093 204,749 2,159,837
borrowings
Guarantee given to banks in respectof — BBTRLEREFRE 1,626,646 - - - - 1,626,646
mortgage loan facilities granted to FTREENZCERR
purchasers of the Group’s properties MRTIRE 2 ER
Guarantee given to a group of financial ~ H—E4 BEFERALA 486,944 - - - - 486,944
ingtitutions in connection with a facility — AREBEMAZES
granted to a joint venture RBERE ER
11,093,056 117,585 2,144,683 3,333,390 207,577 16,896,291
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. B¥KEREEBEREEK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBELRM (&)
3 1o less than
Less than 12 months
On demand 3 months “[AZ  1to5years  Over5years Total
BEX  ORZER  SRTZER —Enf AENE a8
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETE  ARETT  ARETR
At 31 December 2017 20175125318
Trade payables ERBHER 1,537,372 - - 1,537,372
Financial liabilities included in advanced  FIATEUZVE - B 402,599 63,872 59,601 33,241 2,578 561,891
receipts, accruals and other payables  BEREMEMNE
SRAR
Loans from the ultimate holding company R SL&ERATER = 59,344 5,402,620 = = 5,461,964
Loans from a fellow subsidiary ERRZRBARER = 27,947 74,506 2,694,763 = 2,797,236
Loans from joint ventures ERALATER 138,080 16,010 = = 154,000
Due to the ultimate holding company R RRER AR 2,723 - - - - 2,723
Due to fellow subsidiaries ERRZHBAAZE 120,158 - - - - 120,158
Dug to joint ventures ERAENEFE 1,856,269 - - - - 1,856,269
Due to an associate R UNGE 10,000 - - - - 10,000
Due to non-controlling shareholders R FARRRNE 100,030 - - - - 100,030
Due 1o a related company ENBELANE 2,760 - - - - 2,760
Interest-bearing bank and other WERITREMER 208,771 12,236 897,262 320,900 204,302 1,643,471
borrowings
Guarantee given to banks in respectof — BBIRLEREFNRE 3,148,594 - - - - 3,148,594
mortgage loan facilities granted to TARENE EFR
purchasers of the Group’s properties MRTRE ER
Guarantee given to a group of financial B~ BEERAZA 463,601 - - - - 463,601
institutions in connection with a facility ~ FAELRATHRZES
granted to a joint venture RBERIEER
7,852,877 301,479 6,450,019 3,048,904 206,880 17,860,159
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. B EKREEBEZERBEK
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management EXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management $Elﬁ$%ﬁ23ﬁ§ BEERREREER
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to run operations on a SEREBEPZERINREFRRZERL
going concern basis and to maintain healthy capital ratios . LA?Z%ﬁ%ﬂ‘%&ﬁHX?%HXE%K%E g
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’

value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes R E B IR B AN DA RAR R KB AR 0 8
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions REBEEZRBEHEL AR - AEET]
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To MEBABERRIKE RS  MBRREE
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may BAREEITH LM%%EJZEH%EZK,%% o
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital #H 22018 12H31H %2017412H31H8 1k
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were FE-EREAZBR  BRIEAAEE
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing EDI

capital during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is AEBERBEBELX (@ERER KU
the total of loans from related parties and interest-bearing RMERITERZ BER AR AR &
bank borrowings divided by total equity. The Group’s policy EER K& lZBZﬁTJ”E?—rEﬁ i
is to maintain the gearing ratio at less than 150% and comply 150% » A KB SFIRTTE R i aE 2 B R
with the relevant requirements of bank loan agreements. The E e E@iﬁ%ﬁHXZEﬁtti\ﬁDT :
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as
follows:
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Loans from the ultimate holding company ERREERARER 948,641 5,240,113
Loans from fellow subsidiaries ENRENBATIER 2,736,938 2,593,722
Loans from joint ventures EBNAEARER 23,175 154,000
Loans from an associate FENEE AR EXR 292,040 -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings Bt B ERIT REAMER 2,060,512 1,556,756
Total debts BEER 6,061,306 9,544,591
Total equity WS AEEE 13,870,385 13,047,628
Gearing ratio BfEtx 44% 73%
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45. ZXAXRBMBEMRRE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RpalRmEHRZHBIRARERET
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2018 2017
2018% 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE

Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIE 1,100,664 1,050,040
Deposits B - 7,318
Total non-current assets FRBEEHATE 1,100,664 1,057,358
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE

Due from subsidiaries FE MBI B A R FE 9,468,901 8,716,053
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERNFRIE ~ 1RE N H AR 5K 19,592 12,236
Deposits, bank and cash balances FR RO EBEEES 72,598 252,010
Total current assets REEEHTE 9,561,091 8,980,299
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE

Accruals and other payables FEETIRERTE K E Ath FE S BRFX 15,133 12,628
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M BERITE R 1,138,519 1,085,600
Due to subsidiaries FE B A R FRIE 32,388 30,799
Due to a fellow subsidiary B R ZMIB A R IA 54,827 7,205
Total current liabilities REBAEEE 1,240,867 1,136,232
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 8,320,224 7,844,067
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EELABERRBER 9,420,888 8,901,425
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREAE

Interest-bearing bank borrowing TERITER 429,338 =
Loans from a fellow subsidiary FENRENBARER 1,944,991 2,112,904
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEARE 2,374,329 2,112,904
NET ASSETS EEFE 7,046,559 6,788,521
EQUITY s

Issued capital BEITRA 1,439,211 1,438,153
Reserves (Note) & (Hat) 5,607,348 5,350,368
TOTAL EQUITY R 7,046,559 6,788,521
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45.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

45. ARRFMBRREK (&)

Note: et -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: AR AIHEBEIT -
Share Capital  Exchange Share-based
premium  Contributed  redemption  fluctuation compensation Retained
account surplus reserves reserves reserves profits Total
RVaER BABR EFEERE EXSDRE ROMeRE RERE ag
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®Tr  ARMTn  ARETrn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2018 Ro018% 1418 3651830 398,059 207 (154398) 134187 1320483 57350368
Proft for the year AERER s . - - - M3 32381
Other comprehensive income for the year — AFEEMEENZ
Exchange differences related o foreign ~ AEENEHEL - - - 307,537 - - 307,537
operations ZE
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ RAEE2ENHLE - - - 307,537 = 342,381 649,918
Final 2017 dividend declared ERNTERSRE - - - . - (39%6848)  (396,848)
Issue of new shares on exercise of ATEBRET 8,441 - - - (4,531) - 3910
share options kA
At 31 Deceroer 2018 R2018%12R318 3660271 398,059 07 153,139 12965 1266016  5607,348
At 1 January 2017 R201751 A1 3,607,769 398,059 207 316,326 162,702 1,367,696 5,852,759
Profit for the year FEERF = = - - - 263,309 263,309
Other comprehensive loss for the year TEEEMLTEE
Exchange differences related to foreign BEG)ER - - - (470,724) - - (470,724)
operations EiEE
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome TEERE (BE)/ - - - (470,724) - 263,309 (207,415)
for the year hEEE
Final 2016 dividend declared ER016ERHRE = = S S - (315,963) (315,963)
Issue of new shares on exercise of ATEBERET 44,061 - - - (23,074) - 20,987
share options Hk
Lapse of share options BIRERH - - - - (5,441) 5,441 -
At 31 December 2017 20178128318 3,651,830 398,059 207 (154,398) 134,187 1,320,483 5,350,368

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value
of the shares over the accumulated losses of the Company
pursuant to the announcement dated 15 November 2005. Under
the amendments to the bye-laws, the Company may make
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in
certain circumstances when the Directors consider it appropriate
to do so.
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46.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 15 ¥R R B =

31 December 2018
2018 £ 12 A 31 H

46. ETEMEQAE

Issued and fully

RRABEEMBARZFIBLT :

Place of paid-up ordinary Percentage of
incorporation/ capital/registered equity interest
registration and share capital  indirectly attributable
business BRTRMR to the Company

Name of subsidiaries HRAY /BT LERA,/ RAT R EE Principal activities
WEARER RE£HEY ZRER RERAL TEEH

2018 2017

2018% 2017%
Shanghai Zhongjun Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 54.85 54.85  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) RE /REARE AR1,000,000,0007T in Mainland China
TERREREREERAA() (v) RABRENEER
Vision Century Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii HE/ hEAR 10,000,000% in Mainland China
BAEHERE (KE) BRAR) (i) RAEABEEER
Vision Huaging (Beijing) Development PRC/Mainland China RMB130,000,000 60 60 Business park
Co., Ltd. (i) (iii) PE/REARE AR 130,000,000 development and
BHEE (LR) EEREARDA() (i) investment
in Mainland China
R AREE%E
ERRRE
Vision Property (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (i) (ii) PRC/Mainland China RMB328,782,444 100 100 Property development
BATLE GRYN) BRAF) (i) hE /hEARE AR#328,782,4447C in Mainland China
RAEAENERR
Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB309,415,440 100 100 Business park
Co., Ltd.* (i) (ii) hE/ HEAE ARH300,415,4407 development and
RBHEHEREARAR () (i) investment
in Mainland China
RAEARHEE
BRRRA
Dalian Huiguan Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* (i) R/ REARE AK%10,000,0007 in Mainland China

REERFHEREERLA ()
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46.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

46. FEMELQT (&)

5
BARZHEBENT : (£)

Issued and fully

-
ZAUNCIES-3}

Place of paid-up ordinary Percentage of
incorporation/ capital/registered equity interest
registration and share capital  indirectly attributable
business BRTRAR to the Company
Name of subsidiaries EL M- £y LERE RAFEEEE Principal activities
WEAR LR REZEBE AfRER RERAL TEEH
2018 2017
2018% 2017F
Shenyang Gemdale Huacheng Property PRC/Mainland China RMB795,060,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* (i) RE /REARE AR #795,060,0007 in Mainland China
REeHENEEERLA () RABERENEER
Shenyang Gemdale Yuefeng Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Company Limited” (i) BB /B AR AR#10,000,0007 in Mainland China
BheHERNEREARAT () RAEAEEER
Xi'an Zhutai Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* (i) w8/ pEAE ARH50,000,0007T in Mainland China
ARERFHEREERAT () RABERENEER
Xi'an Zhutian Property Company Limited" (i) (ii) PRC/Mainland China 1S$90,000,000 100 100 Property development
BREREXBRAF () (i) w8/ hEAE 90,000,000% 70 in Mainland China
RPBERENEER
Hangzhou Vision Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB10,528,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* (1) B /AR AK#10,528,0007 in Mainland China
MM EEREBRAR (i) RABERENEER
Ningbo Wanlin Xincheng Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 100 80  Property development
Company Limited* (i) RE/PEARE (2017: RMBS80,600,000) in Mainland China
EREMIHERARAA () AR 5,000,0007C REERENEER
(20174 = AR80,600,0007T)
Nanjing Vision Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB1,116,170,000 96.12 96.12  Property development
Company Limited* (i) (il FE/REARE AR1,116,170,0007C in Mainland China

BREHEHEREERLA (i) (i)
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

46. FEMELQT (&)

5
BARZHEBENT : (£)

Issued and fully

-
ZAUNCIES-3}

Place of paid-up ordinary Percentage of
incorporation/ capital/registered equity interest
registration and share capital  indirectly attributable
business BRTREAR to the Company
Name of subsidiaries EL M- £ LERE RAFEEEE Principal activities
WEARER RE£HY aRER REBAL TEEH
2018 2017
2018% 201745
Huaian Weixin Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (i) (iii) PRC/Mainland China US$72,310,000 98.43 98.43  Property development
EZEANEXBRAF (1) (ii) B8/ AR (2017: US$67,310,000) in Mainland China
72,310,000% T RABERENEER
(20174 : 67,310,000% 1)
Hangzhou Jinhang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100 92 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (i) B /AR AR #200,000,0007 in Mainland China
MemEHEREERAF () RAEAENEEE
Shenzhen Xinwei Jinyuan Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 92 92 Property investment
Co., Ltd.” (i) RE /REARE AR 30,000,0007 in Mainland China
RFESEREFRAA () RABERENERE
Ningbo Jinfeng Real Estate Development PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 96 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (i) wE /REARE (2017:RMB627,225,000) in Mainland China
ERGERHERRARAT () AK%10,000,0007 RABERENEER
(20174 + AR¥627,225,0007T)
Shenzhen Jinchengxin Micro-financing PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 100 100 Provision of loans
Co., Ltd* (i) B /AR AR #300,000,0007 in Mainland China
Ame G N EERERELAR () R EABREER
Shenzhen Zhi Mei Investment Ltd* (i) (v) PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
RIELRAFRAA () 1) FE/PERE  ARM%2000000000% BRI
Beijing Jindi Xingsheng Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB11,049,700 90.5 90.5  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (i) BE /REARE ARHE11,049,7007 in Mainland China
IRt ESZEHERLEERLA () WA A LRE
* For identification purposes only * EHE5
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 46.

Notes:

(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

(i) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
(iii) Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise
(iv) Foreign equity joint venture enterprise

(v) Shenzhen Zhi Mei Investment Ltd. is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Vision (Shenzhen) Software Technology Co.,
Ltd.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. Details of other subsidiaries had not been
included as, in the opinion of the Directors, they did not have
any material impact on these financial statements.

47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of directors on 21 March 2019.
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FTBEYFERFS

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 1. BRPWE
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding JEFTEEEE
LE 3 Ay FRAR R (FFHK)
Mainland China Residential/ 90.5% 144,900
Fh B A B Commercial/Office
Beijing Daxing Project T/ EEBoE
Huangcun Town, Da Xing District, Beijing
R AREIER
R AREENE
Beijing Qinglonghu Project Residential/ 100% 76,500
Qinglonghu Town, Fang Shan District, Beijing =
EREENER
ERmELRSEAE
Shanshui Four Seasons (Jindi Zizaicheng) Residential/ 54.9% 169,700
No.2 Sichen Road and No.1 Gu Lang Road, Commercial
Sijing Town, Songjiang District, Shanghai F=E
K P23 (3 B 30
EIBTRART IS SO R A B 255 R BOR R 158
Nanjing Hexi Project (Fenghua Yaju) Commercial/Office/ 96.1% 184,700
North to Jiangdong South Road Apartment
East to Huaihe Road CEVE N YN
Jianye District, Nanjing
FRUNPEIAR (REHRE)
Rl
TR RS LALL ~ B DASR
Jiangsu Huai’an Project Commercial/Office/ 98.4% 71,700
No. 168 Xiangyuzhong Road Apartment
Qinghe District, Huai'an [CEVE TN YN
IEMERIER
KL TE A RATHE1685
Gemdale Nantong Project Residential 86% 101,300
East of Xiwang Road and south of Hongxi Road, =
Jinsha Street, Tongzhou District, Nantong
S ERIE R

R TR &
SHEBHLERA - IAESEA
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

1.  PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (continued) 1. SEHME (#£)

Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding FEITEEEE
L/ES A BRARR (FF3K)
Hangzhou Jinhang (Dayunchenfu) Residential 100.0% 75,200
The intersection of Tongyi Road and F=E
Huayuangang Street
Gongxu District, Hangzhou
mMem (KRERM)
TN T HEEE [ 38 50 B B TE B ol B 32 SRR
Phases 1 to 2A, Yi Hua Nian (Tanghua Garden) Residential/Commercial 100% 84,000
East to Xinkaimen South Road, T mE
Quijiang New District, Xi'an
BEFE-—HEFE A (BERER)
% BT & 37 5 PR B AR
Phases 2B to 3, Yi Hua Nian (Heshi Xiaozhen) Residential/Commercial 100% 277,000
North to Jinyang Road, F=E
South to Tanghua Road and
East to Xinkaimen South Road
Quijiang New District, Xi'an
BEFE_HBEE =M (BBA/HE)
AR m IR S F AL
FEEE B DA R RAPT R BE AR
Shenyang Yijing Residential/ 100% 198,300
No. 300 Wangjiawan, Commercial
Dongling District, Shenyang [EX=C
EGEIE
&5 ™ R £ R E ZKE3005%
Chengdu Qingyang Wanjia Bay Project Apartment/Commercial 100% 19,700
(Jindi Zizai Bay) NCIESE S

82 Guanghua West 3rd Road,
Qingyang District, Chengdu
KRESFEREHER (@A EE
KT EFRAER =825
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FTBEYFERFS

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties

LIES

Uses

iik=

Shareholding
FERA MR

Approximate
gross floor
area (m?)
BOEEERE
(SFFK)

Mainland China

B K BE

Shanshui Four Seasons (Jindi Zizaicheng)
No.2 Sichen Road and No.1 Gu Lang Road,
Sijing Town, Songjiang District, Shanghai
Wk mEg (&8 EH)

VT AT [T SRR A B 255 R BUR B 158

Nanjing Hexi Project (Fenghua Yaju)
North to Jiangdong South Road
East to Huaihe Road

Jianye District, Nanjing
FMRUATEE (RERE)
ARmERE

LRI LALL ~ B IAR

Jiangsu Huai'an Project

No. 168 Xiangyuzhong Road
Qinghe District, Huai’an
LEOEZRIE R

HEZ T E A @ T B 1685

Ningbo Jinfeng

Tongpanzha Village, Zhonggongmiao Street
Yinzhou District, Ningbo

TEew

ERTEM R E AR EERRRN

Shenyang Yijing

No. 300 Wangjiawan,
Dongling District, Shenyang
RIS E

&P T R PE R T E3005%

Residential/Commercial

FE/BE

Residential/
Commercial

EXPE-ES

Residential/Commercial

EE/BE

Residential
*=

Residential/Commercial

EFE/BE

54.9%

96.1%

98.4%

100.0%

100%
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TRV FRERF

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(a) Completed investment properties

Properties Uses

ES itk

3.

Term of
lease

WREH

REWE

(a) BKRIREWH

Shareholding
BRAMRR

Status
R

Approximate
gross floor
area (m?)
BRREERR
(FFEXK)

Mainland China

FEIARE

Phases 1, 2A, 2B(1) and 2B(2) Office
Vision Shenzhen Business Park LN
High-tech Industrial Park

Nanshan District, Shenzhen

BEARERE-H F2HA

F-HB()RE_HB(2)

AT LR SRR EEE

B2 to L6, Sohu.com Internet Plaza Office
Tsinghua Science Park /N
Zhongguancun East Road

Haidian District, Beijing

B#% KEB2ZL6

I REERFANRREENEE

Shanghai Lier Office
East to Guihua Road, West to Panjinghe N
North to Jiangjiatang

Baoshan District, Shanghai

iz

HEmELRE

REREE  BAERECT - LERRE

Shanghai Yuxin Office
West to Panjinghe, South to Jinshi Road HEN
Baoshan District, Shanghai

N

FEmELE

AEELT  HESAK

Hangzhou Jindu North Road (Dalehui Center) Commercial
The intersection of Gu Dun Road [EES

and Jin Du North Road

Yu Hang District, Hangzhou

2B LR (REEEF L)
mMNTRNE S HEESEILEIRE

Medium
i

Medium
i

Medium

i

Medium

hH

Medium

h
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100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

Rental

HE

Rental
HE

Rental
MHE

Rental
ME

Rental
HE

143,000

14,900

55,500

56,100

55,000



Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FTBEYFERFS

31 December 2018
MR 20184 12 A 31 H

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 3. REWE (&)
(b) Investment properties under construction (b) HEEREWME
Estimated
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding FEFEE@EE
ES Ag 1t 22 6 BRI (FFHK)
Mainland China
al=iPN 3
Phase 3, Commercial ~ Medium 100% 193,000
Vision Shenzhen Business Park [EES 8
High-tech Industrial Park
Nanshan District, Shenzhen
TR B =
AITELESHRTEER
Beijing Daxing Project Commercial/  Medium 90.5% 75,200
Huangcun Town, Da Xing District, Beijing Office H
LR AHIER GEVE VN
ItRmAERRENE
Shanghai Songjiang Anyang Project Office Medium 100% 65,000
No. 1 Wang Dong Road Central, /N i Hj
Songjiang District, Shanghai
EEMIR¥EE
LETRTIRERF KR
Nanjing Hexi (Fenghua Yaju) Commercial ~ Medium 96.1% 39,900
North to Jiangdong South Road EES HHA
East to Huaihe Road
Jianye District, Nanjing
ARNEER (RERRE)
ARmEEE
TR AL AR IAR
Suzhou Jinsu Commercial ~ Medium 100% 45,700
Renmin Road West, Xinshi Road South [SES R
Gusu District, Suzhou
M
FRN AR R A RBRE - B IRE
Jiangsu Huai'an Project Commercial ~ Medium 98.4% 38,900
No. 168 Xiangyuzhong Road [SES FhEf
Qinghe District, Huai’an
TEERIER
% TR A [ P T 8 16857
Chengdu Qingyang Wanijia Bay Project Apartment Medium 100% 25,900
(Jindi Zizai Bay) NG i Hj

82 Guanghua West 3rd Road,
Qingyang District, Chengdu
KBS FEREER (0EESL)
PRERT B F R e T = 5825
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TRV FRERF

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES

4. EBEAAFHEZUME

(a) Properties under development (a) BRDYE
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding BHREEE
LIES A% BRARR (FFRK)
Mainland China
TEKE
Guangzhou World Style Residential/Commercial 33.3% 161,300
Dongpu Town FE/H¥
Tianhe District, Guangzhou
BINE=&E
B 7 ] 8 BR (E $
Shenzhen Longcheng Square Apartment/Commercial 33.0% 38,000
Next to Longgang District Government Building NN S
Longgang District, Shenzhen
YR ES
AR R EEERTAES
Beijing Xishan Yijing Commercial 50.0% 28,900
Gao Jia Yuan, Longquan Town, S
Mentougou District, Beijing
L RFLER
ItRmFEERERESRE
Beijing Jinshui Yongye (Huachen Yayuan) Residential 45.1% 61,100
Yongding Town F=E
Mentougou District, Beijing
IEREAKE (ERTHE)
IERMPISEEE K EH
Beijing Mentougou Keluotuo Project Residential 30.0% 99,300
Yongding Town T=E
Mentougou District, Beijing
b RFEESEILIER
bR PR E & Ak E R A A
Tianjin Nongken (Beirun Huating) Residential/Commercial 20.0% 206,900

West to Huaidong Road (Planned),
North to Huaihe Avenue,

Beichen District, Tianjin

RERR (JLHEE)
REILREERRE (82 Al
SR E LA

FE/ A%
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4,

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERERFS

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

7=

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &EQTFE2WE (&)

(a)

Properties under development (continued)

(a) BEHPYE(E)

Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding BIEEEE
L/ES A% FRAMR (FFK)
Tianjin Huituo Residential 23.0% 201,000
Southeast side to the intersection of F=E
Tongyan Road and Yaxing Road
Hehai Education Park District, Tianjin
REEHR
REMETHERE
R % B R R A2 O ER EA A
Western District of Royall Lake Residential/Office/ 67.0% 315,100
No. 161 Jinci Road Commercial
Jinyuan District, Taiyuan FE/ e/ BmE
M= ER
AERTEREERE _R1615%
Eastern District of Royall Lake Residential/Office/ 74% 70,600
No. 161 Jinci Road Commercial
Jinyuan District, Taiyuan EE/WoE/BE
BN RER
AERTEREERE _R1615%
Taiyuan Dongjianhe Project Residential/ 37.7% 71,700
No. 36 Zhangzitou Street Commercial
Xinghualing District, Taiyuan FE/ A%
AR RAIER
KR AIEE R F 365
Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Center Office/Commercial 29.9% 59,100
Huting Road North, Jiuting Town WA AmE
Songjiang District, Shanghai
EBAZEARHDL
EETRIENAFEEFILE
Shanghai Xihonggiao Project Commercial/Office 12.5% 38,500
Guanglian Village, Xujing Town EEYS VN

Qingpu District, Shanghai
ESARITEEE

RIS HEAN

EEERE
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4,

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. ®&BEQTFE2WE (&)

(a)

Properties under development (continued)

(a) BEHPYE(E)

Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding BIEEEE
L/ES A% FRAM R (FFK)
Shanghai Qibao Project Commercial/Office 50.0% 18,000
Haowen Road, Xinlong Road, Shanghai BE/WRE
FBt+BIER
S TSR SR R AR BR
Nanjing Weirun Apartment/Office/ 48.6% 188,300
Yaojia Road, Cuilin Road Commercial
Yaohuamen, Nangjing N Nl -F 3
B
MR E(LPIZER « R
Nanjing Jintuo Residential 51.0% 97,500
South to Jiangpu Street Ring Road North, F=E
North to Jiangmiao Road
Pukou District, Nanjing
AReh
ARTAEAR
DR ERIE AR TR
Xuzhou Sanhuan Road Project Residential 26.0% 384,000
South to Sanhuan Road North T=E
West to Sanhuan Road West, Xuzhou
RIN=IRBIER
RN =R AR - ZIRAEEIAR
Xuzhou Xinxin Road Project Residential/Commercial 33.4% 59,000
Xinxin Road North, Ruyi Jiayuan West FE/ A%
Yunlong District, Xuzhou
RINTRARBRIE B
RN EERMMEL - MERER
Suzhou Jinanze Residential 46.9% 63,700
350-1 He Shan Road T=E

Gaoxin District, Suzhou
BNeLE
ERMN T T & A L1 BE 350-15%
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
TEYXERFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

7=

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &EQTFE2WE (&)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BERTYE (E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding BIEEEE
L/ES A% FRAMR (FFK)
Waujiang Liwanyu Project (Su He Wan) Residential 12.3% 62,300
North to Tiyu Road, East to Suzhou River Road F=E
Wujiang District, Suzhou
KRIEEHIER (BE)
FMNMRTEEERIA - BRMTERA
Suzhou Jinchen Residential 33% 131,000
Northeast to the intersection of Jishi Road West F=E
and Yunhe Road North
Wujiang Development Zone, Suzhou
BwHeR
BENmRIAER
FWAE @R X AR
Suzhou Changshu Project (Yonglan Courtyard) Residential 19.7% 63,800
Feicui Road, Shanghu Town T=E
Changshu, Suzhou
BINERIER (FRL)
N R NAER R
Taichang Gaoxin Project (Light of Metropolis) Residential 17.2% 88,500
Loujiang Road East, Luoyang Road North F=E
Gaoxin District, Taichang
RERHERER (Hgzt)
AEMEHMEE TR  BEHKIL
Taichang Yinhewan Project (Jade Mission Hills) Residential/ 12.3% 77,800
Xinzha Village, Liuhe Town, Taicang Commercial
REHEER (H5RER) Fx/HE%
KB TBNA B R
Kunshan Lanting Yuyuan Residential 74.0% 107,300
The intersection of Linyin Road and Duke Road E=E
Gaoxin District, Kunshan
ELMSHE

BT B kit R KB R E
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &EQTFE2WE (&)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BEDYE(E)

Estimated

gross floor

area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding BIEEEE
/S Az RN (EHXK)

Kunshan Lanting Tianyue Residential 74% 106,900
Western side of Jiangpu Road, F=E

Northern side of Qianjin West Road

Gaoxin District, Kunshan

ELE=RH

Elm & RIBKEER - A1EFEEL A

Kunshan Lujia Project Residential 37.7% 152,600
East of Tongjing Road and North of Youyi Road, T=E

Lujia Town, Kunshan

EILERER

BIITHERESESERA - RAEIA

Sea Legend Residential 29.6% 114,900
East to Jinyao Road, Jinxi Town, Kunshan F=E

B EES

B IR R BRI R A

Kunshan Plot No. 12-2 Project (Pocui Tiandi) Residential 12.3% 61,600
East to Chezhan Road, North to Qingfeng Road FE

Kunshan Development Zone, Kunshan

Ell12-2 88 R (HRXRE)

BEUMELRER

B R BEERILH

Kunshan Zhangpu Project Residential 74% 292,700
North to Xinwu Street, East to Jinshang Road =

Zhangpu Town, Kunshan

EILRAEIER

Bl E R RATIL A - 35 FER A
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
TEYXERFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &ERATFE2WE¥ (&)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BERTYE (E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding BIEEEE
L/ES A% FRAMR (FFK)
Kunshan Plot No. 12-3 Project (Gedi Mingmen) Residential 24.6% 140,700
North to Maanshan Road, East to Jiangpu Road F=E
Gaoxin District, Kunshan
Ell12-38IRE (RREEP)
BElfs#HE
BBILEILE - IR ER
Kunshan Zhongyu Project (Yunpu) Residential/Apartment/ 14.8% 115,000
South to No. 312 National Road Commercial
Huagiao Town, Kunshan FE/RE/HE
EWLFRFHEE (T%)
EILTERBE - 312B1E /A
Hangzhou Wanning (Weilaicheng Phase 3) Residential 22.5% 179,800
The intersection of 104 State Road F=E
and Shugang Road, Yuhang District, Hangzhou
mNBE (RRUE=H)
N RIE
10430 38 L7 B A2 SR
Hangzhou Jinhu Residential/Apartment/ 24.5% 135,200
Next to Xianghu Subway Station, Fengging Road Commercial
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou EEY/N-P8 -}
&3
AR E
RIS KRB AR E
Hangzhou Zhongxu Residential 23.0% 114,800
Southeast side to the intersection of F=E
Xiaoran Road West and Panshui Road
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
TN R 8
N TR SRR KR ERRE A
Hangzhou Pengbu Project Residential/Apartment/ 60.0% 83,900
Jianggan District, Hangzhou Commercial
MINZIRIER FE/ P8/ HE

M T I #E
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &ERATFE2WE¥ (&)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BERTYE (E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding BIEEEE
LIES A% FRAMR (FFK)
Jiashan Weitang Project (Hemei Jiayuan) Residential 20.24% 98,000
Dajin Cheng North, Weitang Town F=E
Jiashan District, Jiaxing
RERBEER (Mxx0)
FEMEEFRBHEILASHIL
Qingdao Shenggang Project Residential/Commercial 50.0% 72,800
East to Jiangshan Road South and FE/BE
North to Guihua Road
Huangdao District, Qingdao
ERRAEE
EETEBRITILEEAR - HEEE AL
Qingdao Zhihai Project Residential 35.0% 57,000
Huanle Binhai Cheng T=E
Shibei District, Qingdao
EREBEE
BEETmitBREER N
Jinan Wanke Zhongxiang Residential/Apartment/ 20.0% 215,300
Tangye Xinqu, Licheng District, Jinan Commercial
BEENRE FE/ DB/
EEERRE AR
Wuhan Jinyue Xinhanhe Residential/Commercial 28.0% 167,800
Huangshihai Old Town Tx/ B
Dangxihu District, Wuhan
RESHEEM
RETRANREMEEN
Wuhan Lanting Jiangpan (Laoguan Village) Residential/Apartment/ 74% 719,000
East to Changjiang Road, Commercial/Office
North to Loaguan Middle Road EEPEN- Y - EYE UN -

Hanyang District, Wuhan
FER IR (ZEN)
REMERRRTIEIAR « ZEFEAL
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4,

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERERFS

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. ®&BEQTFE2WE (&)

(a)

Properties under development (continued)

(a) BEHPYE(E)

Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding EHEERE
L/ES AR BRAMAR (FFHK)
Wuhan Xinjucheng Residential/Apartment/ 55.2% 610,300
Gutian Er Road Commercial/Office
Qiaokou District, Wuhan EEPAN-YE SEYS YN
REFEW
HEMBOEL B
Wuhan World Style Residential/Commercial 74% 150,100
Phases B5 and B8 F=E/
Taishan Village, Jiangti Middle Road
Hanyang District, Wuhan
RNEW=RE
£B5K%B8HA
REMERRITRPEAILR
Wuhan World Style Residential/ 74% 326,000
Phases B4, B6, B7 and B9 Commerecial/Office
Taishan Village, Jiangti Middle Road €/ \%E/ Bog
Hanyang District, Wuhan
REH=RE
B4, B6, B7 2B
REMEGETRF BN
Wuhan Lanting Ronghui (Jiangwan Ronghui) Residential 74% 97,000
Jianrong Village, Gutian Road, F=%
Qiaokou District, Wuhan
REBFRE (LERE)
HREMR O R AR RN
Lan Ting Feng Hua Residential/Commercial 37.7% 187,000
No. 1 Chuantoushan, Qingjiang Brigade Fx/ B
Dongijingjie Street
Hannan District, Wuhan
HEEE
R E R @ A A TR M S L 157
Kunyu Zhixing Residential/ 21.1% 66,000
Wuli Jie, Jiangxia District, Wuhan Commercial
Bz E FE /¥
REMIERLER
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &ERATFE2WE¥ (&)

(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BERTYE (E)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding YEsTEEEE
L/ES A% FRAMR (FFK)
Changsha River City Residential/ 74% 163,900
Jinjiang Village Commercial/Office
Yuelu District, Changsha FE/EE/ PO
ROW=EH
ROTEERIIN
Orchid Pavilion City Garden Residential/Commercial 74% 97,000
Dingshan Road, Shifeng District, Zhuzhou FE/BE
k=
RAOMHEMAERT LK
Shenyang Huiyu Residential 50% 122,900
South side to Shenyang Vocational F=E
and Technical Institute
Loadong Road, Dadong District, Shenyang
BB
RIS ARG S B
RSB ERM 25 E A
Kunming Qianhui Residential/Commercial 74.0% 382,200
Lot 52D, Xishan District, Kunming FE/BE
EHE
BT LIES25 ~ @Dk
Kungming Xusheng Residential/Apartment/ 74.0% 237,900
Lot 52A, Xishan District, Kunming Commercial
EHRBS FE/ P8/ HE
ERRMAILES25% F @A
Kunming Landuhui Apartment 74% 44,400
The intersection of Chunyu Road NG

and Renmin West Road

Xishan District, Kunming
BHARHE
ERALRERERARABRRIAR
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4,

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties

TEVERERFS

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. ®&BEQTFE2WE (&)

(b)

Properties held for sale

(b) HHEWFE

Approximate

gross floor
area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding BABREEE
L/ES A BRI (FFK)
Mainland China
B K RE
Guangzhou World Style Residential/Apartment/ 33.3% 74,700
Dongpu Town Commercial
Tianhe District, Guangzhou FE/ 2B/ BE
BMNEZEE
BN TR R R E A
Shenzhen Longcheng Square Office 33.0% 25,000
Next to Longgang District Government Building #2018
Longgang District, Shenzhen
R BEH B 5
Y| RE el A R BUR K18 55
Beijing Xishan Yijing Residential 50.0% 21,300
Gao Jia Yuan, Longquan Town, =
Mentougou District, Beijing
Bl Vi lIE=2: )
tRTMEERERESKE
Beijing Jinshui Yongye (Huachen Yayuan) Residential 451% 27,000
Yongding Town =
Mentougou District, Beijing
IEREIKKE (ERIELL)
IR PIERER K TR
Beijing Jinlong Yonghui (Weilaihui Center) Apartment/Commercial 13.4% 116,400
Renhe Town YN

Shunyi District, Beijing
EREHEAKE CRREHL)
ERmIRERCHME
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &ERATFE2WE¥ (&)
(b)  Properties held for sale (continued) (b) HHEWE (&)

Approximate

gross floor

area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding BAEERE
S AR BRI (FHRK)

Eastern District of Royall Lake Residential/Commercial 74% 23,300
No. 161 Jinci Road FE/m%

Jinyuan District, Taiyuan

BB ERR

ARTERRE @K _BR1615%

Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Center Office/Commercial 29.9% 66,600
Huting Road North, Jiuting Town mng

Songjiang District, Shanghai

EEhERRHL

FENIRBNZEEFILE

Nanjing Jintuo Residential 51.0% 44,600
South to Jiangpu Street Ring Road North F=

North to Jiangmiao Road

Pukou District, Nanjing

AReh

ARMAAR

TEATERIL A OTFEILA

Suzhou Jinanze Residential 46.9% 18,300
350-1 He Shan Road F=

Gaoxin District, Suzhou

BEMNeRE

ERMN T = T fr] 1L B& 350-155%

Kunshan Lanting Yuyuan Residential 74.0% 63,300
The intersection of Linyin Road and Duke Road F=

Gaoxin District, Kunshan

BELE=HE

BlmaiEmER kit r KERXRE
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4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4.

(b)

Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
TEYXERFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

Properties held for sale (continued)

(b) FHEWE (&)

AEARBEZWE ()

Approximate

gross floor
area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding BMAEEERE
LIES AR MR (FHK)
Wuhan Lanting Ronghui (Jiangwan Ronghui) Residential/Commercial/ 74.0% 20,100
Jianrong Village, Gutian Road, Office
Qiaokou District, Wuhan FE/BE/PoE
ERTRE (1E%E)
FUEMIE DR & ERERN
Wuhan Jiangxia Longyuan Residential/Commercial 30.0% 97,000
Canglongdao, Limiao Road €/ HE
Jiangxia District, Wuhan
HEIERER
RNEMIEEBHESREBR
Changsha River City Residential/Apartment/ 74% 8,100
Jinjiang Village Commercial
Yuelu District, Changsha FE/ 2B/ HE
ROTEBR TN
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &ERATFE2WE¥ (&)

(¢) Investment Properties (c) #HEYHE
(i) Completed investment properties (1) BTREYHE
Approximate
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding  Status BABRERE
LIES Jiche3 HREH BRMRE  HRR (£5EXK)
Mainland China
B KR
Shanghai Minhang Huanxin Office Medium 50%  Rental 96,300
No. 1288 Zhongchun Road /N H H e
Minhang District, Shanghai
=3 Eapak
LEMRTET&K12885
Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Centre Office/ Medium 29.9%  Rental 12,900
Huting Road North, Jiuting Town Commercial ~ # & MHE
Songjiang District, Shanghai WRE/H
HEAFERADY %
PEMNIRAZHEETILR
Shanghai Hengdong Office Medium 85% Rental 103,000
Waigang Town, Jiading District, /N i H# g
Shanghai
HBES
PaETRINGE
Guangyuehui Business Complex Commercial  Medium 74%  Rental 51,000
Shangcheng Road, Datang Town, Zhuji  H% F HE
ZEEEBEHEGAR
BEMAEHEH R
Changsha River City Commercial  Medium 74%  Rental 35,000
Jinjiang Village [HE i E g
Yuelu District, Changsha
ROTEBRIIN
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FTBEYFERFS

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

V=)

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &E&QTFE2WE (&)

(c) Investment Properties (continued) (c) ¥HEYWE &)
(i) Investment properties under construction (i) EEREYF
gross floor
Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding FEFEEEE
LUES A 1t 22 5 2 MR (FHK)
Mainland China
H B KB
Shanghai Jiuting Shidai Centre Office/Commercial ~ Medium 29.9% 52,400
Huting Road North, Jiuting Town N i
Songjiang District, Shanghai
EBAZERPL
FENIRBNZEEFILE
Shanghai Hengdong Office Medium 85% 49,000
Waigang Town, Jiading District, /N 5
Shanghai
LEES
FEEFERIMNEHE
Shanghai Xihonggiao Project Office/Commercial ~ Medium 12.5% 46,000
Guanglian Village, Xujing Town N i H
Qingpu District, Shanghai
HETEIER
TRITHE AR
FETERR
Shanghai Jinming Office/Commercial ~ Medium 50.0% 45,400
8 Jiefang, Changshou Road HI/N: S w85
Putuo District, Shanghai
kA
EEmERERERAESER
Shanghai Qibao Project Commercial/Office  Medium 50.0% 70,000
Haowen Road, Xinlong Road, Shanghai %% /i A& et
EEtEEE
TR R AT AR BR
Shanghai Zhitao Office Medium 50.0% 116,000
No. 3255 Shengang Road, N i
Songjiang District, Shanghai
FEEE

EBTITIE BB 325557
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FEYFEEFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

4. PROPERTIES HELD BY JOINT VENTURES (continued) 4. &ERATFE2WE¥ (&)
(c) Investment Properties (continued) (c) ¥HEYWE &)

(i) Investment properties under construction (i) EEREYE (&)
(continued)

gross floor

Term of area (m?)
Properties Uses lease Shareholding TEFEEMEE
LES A% 1t 32 5 BT (FHK)
Nanjing Yulong Project Commercial/Office  Medium 80.0% 60,100
Andemen Road, Yuhua District, Nanjing &%/ #i}i@ ]
ARFHEER
ARTRERZEMRE
Nanjing Weirun Commercial Medium 48.6% 80,100
Yaojia Road, Cuilin Road, [SES ]
Yaohuamen, Nangjing
R ELE
BRMEPIZER - BAK
Xuzhou Sanhuan Road Project Commercial Medium 26.0% 50,000
South to Sanhuan Road North [EES w85
West to Sanhuan Road West, Xuzhou
RM=IRIER
RN =IRIEBE AR - ZIRFIEIAR
Jinan Wanke Zhongxiang Apartment/ Medium 20% 165,000
Tangye Xinqu, Licheng District, Jinan Commercial H A
EEERRE YN
EEERRE LR
Kunming Landuhui Commercial Medium 74% 24,400

The intersection of Chunyu Road [EES AR ER
and Renmin West Road

Xishan District, Kunming

RREHE

ERRALBRERERARABRIARE
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
FTBEYFERFS

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

5. PROPERTIES HELD BY ASSOCIATES 5. BREATSEEZWE

(a)  Properties under development (a) BEDYE

Estimated

gross floor

area (m?)

Properties Uses Shareholding EHEERE
LIES i FRAMR (FFK)

Mainland China

al=pN

Beijing Mingcheng Changping Project Residential 32.7% 68,000
Qijia Town, Changping District, Beijing F=

bR E FIER

ERTEFEIELREA

Beijing Cuigezhuang Plot No. 0603 Project Residential 45% 57,600
West to Laiguangying Road East =

Cuigezhuang Town, Chaoyang District, Beijing

It REE 06035t IA E

IERHHG R

EREHREEREE M

Beijing Cuigezhuang Plot No. 0604 Project Residential 45% 69,000
West to Laiguangying Road East =

Cuigezhuang Town, Chaoyang District, Beijing

b REE 06045 ER

tRmEG R

ERHARELEREARA

Shanghai Xinwei (Jindi Shiguang Yayuan) Residential 55.2% 85,000
No. 18 Ming Xing Road, Xingiao Town F=E

Songjiang District, Shanghai

EBER (&R HR)

BT RS SR AT E R 185

Qingdao Qingyin Project Commercial/Residential 22.5% 502,000
East to Qingyin Expressway mE/

North to Zaoshan Road

Shibei District, Qingdao

E5FRER

FemmitE

FREERAR - BILEIAL
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties
TEYRERFE

31 December 2018
72018 £ 12 A 31 H

5.  PROPERTIES HELD BY ASSOCIATES (continued) 5. BMEBEARRFEZUE (&)
(a) Properties under development (continued) (a) BETYE(EF)
Estimated
gross floor
area (m?)
Properties Uses Shareholding FEHEERE
JES 2323 BRI (FHHK)
Xi'an Peijiakong Project Residential/Commercial 47.2% 290,500
Quijiang New District, Xi'an Fx/ @
AR ERIEIER
AL HTIHE
Tianjin Xingtai Jucheng Project Commercial/Residential 22% 137,700
Xinzhuang Town, Jinnan District, Tianjin HE/fFE
REBRFRKIER
RET R A
Xuzhou Jixiechang Project Commercial/Residential 21% 99,800
Quanzhou District, Xuzhou EEYAEES

MR R
BT RILE
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